Lindenwood University

Digital Commons@Lindenwood University

Dissertations

Theses & Dissertations

4-19-2022

A Quantitative Study of the Relationships Among Psychological Safety, Collaborative Capacity, and School Climate in Middle-Level Schools

Karen Brownfield

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

A Quantitative Study of the Relationships Among Psychological Safety,

Collaborative Capacity, and School Climate

in Middle-Level Schools

by

Karen Brownfield

April 19, 2022

A Dissertation submitted to the Education Faculty of Lindenwood University in

partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

School of Education

A Quantitative Study of the Relationships Among Psychological Safety,

Collaborative Capacity, and School Climate

in Middle-Level Schools

by

Karen Brownfield

This Dissertation has been approved as partial

fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

Doctor of Education

Lindenwood University, School of Education

Dr. Trey Moeller, Dissertation Chair

Dr. Anthony Rossetti, Committee Member

Committee Member

Date 4/19.22

Date April 19, 2022

Declaration of Originality

I do hereby declare and attest to the fact that this is an original study based solely upon my own scholarly work at Lindenwood University and that I have not submitted it for any other college or university course or degree.

Full Legal Name: Karen Brownfield

Signature: Karen Brounfield Date: 4/19/2022

Acknowledgments

Ample support has been given throughout the dissertation journey from my committee, professors, research participants, and family. Dr. Moeller guided me throughout the process, providing numerous conversations, as well as time toward readings, edits, and reflections to focus my thoughts. Dr. DeVore read numerous drafts of my dissertation, providing insight toward improving my writing. Dr. Rossetti provided feedback through conversations, as well as advice toward specific approaches to my research. Dr. Moeller, Dr. Cooper, and Dr. Rossetti provided quality instruction, as well as the facilitation of meaningful conversations throughout our cohort classes, deepening my knowledge. I would also like to thank Dr. Grover for guiding me through the IRB process smoothly. Special thanks to Dr. Nicole Brown for providing edits to help me polish each chapter.

Additionally, I would like to thank the colleagues who previewed my survey instrument, providing feedback to both strengthen and clarify survey items. I would like to thank the faculty members who completed the survey for providing the data in which the study was based. Special thanks to Dr. Huff and Dr. Flora for providing support and encouragement, as well as sound advice as I worked toward the completion of my dissertation.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for supporting and encouraging me as I worked to complete my study, as well as my coursework. Thank you to my daughters, who gave understanding as I spent time writing and studying at their various sporting events, as well as countless nights and weekends. You all are my cheerleaders and always pushed me to keep my eyes on the goal line.

ii

Abstract

This quantitative study was conducted to investigate possible relationships between psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate in middle level schools in order to identify specific leadership behaviors to increase collective efficacy. School leaders' knowledge of the positive effect collective efficacy has on student learning is not enough (Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Parrett & Budge, 2020). Leaders must also be aware of functional behaviors to foster collective efficacy, thus increasing student learning (Donohoo & Katz, 2019). Based on the theoretical work of Bandura (2000, 2012), as well as DeWitt (2017), Garmston and Wellman (2013), Hattie (2017, 2019), and Rock (2013), the variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate were investigated. The sample for this study included certified faculty members in middlelevel schools containing fifth through eighth grades. A survey was created by the researcher, and data were collected from the sample by Qualtrics. Statistically significant relationships were found among all variables, with the exception of autonomy and both collaborative capacity and school climate, indicating specific leadership behaviors to foster collective efficacy among faculty members.

Abstract
List of Tables vii
List of Figures ix
Chapter One: Introduction
Background of the Study2
Theoretical Framework5
Statement of the Problem
Purpose of the Study
Research Questions
Null Hypotheses
Significance of the Study11
Definition of Key Terms12
Delimitations, Limitations, and Assumptions15
Summary
Chapter Two: Review of Literature
Theoretical Framework
Collective Efficacy
Motivation and Mindset26
Social-Cognitive Neuroscience
Psychological Safety
Collaborative Capacity41
School Climate/Leadership44

Table of Contents

Summary	47
Chapter Three: Methodology	48
Problem and Purpose Overview	48
Research Questions and Hypotheses	48
Research Design	50
Population and Sample	51
Instrumentation	51
Validity	53
Data Collection	53
Data Analysis	54
Ethical Considerations	55
Summary	55
Chapter Four: Analysis of Data	56
Survey Instrument Design	57
Collection of Data	59
Survey Data	60
Data Analysis	60
Descriptive Statistics	62
Inferential Statistics	157
Summary	172
Chapter Five: Conclusions and Implications	173
Analysis of Data	173
Findings	175

Descriptive Statistics	176
Inferential Statistics	178
Research Question One	178
Research Question Two	179
Research Question Three	
Research Question Four	
Research Question Five	
Conclusions	
Implications for Practice	
Recommendations for Future Research	
Summary	191
References	194
Appendix A	217
Appendix B	221
Appendix C	222
Appendix D	223
Vita	224

List of Tables

Table 1. Survey Subgroups 52
Table 2. Status for Grade-Level Taught
Table 3. Status for Content Taught 67
Table 4. Status for Total Years in Education 70
Table 5. Status for Number of Years in Current Position 73
Table 6. Certainty for Grade Level Taught 76
Table 7. Certainty for Content Taught
Table 8. Certainty for Total Years in Education 82
Table 9. Certainty for Number of Years in Current Position 84
Table 10. Autonomy for Grade Level Taught 87
Table 11. Autonomy for Content Taught
Table 12. Autonomy for Total Years in Education 93
Table 13. Autonomy for Number of Years in Current Position 96
Table 14. Relatedness for Grade Level Taught 99
Table 15. Relatedness for Content Taught 102
Table 16. Relatedness for Total Years in Education 105
Table 17. Relatedness for Number of Years in Current Position 108
Table 18. Fairness for Grade Level Taught
Table 19. Fairness for Content Taught
Table 20. Fairness for Total Years in Education
Table 21. Fairness for Number of Years in Current Position
Table 22. Overall Psychological Safety for Grade-Level Taught

Table 23. Overall Psychological Safety for Content Taught	126
Table 24. Overall Psychological Safety for Total Years in Education	129
Table 25. Overall Psychological Safety for Number of Years in Current Position	132
Table 26. Collaborative Capacity for Grade-Level Taught	135
Table 27. Collaborative Capacity for Content Area Taught	138
Table 28. Collaborative Capacity for Total Years in Education	141
Table 29. Collaborative Capacity for Number of Years in Current Position	144
Table 30. School Climate for Grade Level Taught	147
Table 31. School Climate for Content Taught	150
Table 32. School Climate for Total Years in Education	153
Table 33. School Climate for Number of Years in Current Position	156
Table 34 Summary of PPMC Values	172

List of Figures

Figure 1. Status for Grade Level Taught
Figure 2. Status for Content Area Taught
Figure 3. Status for Total Years in Education
Figure 4. Status for Years in Current Position74
Figure 5. <i>Certainty for Grade Level Taught</i> 77
Figure 6. <i>Certainty for Content Taught</i>
Figure 7. Certainty for Total Years in Education
Figure 8. Certainty for Years in Current Position
Figure 9. Autonomy for Grade Level Taught
Figure 10. Autonomy for Content Taught
Figure 11. Autonomy for Total Years in Education
Figure 12. Autonomy for Years in Current Position
Figure 13. Relatedness for Grade Level Taught
Figure 14. Relatedness for Content Taught
Figure 15. Relatedness for Total Years in Education106
Figure 16. Relatedness for Years in Current Position
Figure 17. Fairness for Grade Level Taught
Figure 18. Fairness for Content Taught
Figure 19. Fairness for Total Years in Education 118
Figure 20. Fairness for Years in Current Position
Figure 21. Overall Psychological Safety for Grade Level Taught 124
Figure 22. Overall Psychological Safety for Content Taught

Figure 23. Overall Psychological Safety for Total Years in Education	130
Figure 24. Overall Psychological Safety for Years in Current Position	133
Figure 25. Collaborative Capacity for Grade Level Taught	136
Figure 26. Collaborative Capacity for Content Taught	139
Figure 27. Collaborative Capacity for Total Years in Education	
Figure 28. Collaborative Capacity for Years in Current Position	145
Figure 29. School Climate for Grade Level Taught	
Figure 30. School Climate for Content Taught	151
Figure 31. School Climate for Total Years in Education	154
Figure 32. School Climate for Years in Current Position	157
Figure 33. Status and Collaborative Capacity	159
Figure 34. Status and School Climate	
Figure 35. Certainty and Collaborative Capacity	161
Figure 36. Certainty and School Climate	
Figure 37. Autonomy and Collaborative Capacity	
Figure 38. Autonomy and School Climate	164
Figure 39. Relatedness and Collaborative Capacity	
Figure 40. Relatedness and School Climate	
Figure 41. Fairness and Collaborative Capacity	167
Figure 42. Fairness and School Climate	
Figure 43. Overall Psychological Safety and Collaborative Capacity	
Figure 44. Overall Psychological Safety and School Climate	170
Figure 45. Collaborative Capacity and School Climate	171

Chapter One: Introduction

The purposes of public education have changed (United States Department of Education, 2003; Wilkinson-Flicker, 2019). In the beginning, the purpose of public education was to prepare the elite to attend post-secondary education and teach democratic roles and responsibilities (Kober, 2007). The focus has shifted from academic achievements of reading, writing, and arithmetic, to collaboration, critical thinking, creativity, social-emotional learning, communication skills, college and career readiness, and academic success (Arnett, 2018). Leaders must promote a learning environment fostering student success to master the many expectations placed upon current publicschool systems (Reeves, 2020).

The research of Hattie (2017) reflected the importance of teacher effectiveness in the success of a student. Additional research has been conducted by Maxwell et al. (2017), DeWitt (2016, 2018), and Gruenert and Whitaker (2015, 2017), investigating the positive effect a school climate has on the success of students. Leadership has evolved with models of instruction focusing on collaboration, communication, and psychological safety (Amanchukwu et al., 2015; Burns, 2017; Edmondson et al., 2019; Lasater, 2016; Rock & Ringleb, 2013). The work of Garmston and Wellman (2013; 2014), as well as Donohoo and Katz (2019), have indicated team productivity and creativity positively impact student achievement.

The ultimate goal of public education is to prepare students for life experiences; therefore, any research into schools having success in this aspect is vital (Reseger, 2020; Rose, 2014; Schleicher, 2018). Descriptions of high-performing schools include success in academic achievement, college and career readiness, family support, providing resources as needed, hiring and supporting high-quality teachers, as well as strong leadership characteristics (Leithwood & McCullough, 2016; Tucker 2019). Researchers have also written about the positive impact school climate, teacher efficacy, and collaboration have on student achievement and the pursuit of becoming a highperforming school (Maxwell et al., 2017; DeWitt, 2017, 2018; Elgart, 2017; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Hattie, 2017; Leithwood & McCullough, 2016). It is important for educators to identify the replicable characteristics of high-performing schools, including possible causes of high academic achievement, the development of a well-rounded, highperforming school faculty, and what leader behaviors can facilitate these characteristics (Brown, 2018; Kafele, 2017; Tucker, 2019).

Background of the Study

A partnership between a Blue Valley School in Kansas City and the Center for the Advancement of Reform in Education (CARE) brought about a research foundation to further investigate the relationship of brain research and education (Caufield et al., 2000). The findings of CARE indicate positive, engaging experiences allow learners to retain more information, whereas experiences negative or threatening can jeopardize the learning process (Caufield et al., 2000)

Additionally, authors Garmston et al. (2020) stated, "displaying uncertainties, asking questions, experimenting, seeking help, and requesting feedback are behaviors associated with innovation and high performance" (p. 11). These behaviors are encompassed within the umbrella term of psychological safety, referred to as collaborative freedom by Stanford's Director of Strategy, Outreach, and Innovation, Patty Purpur de Vries (as cited in McKenna & Primeau, 2019. Purpur deVries (2018) offered three key points under one's sphere of influence moving toward psychological safety in the workplace, including professional fulfillment, contributing to a culture of wellness, and cultivating personal resilience (slide 39). The psychological safety of a team, as described by Edmondson (2011), is an environment in which school faculty members feel free to be their true selves in the team climate, including the free sharing of ideas. Environments in which team members do not feel the freedom to share ideas and learn from mistakes do not allow for in-depth conversations or learning (Martin, 2020).

Leadership styles among high-functioning teams rely heavily on collaboration, including "sharing information and ideas, integrating perspectives, and coordinating tasks" (Edmondson, 2003, p. 2). The feeling of being psychologically safe is imperative for learning, due to the reduced barriers of reactions to a new idea, a mistake, or the discussion of hard topics (Harvey et al., 2019). It is important for educators and leaders to investigate the relationships possibly existing among a culture of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in the workplace (Brown, 2018; DeWitt, 2018; Garmston & Wellman, 2014; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2017; Purpur de Vries, 2018).

Hattie (2020) discussed several strategies leading toward collaborative capacity, which indicate a year or more of growth per input. An assigned score of .4 indicates the "hinge-point," indicating a year of growth (Hattie, 2020, p. 13). Kraft (2021) explained the term *effect size* as one that measures the correlation between two concepts. Self-efficacy, an imperative concept to grasp on the way to understanding collective capacity, has an effect size of 0.92 (Hattie, 2017, School section). The effect size of collective teacher efficacy is 1.57, which is comparable to over three years of student growth (Hattie, 2017, School section). Collaborative leadership behaviors positively impact the

collaborative capacity of teachers, as they are more engaged in collaboration when they "feel valued by the leader" (DeWitt, 2018, p. 62). According to DeWitt (2018):

... in order for collaboration to be real and for teachers, students, and parents to feel as though they are a part of a school climate in which they are valued, collaboration needs to include times where we not only learn from one another but also challenge each other's thinking. (p. 14)

Through impactful collaboration, teams hold a higher belief in future success (Donohoo & Katz, 2019). After experiencing success, high-performing teams do not remain static, but rather use previous successes to drive new ideas and experiences (Donohoo & Katz, 2019).

Successful experiences, or mastery moments, are described by Pink (2009) as an element of meaningful motivation. According to Pink (2014), long-term, sustainable, more "complex, creative tasks" are more successful with an engaging, intrinsic motivation and mindset (as cited in Azzam, 2014, para. 1). Cultivating a culture of a high-performing, student-centered faculty is essential to experience growth (Rodman & Thompson, 2019).

Authors DeWitt and Slade (2014) defined a positive school climate as "an environment in which all people—not just adults or educators—are engaged and respected and where students, families, and educators work together to develop, live, and contribute to a shared school vision" (p. 9). Teacher voice and challenging conversations are imperative to fostering an environment of positive climate among team members (DeWitt, 2018; Garmston & Wellman, 2013, 2014). Epitropoulos (2019) described several characteristics of a toxic school culture implicating the importance of a team climate even more, including hostile team relationships, a lack of honest communication, "punishment instead of recognition," and a lack of safety in regards to sharing thoughts and ideas (p. 8). Mastery and achievement cannot take place without effective communication paving the way for educators to tackle issues and support one another (DeWitt, 2018; Garmston & Wellman, 2013, 2014).

Theoretical Framework

There is a connection between student learning and the collective efficacy of teachers, as well as a connection between collective efficacy to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and a positive school climate (Bandura, 2000, 2005, 2012; Berg, 2020; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo & Mausbach, 2021; Donohoo et al., 2018; Donohoo et al., 2018; Donohoo et al., 2020; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2019, as cited in Waack, 2018). Investigating the relationships among these concepts may reveal high-impact, overlapping elements to guide the intentions and behaviors of school leaders (Donohoo et al., 2018; Modoono, 2017; Zepeda et al., 2019).

The theoretical framework of this study was based on Bandura's social cognitive theory (1977, 1999, 2000, 2005, 2012). Within this theory lies the belief people are not simply products of life events but active participants in directing their future (Bandura, 1999, 2000). Self-efficacy is a significant component of this theory; however, the theory is largely centered around the collective efforts of people (Bandura, 1999, 2000; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Donohoo et al., 2018).

According to Bandura (2000), "perceived collective efficacy fosters groups' motivational commitment to their missions, resilience to adversity, and performance accomplishments" (para. 1). Performing with high levels of collective efficacy, as well as the belief more can be accomplished through the collaborative efforts of a team working toward a common goal, ignites a cycle in which group members believe in their efforts, experience accomplishments, then desire the needed work to put in toward future goals (Berg, 2020).

The collaborative efforts of a team working together are a bi-product of a team of teachers with high collective efficacy (Bandura, 1999; Berg, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018; Donohoo & Hite, 2021; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Eels, 2011; Goodwin & Shebby, 2020). The right kind of leadership support and focus leads to the increased capacity for a group to collaborate (Donohoo et al., 2018; Modoono, 2017; Zepeda, 2019; Zepeda et al., 2020). A group's perceived collective efficacy is related to the group's connection to each other, particularly in collaborative efforts (Goodwin & Shebby, 2020). This requires a high level of trust, often found when a team of teachers has high levels of collective efficacy, as well as collaborative capacity (Berg, 2020; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Donohoo et al., 2018; Edmondson, 2012; Edmondson & Roloff, 2009; Hart, 2020; Kim et al., 2020; Ma & Marion, 2021; Modoono, 2017).

Once a culture of trust is established, teachers are "willing to take the risks that new learning requires" (Modoono, 2017, para. 7). Trust is a pivotal concept associated with psychological safety, especially when psychological safety is desired within a team (Delizonna, 2017; Edmondson & Roloff, 2009). Edmondson (2012) described psychological safety as a concept grounded in trust and respect, fostering a collaborative environment in which equal voice and experiences are shared more freely.

Rock (2009) identified five elements of psychological safety using the SCARF model. The five elements included in the SCARF model are status, certainty, autonomy,

relatedness, and fairness (Rock, 2009). These same elements, along with characteristics found in schools performing with high levels of collective efficacy and collaborative capacity, are oftentimes associated with schools associated with a positive school climate (DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo et al., 2018; Gruenert, 2017; Jackson, 2020; Maxwell et al. 2017; National School Climate Council, 2012; Reynolds et al., 2017; Whitaker, 2013).

A school's climate encompasses the daily "quality and character of school life" (National School Climate Center, 2007, para. 1) and can affect many things, including a group's collaborative efforts and student learning (Fisher & Frey, 2018; Frey et al., 2020). According to Gruenert and Whitaker (2015), a school's climate can also demonstrate the values of its stakeholders, staff, faculty, and students (p. 11). Jackson (2020) stated, "a school's core values are terms of practice that clearly define how everyone will work together to achieve the school's vision and carry out its mission" (para. 6). Several descriptors and characteristics often listed when describing schools with a positive climate are also the characteristics listed when describing systems with teams of teachers with high collective efficacy (Bandura, 2005; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo et al., 2018).

Student learning is connected to the collective efficacy of teachers (Berg, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018; Hattie, 2017, 2018, as cited in Waack, 2019). Previous research also connects collective efficacy to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate (Bandura, 2000, 2012; DeWitt, 2017; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2018). In spite of what is known about these relationships, little research is available supporting specific leadership intentions to increase collective efficacy (Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Parrett & Budge, 2020).

Statement of the Problem

Explored in the study were the leadership behaviors known to increase teacher efficacy, which promotes student achievement. Educational leaders' knowledge of the positive relationship between collective efficacy and student learning is not enough (Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Parrett & Budge, 2020). School leaders must be aware of specific leadership behaviors to put into practice, thus developing increased collective efficacy among school faculty and positively impacting the learning of students (Donohoo & Katz, 2019). There is a lack of previous research showing specific connections between psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate, which independently have been connected to collective efficacy and student learning (Bandura, 2000, 2012; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2019; Parrett & Budge, 2020).

Purpose of the Study

Research shows high-quality leaders foster high-quality teachers, who, in turn, foster student learning (Hattie, 2017, 2018; Tucker, 2019). The purpose of this study was to identify leadership behaviors to assist school leaders to increase collective efficacy and foster a successful learning environment (Donohoo & Katz, 2019, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018; Jenkins et al., 2018; Parrett & Budge, 2020). The variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate were examined.

Public education is centered on student learning (Donoghue & Hattie, 2016; Pollock & Tolone, 2020). High-quality teaching, a culture of collaboration, and high levels of collective efficacy have a positive impact on student learning, therefore creating successful school environments (Donohoo & Mausbach, 2021; Donohoo et al., 2018; Hattie, 2017, 2018; Parrett & Budge, 2020). According to Donohoo et al. (2018), team members' confidence in each other's abilities and their belief in the impact of the team's work are key elements setting successful school teams apart (para. 13). School leaders play a major role in increasing collective efficacy within their teams, therefore significantly impacting student learning (Donohoo et al., 2018; Parrett & Budge, 2020).

To round out the equation for successful schools and increased collective efficacy, school teams need high-quality leaders and teachers (Tucker, 2019). According to Tucker (2019), "high-quality leaders attract and support high-quality teachers and provide them with the resources and tools they need to improve their practice continually" (p. 40). Once educators are recruited and collaborative teams established, a leadership focus is needed to better understand the process of increasing collective efficacy to increase overall student success (Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Tucker, 2019).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The following research questions and hypotheses guided this study:

1. What is the relationship between each element of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools?

*H1*₀: There is no relationship between each element of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

H1_a: There is a relationship between each element of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

2. What is the relationship between each element of psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools?

 $H2_0$: There is no relationship between each element of psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

 $H2_a$: There is a relationship between each element of psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

3. What is the relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools?

*H3*₀: There is no relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

 $H3_a$: There is a relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

4. What is the relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools?

 $H4_0$: There is no relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

 $H4_a$: There is a relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

5. What is the relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate in middle-level schools?

 $H5_0$: There is no relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate in middle-level schools.

 $H5_a$: There is a relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate in middle-level schools.

Significance of the Study

Student success is the overall goal of public education, and school faculty members strive to make student-centered decisions on a daily basis (Amanchukwu et al., 2015; Arnett, 2018). With the impact a teacher can have on student learning (Hattie, 2017), it is important to investigate ways to equip educators to be at their best to provide the highest education to a student. It is also imperative for leaders to foster a learning environment allowing teachers freedom in the classroom for autonomy, creativity, and quality instruction (Amanchukwu et al., 2015; Ebersold et al., 2019).

Considering the previous research conducted on school climate (DeWitt, 2017, 2018; DeWitt & Slade, 2014; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017), psychological safety (Rock & Ringleb, 2013), collaborative capacity (Bandura, 2012; Garmston & Wellman, 2013), along with Hattie's (2017) research regarding teacher effect size in the classroom, the importance of this study arises. Deutsch, a professor and director of Youth-Nex stated, "More than a quarter of middle school students in America say that a teacher or school counselor has had an indelible impact on their success" (as cited in Breen, 2019, para. 7). Investigating the relationships among the research variables in the context of a middle school environment may provide administrators with tools to cultivate an environment to support the specific age group of students who are navigating the path from adolescence to adulthood.

School leaders could potentially use the information gained in this study to make educated decisions regarding the improvement of collective efficacy, climate, and the effectiveness of their leadership behaviors and decisions, as well as how to encourage teacher voice from all team members (Jensen & Ratcliffe, 2020; Quaglia et al., 2020; Zimmerman et al., 2020). Leaders may also gain an understanding of the effects the research variables could have on the concept of collaborative leadership, which is described by DeWitt (2017) as "[the] purposeful actions we take as leaders to enhance the instruction of teachers, build deep relationships with all stakeholders, and deepen our learning together" (paras. 3–4).

Definition of Key Terms

For the purposes of this study, the following terms are defined:

Climate

Reynolds et al. (2017) defined climate as "a broad, multi-dimensional concept that refers to social aspects of the learning environment including school members' interactions and relationships, shared values and norms, and the personal development and growth of the members" (p. 80).

Collaboration

Powell (2004) defined collaboration as what "takes place when members of an inclusive learning community work together as equals to assist students to succeed in the classroom" (p. 3).

Collaborative Capacity

Hocevar et al. (2007) defined collaborative capacity as "the ability of organizations to enter into, develop, and sustain inter-organizational systems in pursuit of collective outcomes" (p. 8).

Collaborative Culture

Garmston and Wellman (2013) described collaborative cultures as "the work of leaders who realize that a collection of superstar teachers working in isolation cannot produce the same results as interdependent colleagues who share and develop professional practices together" (p. 16).

Collaborative Leadership

DeWitt (2017) referred to collaborative leadership as "the purposeful actions we take as leaders to enhance the instruction of teachers, build deep relationships with all stakeholders, and deepen our learning together" (paras. 3-4).

Collective Efficacy

Collective efficacy refers to a shared belief within a group regarding their capability to carry out goals, ultimately leading toward student success (Bandura, 1997; Berg, 2020; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Donohoo et al., 2018; Goodwin & Shebby, 2020, 2021; Preston & Donohoo, 2021).

Culture

Wagner (2006) described school culture as "the shared experiences both in school and out of school (traditions and celebrations) that create a sense of community, family, and team membership" (p. 1).

High-performing Schools

A high-performing school is described by several characteristics supporting high academic achievement and student success. The nine characteristics of high-performing schools, according to the research of Shannon and Bylsma (2007), include:

... a clear and shared focus, high standards and expectations for all students, effective school leadership, high levels of collaboration and communication, curriculum, instruction, and assessments aligned with state standards, frequent monitoring of learning and teaching, focused professional development, a supportive learning environment, and high levels of family and community involvement. (p. 1)

Further research by Shannon and Bylsma (2007) provided additional elements of high-performing schools, including:

... effective processes for improving schools, expanded perspectives on effective leadership, relational trust, quality instruction, grading practices, and monitoring, professional learning communities, cultural competence and culturally responsive teaching, family and community engagement in schools, high school improvement, district improvement, and a need-based allocation of resources. (p. 2)

Middle-level School

The Internal Affairs Office of the United States Department of Education (2008) defined a middle school as a building serving "pre-adolescent and young adolescent students between grades five and nine" (p. 2). According to the Association for Middle-Level Education, the typical configuration of a middle-level school includes ages 10-14 in grades five through eight (Medford, 2014).

Motivation

Rock and Tang (2013) related the concept of motivation to a term referred to as "workplace engagement" (p. 352). The authors also stated, "The neural basis of engagement is closely linked to (a) reward/threat response," and "the neural basis of engagement can be defined by the average levels of activation of the brain's reward and self-regulation circuitry when people are thinking about or participating in their work" (Rock & Tang, 2013, pp. 352—353).

Psychological Safety

Edmondson (2003) stated psychological safety "describes individuals' perceptions about the consequences of interpersonal risks in their work environment" (p. 4).

SCARF Model

Rock (2013) summarized the SCARF model as "an easy way to remember and act on the social triggers that can generate both the approach and avoid responses" previously described as one of the two concepts derived from social neuroscience research (p. 311). The five elements included in this model are status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness (Weller, 2018). Status refers to the human perception of how social experiences can either raise or lower another's status with others (Rock, 2013). Certainty refers to one's confidence in a surrounding environment (Rock, 2013). Autonomy is the degree of control within those surroundings, while relatedness refers to the quality of relationships in one's environment, drawing from the concepts of trust and empathy (Rock, 2013). Lastly, fairness encompasses the perception of fair versus unfair events in an environment, comparing closely with trust versus mistrust of others (Rock, 2013).

Social Neuroscience

Rock (2013) stated, "Social neuroscience explores the biological foundations of the way humans relate to each other and to themselves and covers diverse topics that can be operationalized and unambiguously tested to different degrees" (p. 311).

Delimitations, Limitations, and Assumptions

The scope of the study was bound by the following delimitations:

Time Frame

The research took place during the spring 2021 semester.

Location of the Study

The study was conducted in a purposely selected southwest Missouri school district. Faculty members from middle-level buildings within the district completed the survey. According to the Missouri Department of Secondary and Elementary Education, these particular buildings within the school district housed over 50 certified faculty members and over 1,400 students combined at the time of this study.

Sample

A case study was conducted in two middle-level school buildings within a Southwest Missouri school district containing fifth through eighth grades. According to Hayes et al. (2015), "the goal of such a study is to increase understanding of the studied phenomenon, either in the context of a specific instance or generalized over a population" (p. 4). A survey was given to the entire population of faculty members at both school buildings.

A minimum sample size of 30 faculty members was needed for the purpose of this study to meet a confidence interval of 95%. According to Bluman (2018), "approximately 95% of the sample means fall within 1.96 standard deviations of the population mean if the sample size is 30 or more, or if σ is known when *n* is less than 30 and the population is normally distributed" (p. 374).

Criteria

Participants selected for the study were certified faculty members working with middle-level students, fifth through eighth grades.

The following limitations were identified in this study:

Sample Demographics

The sample was limited to middle-level certified faculty members in a school district located in Southwest Missouri. Two school buildings within the district house middle-level students. The middle school houses grades five and six, and the junior high houses grades seven and eight.

Instrument

Survey items and individual sections of the survey were created and organized by the researcher. Those completing the survey did so based on their perceptions. Human perception can alter for a number of reasons, including outside factors altering one's wellbeing, possibly during the time frame in which the survey is completed (Ramanathan, 2018). According to Rock (2013), one's brain health can be affected unless the presence of a mental health diet exists. This is referred to as a healthy mind platter, which includes "the neuro-cognitive benefits of seven key activities: sleep time, playtime, time-in, downtime, connecting time, physical time, and focus time" (Rock, 2013, p. 130). According to Friedman et al. (2020), a lack of awareness exists pertaining to what it takes to maintain brain health, as well as the connection of brain health to mental and emotional health.

Without a balance of these variables, a person's responses could be affected. These "threats" to a study's validity, as referred to by Campbell and Stanley (1963, p. 1) include the concepts of "maturation" and "history" (p. 5), described as affecting the validity of pretest/post-test research, but could apply to single survey research, as well. According to the authors, "history" refers to "specific events" occurring in a research subject's life, possibly altering responses, as well as "maturation" to functional concepts possibly altering responses, such as hunger and fatigue (Campbell & Stanley, 1963, p. 5). *Bias*

Certified faculty members completing the survey may have had a bias regarding the collaborative capacity of their building, as well as the existing school climate and overall culture.

The following assumptions were accepted:

- 1. Survey questions were answered honestly, reflectively, and voluntarily.
- 2. Survey answers were representative of fifth through eighth-grade faculty members in school districts similar to size and organization.

Summary

The background and theoretical framework related to the study were described in Chapter One, as well as the problem, purpose, and significance. Chapter Two includes a review of the relevant literature associated with the variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate. Chapter Two also includes a review of literature regarding concepts related to each variable, such as collective efficacy, neuroscience, neuroleadership, collaboration, and school climate.

Chapter Two: Review of Literature

The role of public education has always been vital to society (Kober, 2007; Reseger, 2020; Teachers College, 2018; Winthrop, 2020. Kober (2007) outlined six main themes of public education, including providing "universal access to free education," guaranteeing "equal opportunities for all children," unifying a "diverse population," preparing "people for citizenship in a democratic society," preparing "people to become economically self-sufficient," and improving "social conditions" (p. 7). Some schools are exceeding this mission, while others are struggling. At the hub of a school's success is the leadership of the teachers and ultimately administration (Goodwin & Davis, 2021). To best meet the needs of students entering today's public schools, educators and school leaders must foster an environment promoting student success, which is influenced greatly by educators (Hattie, 2017).

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationships among psychological safety, school culture, and collaborative capacity. School leaders could potentially use the information gained in this study to make educated decisions regarding their building's culture, climate, and leadership behaviors, as well as how to cultivate teacher autonomy and increase student learning with increased levels of collective efficacy among faculty members. In public education, school leaders are in a position to foster a positive school climate allowing for such autonomy, as well as collaborative efforts and teacher growth (Sterrett & Hill-Black, 2020, para. 1). The lack of previous research and possible connection among the chosen variables can potentially aid in this process of effective leadership.

Theoretical Framework

The theoretical framework of this study is based on Bandura's social cognitive theory. (1977, 1999, 2000, 2005, 2012). Bandura (1999, 2000) believed people were actively involved in the direction of the future rather than a product of previous life events. Collective efficacy, however, is "not simply the sum of the efficacy beliefs of the individual members" (Bandura, 1999, p. 53). Rather, it is a collective effort toward the increase of student success, affirmed and strengthened when success is attained (Bandura, 1997; Berg, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018).

Efforts involved in a group's collective efficacy are largely impacted by the capacity to collaborate (Donohoo & Katz, 2019). Collaborative capacity is dependent upon a group's connection to one another and the levels of trust among faculty members, as well as faculty members' belief in the group's ability to create and meet goals (Edmondson, 2012, Goodwin & Shebby, 2020). Once trust is established, a shared belief is attained, and success has occurred, the group is motivated to continue efforts toward future aspirations (Donohoo et al., 2018; Modoono, 2017)

The risks "new learning requires" among group members (Modoono, 2017, para. 7), can be related to the overall psychological safety of a group (Edmondson & Roloff, 2009). Edmondson (2012) first described psychological safety as a concept centered around trust and respect, leading toward high levels of collaborative capacity. The elements of psychological safety were further described by Rock (2008, 2009), with the SCARF model, including the concepts of status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness. These same descriptors can be found in schools with high levels of collective efficacy and collaborative capacity, as well as a positive school climate (DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo et al., 2018; Gruenert, 2017; Jackson, 2020; Maxwell et al., 2017; National School Climate Council, 2012; Reynolds et al., 2017; Whitaker, 2013).

A school's climate is often associated with the core values upon which the school actively functions in day-to-day operations (Jackson, 2020). The climate of a school was described by Frey, Smith, and Fisher (2020) as "how it feels to be a part of the classroom community," many times related to a student's perception of how connected he or she feels to both peers and adults within the school community (para. 2). Climate can affect student learning and collaboration, as well as shared values among students and faculty members (Fisher & Frey, 2018; Frey et al., 2020; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015). Several synonymous terms are oftentimes listed when describing schools with a positive climate, as well as those with high levels of collective efficacy and collaborative capacity (Bandura, 2005; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Donohoo et al., 2018).

The value of conducting this study among faculty members working with middlelevel students lies in existing research on specific struggles related to middle-level neurological and social development, as well as the previously mentioned importance of a teacher's effect on the success of students (Anfara & Caskey, 2014; Hattie, 2017, 2018; Paris, 2019). Middle-level students often struggle with impulse control, emotional regulation, and problem-solving, as well as stress, self-control, and risk management due to neurological developments in the limbic system and prefrontal cortex (Anfara & Caskey, 2014; Paris, 2019). Several mental health disorders are discovered during middle-level years, such as those connected to anxiety, oppositional defiance, mood, and conduct (Paris, 2019). Due to previous research showing the influence of collective efficacy on student success (Hattie, 2017, 2018), value can be found by completing this study among those who work, specifically in the crucial developmental years of middle-level students (Deutsch, as cited in Breen, 2019). One author stated, "too often principals focus only on student learning—and that's an oversight. Of course, the purpose of school is for students to learn, but students' learning will be constrained unless their teachers are also learning" (Hoerr, 2016, para. 8). According to Renga et al. (2020), school leaders "supporting teachers as whole persons is vitally important for their well-being and ability to serve students," particularly as faculty return to schools with additional stress following the COVID-19 pandemic (para. 4).

The theoretical framework was used to guide the exploration of relationships among the research variables. There is a connection between student learning and the collective efficacy of teachers, as well as a connection between collective efficacy to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and a positive school climate (Bandura, 2005, 2012; Berg, 2020; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo et al., 2018; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2018, 2018, as cited in Waack, 2018). By investigating the relationships among these concepts, the researcher hopes to discover high-impact, overlapping elements to guide the intentions and behaviors of school leaders (Donohoo et al., 2018; Modoono, 2017; Zebeda et al., 2020).

Collective Efficacy

Collective efficacy stems from the work of Bandura's social cognitive theory (1997, 1999, 2000, 2005). The premise of social cognitive theory lies in the belief

individuals are active participants in their lives, rather than a bi-product of life events (Bandura, 1999). According to Bandura (1999), "the human mind is generative, creative, proactive, and self-reflective not just reactive" (p. 5). The concept of self-efficacy within Bandura's work with the social cognitive theory describes an individual's belief in an ability to demonstrate control over life rather than being a product of life events (1999, p. 46). Bandura (1997) furthered the discussion regarding individual perceived self-efficacy by identifying four information sources affecting self-efficacious behaviors: performance accomplishments, vicarious experience, verbal persuasion, and emotional arousal (p. 195).

The first self-efficacy source is performance accomplishments. This is largely based on what Bandura (1997) refers to as "personal mastery experiences," good or bad (p. 195). Vicarious experiences, the second source, are based on observing others' performances and relating those experiences to future personal performances (Bandura, 1997). Verbal persuasion, the third source of information, can be described as lifting a colleague up or encouraging future success within a colleague Bandura, 1997). This is often not as effective as personal performance accomplishments but still plays a vital role in self-efficacious behavior (Bandura, 1997). The fourth and final source is emotional arousal (Bandura, 1997). One's reactions to a negative situation can provide an individual with information on how to cope and display efficacious behavior in future stressful occurrences (Bandura, 1997). If handled well, one can expect to handle negative situations positively as they arise (Bandura, 1997). Fear about negative reactions, on the other hand, can increase anxiety and lessen one's confidence (Bandura, 1997).
Individual perceived self-efficacy can affect both the environment one challenges him or herself with, based on the strength of the individual's perceived ability to handle various situations and challenges, as well as persistence and effort in the midst of challenging situations (Bandura, 1977; Egan et al., 2021). A stronger level of selfefficacy indicates an increased effort in a task (Bandura, 1977).

Teacher self-efficacy is described as "a measure of the teacher's belief that he/she can affect student success" (Corry & Stella, 2018, p. 1). The concept of self-efficacy applied to a group setting is collective efficacy (Donohoo & Hite, 2021). In the educational setting, a group's perceived collective efficacy lies in a "faculty's shared belief that through their collective action they can positively influence student outcomes" (Donohoo & Hite, 2021, para. 5). Collaborative efforts exceed individual accomplishments, seen in the existence of many goals only attained by a "socially interdependent effort" (Bandura, 2005, p. 26).

Hattie's research (2018), involving over 25 years of conducting over 95,000 studies, ranked the effect sizes of a variety of strategies in terms of the effect each had on student learning (para. 1). With a score of .4 representing a year's worth of growth, the collective efficacy of teachers was found to have an effect size of 1.57, representing almost four years of growth within a year of schooling (Hattie, 2018, para. 2). Hattie's research places collective efficacy at three times greater effect size than socioeconomics, home-life, and the intrinsic motivation of the student him or herself, and more than two times the effect size of past school success (Donohoo et al., 2018; Hattie, 2017).

School cultures with high expectations for student learning rather than "instructional compliance" are found when high levels of collective efficacy are in place (Donohoo et al., 2018, para. 4). According to Goddard et al. (2000), increased collective efficacy can help give an understanding to what sets successful schools apart regarding student achievement. Donohoo and Katz (2019) found collective efficacy to increase through a cycle of teachers improving their practice, followed by student success, which further increased the collective efficacy of faculty members. Along with the experience of success, faculty members working together toward student learning must have the confidence they have the ability to meet student needs (Donohoo & Hite, 2021). A high level of confidence in one's team, along with the belief a group can collectively accomplish more, are "key elements that set successful school teams apart" (Donohoo et al., 2018, para. 13). Zimmerman et al. (2020) indicated once teachers realize the level of expertise within their team, "they move to a new level of collective efficacy," shifting from a culture of "scarcity—limited professional collaboration—to a culture of abundance" (p. 179).

According to Goddard et al. (2000), teacher collective efficacy is a continued work in progress and can even ebb and flow throughout a school day depending on situations arising or team members' confidence with a particular subject. Goddard et al. (2000) added to Bandura's work of identifying sources of information for self-efficacy by adding elements related to collective efficacy: analysis of the teaching task and assessment of teaching competence. The first element, analysis of the teaching task, is described by Goddard et al. (2000) as faculty members assessing the need for teacher engagement. This analysis provides a collective look at a variety of elements affecting the possibility of success within a school, including student motivation, available supplies, community support, and even the physical, tangible aspects of the school building (Goddard et al. 2000). The second element, assessment of teaching competence can best be described as faculty judgment of team members competency (Goddard et al. 2000). Both elements work together, encouraging teacher collective efficacy (Goddard et al. 2000).

Motivation and Mindset

Motivation is a topic researchers have been studying for decades, with a concept Pink (2009) referred to as Motivation 2.0. This system utilizes rewards and punishments to motivate employees (Pink, 2009). It is a system including two concepts: rewarding a behavior will cause an increase in the behavior, and punishing a behavior will cause a decrease (Pink, 2009). Pink (2009) suggested this system has been successful for years and still has a place in some work environments; however, as educators move into an era with jobs allowing tasks to be more creative and encouraging autonomy, this system of extrinsic motivation does more harm than good (Pink, 2009).

Neuroscientists tend to be in opposition to psychologists on the topic of motivational systems and the use of rewards (Hidi, 2016). Hidi (2016) stated this type of reward system goes along with biological aspects of the human brain and behavior. According to Pink (2009), "Our current operating system has become far less compatible with, and at times downright antagonistic to: how we *organize* what we do; how we *think about* what we do; and how we *do* what we do" (p. 20). Even goal-setting can be harmful to job performance (Healy & Niven, 2016). Self-directed goals are a positive step toward high performance; however, goals set by others, such as a boss or supervisor, can have a negative impact on job performance, possibly due to a limited focus on the outcome (Pink, 2009). Other harmful behaviors potentially begin with extrinsic motivators, such as the encouragement of unethical behavior, the stifling of creativity, and the encouragement of short-term thinking (Pink, 2009). In contrast, leaders are encouraging creativity within their employees and providing opportunities for autonomy and critical thinking in the workplace, which are skills highly sought after in the 21st-century workforce (Urbani et al., 2017). According to Gardner (2008), these types of 21st-century tasks are seen in the cultivation of five distinctive minds in which individuals can cultivate and grow toward a deeper development of oneself, including the disciplined mind, the synthesizing mind, the respectful mind, and the ethical mind, paying particular attention to the first three minds mentioned.

Gardner's concept of the Five Minds coincides with Pink's concept of Motivation 3.0, which offers an alternative to Motivation 2.0. According to Pink (2009), "When contingent rewards aren't involved, or when incentives are used with the proper deftness, performance improves and understanding deepens" (p. 57). Ryan and Deci (2017), behavioral scientists who completed research regarding intrinsic motivators, created the self-determination theory (SDT), which includes three satisfactions essential for "intrinsic motivation, internalization, and social integration," which include "feeling competence, autonomy, and relatedness" (p. 5). This theory acknowledges rewards can be harmful when used for motivational purposes and therefore encourages the creation of work environments for the human needs of competence, autonomy, and relatedness to thrive (Pink, 2009).

Intrinsic motivation is not a concept a person is simply born with, yet some things to be cultivated within an individual, given the right mindset and work environment (Vansteenkiste et al., 2018). Dweck and Eaton (2017) related this concept to the field of sports. Dweck and Eaton (2017) argued when most people see the big difference between average athletes and champions in their talent, it is seen in their mindset. Dweck (2017) outlined two mindsets to determine the level of one's success: a fixed mindset and a growth mindset. The authors provided this explanation of the two mindsets:

Some hold a fixed mindset, in which they see abilities as fixed traits. In this view, talents are gifts—you either have them or you don't. Other people, in contrast, hold a growth mindset of ability. They believe that people can cultivate their abilities. In other words, they view talents as potentialities that can be developed through practice. It's not that people holding this mindset deny differences among people. They don't deny that some people may be better or faster than others at acquiring certain skills, but what they focus on is the idea that everyone can get better over time. (Dweck & Eaton, 2017, p. 1)

According to Milkman (2021), a blank slate is vital to behavioral changes. This is often accompanied by a true change in one's situation, or a life event altering present circumstances, leaving behind habits and previous thought patterns (Milkman, 2021). New patterns of behavior can arise, particularly with the concept of timing (Milkman, 2021). Milkman (2021) refers to this as the fresh start effect, which applies the concept of a blank slate to particular times in people's lives in which change is natural due to the timing of making a change. For educators, the start of a new school year is an example of a time in which change and the motivation to change are more prevalent (Milkman, 2021).

Social-Cognitive Neuroscience

According to Cacioppo and Cacioppo (2020), the human brain is "the central organ of perceiving, identifying, and adapting to social and physical stressors" and has "evolved to determine what is threatening to it, and to respond or adapt to the potential threat" (p. 6). Social-cognitive neuroscience has investigated concepts such as social pain and social living (Kolb et al., 2019). Discoveries have been made linking the same brain circuits handling physical pain as those handling emotional or social pain (Lieberman & Eisenberger, 2015). The connection between physical and emotional pain is due to both utilizing the same areas of the brain, including the interplay between the areas interpreting touch and other sensations, such as the somatosensory cortex, with areas controlling emotions and responses to stress, such as the amygdala, hypothalamus, and anterior cingulate gyrus (Harvard Health Publishing, 2019). Additionally, there are neurotransmitters involved, which aid in communicating pain to both the brain and nervous system (Harvard Health Publishing, 2019).

Cacioppo and Cacioppo (2020) challenged the basic connection between social and physical pain in their research. After further explanation, however, they revealed it is specifically social pain from a feeling of rejection seen differently on brain imaging as compared to brain reactions from one's perception of social isolation (Cacioppo & Cacioppo, 2020). The difference appears to be in the relationship between the rejection and feeling of isolation (Cacioppo, 2020). If the rejection is from someone close to the person experiencing the negative social interaction, the brain reacts in the same areas as physical pain (Cacioppo, 2020). If the rejection is from a stranger, the brain images show reactions in a different area of the brain (Cacioppo & Cacioppo, 2020; Woo et al., 2014). In a team setting where faculty members work closely with one another, the physical reaction occurring from what is social isolation, or rejection from a close relationship, does ignite identical areas in the brain as physical pain (Cacioppo & Cacioppo, 2020). Cacioppo and Cacioppo (2020) also found reactions to "psychosocial stress, operating through the brain's perception of the meaning of events," or "a person's perceptions of his or her close relationships may impact inflammation and immunity" (p. 15).

Eisenberger and Lieberman (2013) described the neuro-systems in the brain connected with physical pain, including three regions in the cortex. First is the somatosensory cortex, as mentioned above, which interprets the location of the body experiencing pain (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). Next is the insula, which responds to the pain itself as well as provides general information to the brain regarding the body, and finally, the dorsal anterior cingulate cortex, which is connected to the actual discomfort the pain has caused physically (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). This last section of the cortex, known as the dACC, is of particular interest in the connections seen between the brain's response to physical versus social pain, based on specific research first conducted in monkeys in 1982, then repeated with a human experiment in 2003 (as cited in Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). Using a functional magnetic resonance imaging study (fMRI), researchers looked at social exclusion specifically looking at the dACC (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). Utilizing different subjects across a college campus, researchers conducted a virtual game between the participants in which the one subject, along with two virtual subjects, played a game of catch (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). After a while, the two virtual players were programmed to only throw the ball to each other, excluding the human subject (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013).

When the game was over and the various human subjects came out of the scanner, the researchers heard language, such as "I felt rejected" and "meaningless" (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013, p. 304). Brain scans of the dACC showed more increased activity in participants upon exclusion than inclusion, as well as increased activity in participants who indicated negative emotions while being excluded (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). There was also a section of the brain that showed regulation of the amount of social pain, known as the right ventrolateral prefrontal cortex, of RVLPF (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). The more active this region of the brain was during the social rejection, the better the participant could handle negative feelings and emotions (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013).

Researchers Chester et al. (2016) found when an individual's social pain is experienced, there is an increased desire to connect socially, which provides an opportunity for healing. This type of research is significant when studying human behavior and social neuroscience due to similarities between human and animal brains, making "animal models an important source of information about brain structures and brain function" (Capoccio & Capoccio, 2020, p. 10). Cacioppo and Cacioppo (2020) pointed out that the two hemispheres in the human brain have been found to separate human behavior from animal behavior, and the left hemisphere of the brain is how one "interprets events in a way that forms a coherent narrative" (p. 12). The problem with one's interpretation of events is the potential of the interpretation to create a narrative inconsistent with the reality of a situation (Cacioppo & Cacioppo, 2020).

In contrast, looking at the positives of social pleasure, the same type of findings was discovered within the brain (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). According to Eisenberger and Lieberman (2013), research has discovered the brain can react to social rewards just as strongly as it can to a tangible reward, such as money. Through this study, along with others investigating responses to the concepts of fair versus unfair, social reputation, and even the feeling of giving versus receiving, researchers have found "bringing out the best in people in the workplace depends at least as much on optimizing a person's social and emotional well-being as it does on those cognitive processes" of the parts of the brain other neurosciences focus on, such as math and reasoning" (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013, p. 308). In New York City, health care administrators have seen the need for the combination of physical and emotional well-being firsthand due to the COVID-19 pandemic (Ripp et al. 2020). A major factor in the emotional health of healthcare workers through the pandemic was described through feelings of trust in administration, as well as sensing genuine care from administration toward employees (Ripp et al. 2020). Health workers' perceptions of administration were described along with other components such as training and preparation as vital in fostering strength and durability during the time of crisis (Ripp et al. 2020).

Platt (2020) discussed an even greater concept for teams working together, which he refers to as a social brain network. He found when connections are strong, team members' "brains go into synchrony" and "patterns of neuronal activity are aligned" (Platt, 2020, p. 15). After the team members' brain activity is synchronized, physiological synchrony follows, such as heart rates (Platt, 2020). This level of synchrony can allow teams to improve communication and levels of understanding, which lead to an overall improvement in the team's ability to work well together (Platt, 2020). In regards to the application of leadership, Eisenberger and Lieberman (2013) gave an example of two employees, one struggling with a physical ailment and the other a social pain. Based on the given research, leaders should move past the opinion employees should "simply 'get over' their hurt feelings, despite the fact we would never think someone should 'get over' their broken leg" (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013, p. 304). Furthermore, it is suggested employees who feel valued and respected have activated areas of the brain fostering future desired behavior in order to repeat the feeling of being appreciated by those in supervisory positions (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). In a school setting, Modoono (2017) added:

Trusting teachers communicates that you value them and believe in them. Teachers who are trusted take risks and collaborate with their colleagues. They work longer hours. They are committed to maintaining a healthy culture—a place where everyone looks forward to coming to work. Most important, they build on this foundation of trust and collaboration to create engaging, rigorous learning opportunities for their students. (para. 3)

Psychological Safety

Research has found a correlation between positive relationships between team members and leaders and psychological safety, outlining the importance of creating a psychologically safe environment among teams (Frazier et al., 2017). Edmondson (2012) described psychological safety as a concept grounded in trust and respect, fostering a collaborative environment in which equal voice and experiences are shared more freely. Edmondson (2018) stated, "simply put, psychological safety makes it possible to give tough feedback and have difficult conversations without the need to tiptoe around the truth" because of the foundation of trust and respect (as cited in Brown, p. 36). Mistakes will not be ridiculed, and asking for help is not seen as a weakness within a psychologically safe environment (Edmondson, 2012, 2018).

Continuing with the concept of social neuroscience, Rock (2013) provided insights and applications toward the improvement of people working together. He suggested two themes stemming from the research conducted within social neuroscience (Rock, 2013). First is "much of our motivation driving social behavior is governed by an overarching organizing principle of minimizing threat and maximizing reward" (Gordon, 2000, as cited in Rock, 2013, p. 311). Second is the reiteration of the brain treating physical and social needs similarly (Rock, 2013).

To both summarize and provide a framework for these two emerging themes within recent neuroscience studies, Rock (2013) created the SCARF model, which can be applied in collaborative groups in all settings. This model includes the following five categories, describing the social needs of people: status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness (2013).

The first domain of the SCARF model is status. Status refers to a person's "relative importance to others" (Rock, 2013, p. 312). Clark (2020) related the concept of status to what he referred to as inclusion safety, which highlights the need people have to be accepted by others. Even in conversations with others, humans have a perceived status of ranking with another person. Within the brain, similar areas are activated with status as with areas utilized for math and working with numbers (Rock, 2013). If one person perceives themselves as higher than the other, their perceived status increases (Rock, 2013). When this occurs, dopamine levels increase. Haynes (2018) stated the chemical

dopamine comes into play with the concept of status as a major player in motivation and aiding in social success.

The opposite reaction can occur when one feels lower in status than another (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). In the previously discussed research of Eisenberger and Lieberman (2013), when one experiences the feeling of being left out, or treated as a lowered status, the brain perceives the reaction in similar ways as it does to physical pain. As leaders, an application can be made to reduce the team members' status threats while increasing status rewards (Eisenberger & Lieberman, 2013). Unfortunately, Rock (2013) also pointed out decreasing someone's status accidentally can happen with even the best of intentions, for example, someone receiving advice from a colleague or boss. This can affect workplace interactions, from simple conversations to faculty evaluations (Rock, 2013). One suggestion Rock (2013) gives for this is to encourage self-evaluation from faculty members as a way to proactively lower a status threat. Other suggestions include those increasing status through social rewards, such as giving attention to improvement, which can often be accomplished through goal-setting and self-competition, as well as giving positive praise to people socially (Rock, 2013). An important reminder for leaders is to increase the status of team members by avoiding decreasing the status of others simultaneously (Rock, 2013). The status of the group can be increased negatively, thereby affecting relationships among team members (Rock, 2013).

The next domain, certainty, refers to one's ability to be able to "predict the future" (Rock, 2013, p. 312). The sensory system plays a large role in this process, as it recognizes patterns creating memories of previous experiences to predict future experiences, which is an experience humans desire (Rock, 2013). Without the ability to

35

make predictions, the brain has to rely on other resources to react to stimuli, such as the prefrontal cortex, which causes more intensity in the human experience, potentially causing stress (Rock, 2013). Familiar situations providing certainty are included in the SCARF theory due to the automatic pilot level of comfortability certainty brings (Reiche, 2016; Rock, 2009). Stress occurs if a person encounters a situation providing the opposite experience of unfamiliarity, which, in turn, affects one's working memory and triggers a threat response in the brain, creating a situation that must be dealt with before a person can feel right again, (Rock, 2009).

When errors are made in predictability, the reaction in the orbital frontal cortex, or OFC, is then a potential distraction from one's work tasks, as well as providing a way for people to focus on the mistake (Rock, 2013). This, in turn, makes it difficult to focus on the task at hand without a solution to the error (Rock, 2013). The opposite of this reaction occurs when a sense of certainty is created (Rock, 2013). The threat to one's feelings of certainty can be affected by any change and can be decreased in many ways by leaders, such as breaking tasks into manageable chunks, describing the desired outcome of a task, and even the clear communication of expectations (Rock, 2013).

Trust comes into play with the concept of certainty, described by Brown (2018) as "the glue that holds teams and organizations together" (p. 222). Trust among team members is a difficult topic of discussion and is often easier to avoid rather than invest the needed time to develop (Brown, 2018). Avoiding the topic of trust, however, is even worse than the difficulty of discussing trust within a team, often causing colleagues to avoid talking with each other, or even talk about one another with other team members (Brown, 2018). Authors Zimmerman et al. (2020) described interpersonal trust as a

concept developed through social situations, such as those occurring throughout a child's school career. The concepts of "confidence, vulnerability, benevolence, reliability, competence, honesty, and openness" are associated with interpersonal trust (Zimmerman et al., 2020, p. 15). According to Causton et al. (2021), "there are no shortcuts to forming and fostering relationships that allow humans to trust one another" (p. 22).

The third domain, autonomy, "provides a sense of control over events" (Rock, 2013, p. 312). In other words, autonomy allows people the feeling of having a choice in day-to-day tasks (Rock, 2013). Studies conducted with rats even demonstrated the significance of the perception of a stressful event as being labeled uncontrollable versus escapable was the difference between life and death (as cited in Rock, 2013). Other studies show correlations among those who have retired from corporate life to a position with lower income to an increased sense of autonomy, as well as with their perception of control and health (Rock, 2013).

One of the most common leadership mistakes discussed by Rock (2013) regarding a team member's autonomy is micromanaging, which creates a threat response due to a lack of control in the situation. Micromanagement is a threatening situation for people, triggering stress as well as directly affecting one's certainty (Rock, 2009). A collaborative environment does encourage less autonomy among individual team members; however, leaders can still create a sense of autonomy in teams by offering choices rather than an ultimatum, for example.

The fourth domain of relatedness refers to one's "sense of safety with others" (Rock, 2013, p. 312), often related to the feeling of belonging within a group or social situation (Rock, 2013). Within brain research, one learns the production of oxytocin,

which is a naturally-produced hormone, occurs when one feels more comfortable with people in social situations (Rock, 2013). Oxytocin can be produced by beginning collaborative groups with team members getting to know one another before tackling the group's tasks (Rock, 2013). This production of oxytocin creates improved relatedness, which ties closely to the concept of trust (Rock, 2013). According to Rock (2009), "each time a person meets someone new, the brain automatically makes quick friend-or-foe distinctions and then experiences the friends and foes in ways colored by those distinctions" (p. 56). School leaders who are attuned to this can steer situations socially to improve neurological reactions and productivity within a team (Rock, 2009).

The opposite of closeness is group withdrawal, which can occur when a group member is found to be untrustworthy (Rock, 2013). Therefore, the more groups trust their members, the better the collaborative capacity will be within the organization (Rock, 2013). According to Rock (2013), the positive connections deriving from group trust is vital; however, overall trust within a team is a slow process, occurring over a period of time (Brown, 2018).

Tangible applications for leaders to reduce the threat response associated from a lack of relatedness would be forming mentor relationships and encouraging team members to spend time and share life stories with one another, which can increase a group's productivity (Rock, 2013). Cultivating an environment embedded in mutual trust can help team members recover and learn from failure (Brown, 2018). Brown (2018) pointed out with the millennial generation "making up thirty-five percent of the American labor force (the largest represented generation), teaching how to embrace failure as a learning opportunity is even more important" (p. 242). According to Pasquariello (2017):

The reality of our overachieving culture is to avoid admitting failure at all costs. So, when you have staked your career and reputation on a particular policy or theory, it takes a certain kind of bravery and confidence to take a stand and acknowledge failure. (p. 22)

The fifth and final domain of fairness "is a perception of fair exchanges between people" (Rock, 2013, p. 312). The response related to this concept is largely seen in the limbic system, which is the control center for emotional responses in the brain (Coon et al., 2019). The perception of fair versus unfair social situations among people can trigger a threat response with colleagues in which an employee does not already have established trust, which is often referred to as "the old boys' network" (Rock, 2009, p. 56). Fairness is highly related to trust, once again, and the collaborative efforts of a team are centered around the existence of this concept among team members (Reiche, 2016; Rock, 2009).

Opportunities surrounding fairness can create intrinsic motivation for team members. Unfair exchanges, however, can at times include an area of the brain called the insula, which is related to feelings such as disgust (Rock, 2013). An extremely damaging product of an unfair exchange between team members can be a lack of empathy team members can feel for each other if they perceive the interactions as unfair; even feeling better, so to speak, when coworkers do not perform as well or are reprimanded by supervisors (Rock, 2013). To decrease this perception, leaders can increase communication among team members, be honest about organizational issues, and set group norms for team collaboration (Rock, 2013).

These five domains as a whole can activate the areas of the brain which react to a reward or threat and can provide a connection between a social pain and a physical pain

(Rock, 2013). Rock (2013) gave the example of "a perceived threat to one's status activates brain networks similar to those activated by a threat to one's life" (p. 312).

For leaders of any type, an application to this model would be to create a collaborative environment encompassing the "approach-avoid response" (Rock, 2013, p. 312), which refers to the preferred stimuli people experience when working together as one, which will maximize reward and minimize threat (Rock, 2013). According to Rock (2013), this response is a survival instinct, as people label experiences as positive or negative as they maneuver through life experiences. The portion of the brain playing a large role in this coding of experiences is the amygdala, which is highly tied to emotion within responses (Rock, 2013). This can quickly become a reflex, which is significant considering the effects these reactions can have on "perception and problem solving, and the implications of this effect on decision-making, stress-management, collaboration, and motivation" (Rock, 2013, p. 314).

Research has found a correlation between positive relationships between team members and leaders and psychological safety, outlining the importance of creating a psychologically safe environment among teams (Frazier et al., 2017). For leaders who question the amount of time it might take to build a psychologically safe environment, fostering trust and vulnerability, Brown (2018) suggested job performance will decrease if adequate time is not given. She went on to say, "Leaders must either invest a reasonable amount of time attending to fears and feelings or squander an unreasonable amount of time trying to manage ineffective and unproductive behavior" (Brown, 2018, p. 67). Within the brain, similar areas are activated with status as with areas utilized for math and working with numbers (Rock, 2013). If one person perceives themselves as higher than the other, their perceived status increases (Rock, 2013). When this occurs, dopamine levels increase (Rock, 2013). Bringing in neuroscience, Haynes (2018) stated the chemical dopamine comes into play with the concept of status as a major player in motivation and aiding in social success. According to Cunningham and Pfleging (2021), school leaders should first focus on their well-being, followed by modeling self-care and balance for their employees, leading to faculty members feeling valued by their school leaders.

Collaborative Capacity

Edmondson (2011) pointed out that in current workplaces, collaboration plays a vital role in productivity. DeWitt (2018) discussed the importance of collaborative capacity, also referred to as collective efficacy, in the relationship of its effect size in the classroom (Hattie, 2017) and stated:

We need to bring all teachers to a more collaborative mindset, which means that we need to raise their level of self-efficacy through elevating their teacher voice, co-constructing goals with them, focusing on the positive practices they display in the classroom, and listening to their needs. (p. 50)

Hattie's effect sizes list 0.40 as the hinge point, indicating a "year's worth of growth for a year's input" (DeWitt, 2018, p. 10). Collective teacher efficacy's effect size is listed as 1.57, which is comparable to four years of growth for one year's input (DeWitt, 2018).

Fostering collaborative capacity in a school faculty, including collaborative conversation, is tied to team members feeling comfortable in a positive environment, not punishing someone for trying something new (DeWitt, 2018). These collaborative conversations can occur when team members feel valued, heard, and trust their collaborative leaders (DeWitt, 2018). Regarding collaborative conversations, Zimmerman et al. (2020) stated:

When teams begin to ask questions, they let go of certainty and begin to consider divergent ideas. They seek connections between what they know and what they are learning. And they find delight in discovering an unexpected understanding. When questions are asked as part of the collaborative process, everyone grows. (p. 179)

Collaborative efforts of teams are encouraged when results are seen in student achievement, along with the realization of the increase in achievement, correlated to work put in by collaborative teams (Donohoo and Katz, 2019). Garmston and Wellman (2013), in their work with the Adaptive Schools program, have compiled research with experiences to foster collaborative capacity in organizations. The authors stated, "when beliefs, values, and assumptions lie below the surface and are not illuminated by the light of inquiry, the system defaults to established patterns and predictable outcomes" (Garmston & Wellman, 2013, p. 2). To combat habits of existing systemic organization, seven norms of collaboration were created to allow for increased, productive group communication (Garmston & Wellman, 2013, including:

 Pausing, which allows for listeners to engage thinking and processing of information, as well as group members' voices (p. 32)

- 2. Paraphrasing, which allows the listener to communicate value for a team member's voice, as well as understanding (p. 33)
- 3. Posing questions to "explore thinking" (p. 36)
- 4. Putting ideas on the table to encourage productivity, as well as "knowing when to pull ideas off the table" (p. 38)
- Providing data, which acquires "meaning" as a "result of human interaction" (p. 38)
- Paying attention to self and others to allow for "meaningful dialogue and discussion" (p. 39)
- 7. Presuming positive intentions, which the authors described as a way to encourage "honest conversations about important matters" (p. 39)

Authors Zimmerman et al. (2020) further described the use of questioning as a part of the collaborative process through the lens of collaborative inquiry. According to the authors, "persistent use of inquiry transforms school cultures; it strengthens collaboration and expands team capacity" (Zimmerman et al., p. 179).

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought about many changes in education, including the need for collaborative efforts (Ark, 2021). Online learning, blended learning, and new teacher hires require an increased need for collaboration, team teaching, and the development of skills needed to effectively educate students who are returning to in-person learning after experiencing a loss of instructional time with teachers (Ark, 2021). To further the capacity for effective collaboration among faculty, it is vital to foster leadership at the team level (Boren, 2017). School leaders fostering leadership qualities among faculty leaders, as well as taking the time to plan effective meetings can increase a group's capacity to collaborate (Boren, 2017). School leaders can increase personal, collaborative capacity by increased participation in effective professional development, creating group norms for collaborative settings, as well as visiting successful schools and team leaders offering support to each other (Boren, 2017).

School Climate/Leadership

School climate is listed by DeWitt (2018) as of the main components of twentyfirst-century learning, along with communication, creativity, collaboration, and critical thinking. The National School Climate Council (2012) defined this concept as the "character of school life" (p. 2), furthering the definition as follows:

School climate is a multidimensional concept that reflects the norms, goals, values, interpersonal relationships, teaching and learning practices, safety, and organizational structures of a school community. In a school with a positive school climate, students, families, and educators work together to contribute to a shared school vision. Educators model and nurture prosocial behavior. Everyone contributes to the operations of the school and care of the physical environment. Students, families, and school personnel feel respected, valued, and engaged in the life of the school. (p. 1)

Research indicates a positive school climate encourages student success in school in many ways, including academic, social-emotional, behavioral, and overall attendance, to name a few (DeWitt, 2017; National School Climate Center, 2012). According to DeWitt (2017), "in schools that care about fostering a supportive and inclusive school climate, in which all really does mean all, understand that our students need an emotional connection to school in order to be fully engaged" (para. 13). Lasting change cannot take

place without a leadership focus on fostering a positive school climate (Stronge & Xu (2021). Stronge and Xu (2021) offered suggestions for school leaders, such as using an awareness of the school's overall culture to foster the everyday climate and bringing all school stakeholders together to positively impact the wellness of the school community.

Research conducted by Brown (2018) around the concepts of leadership and what she refers to as courageous cultures found over 80% of leaders could "immediately and passionately talk about problematic behaviors and cultural norms that corrode trust and courage;" however, "[they] couldn't identify the specific skills" of what it looks like to have trust and courage (pp. 6–7). Brown (2018) identified ten "behaviors and cultural issues" leaders identified as obstacles in organizations across the world (p. 7).

- Resisting hard conversations with employees, "including giving honest, productive feedback" (p. 7)
- Focusing a large amount of time on negative habits and behaviors, rather than "spending a reasonable amount of time proactively acknowledging and addressing the fears and feelings that show up during change and upheaval" (p. 8)
- 3. "Diminishing trust caused by a lack of connection and empathy" (p. 8)
- 4. Employees and leaders playing it safe, avoiding "taking smart risks or creating and sharing bold ideas to meet changing demands and the insatiable need for innovation" (p. 8)
- 5. Getting "stuck and defined by setbacks, disappointments, and failures" (p. 8)
- Placing "too much shame and blame," and "not enough accountability and learning" (p. 9)

- Team members "opting out of vital conversations about diversity and inclusivity because they fear looking wrong, saying something wrong, or being wrong" (p. 9)
- 8. Teams and team members "rushing into ineffective or unsustainable solutions rather than staying with problem identification and solving" (p. 9)
- 9. The values of the organization being "assessed in terms of aspirations rather than actual behaviors that can be taught, measured, and evaluated" (p. 9)
- Team members being kept "from learning and growing" by "perfectionism and fear" (p. 9)

Other elements of toxic school cultures and climate are described as one without direction, negative relationships, a decrease in communication, rule-oriented, a lack of honesty and collaboration, and even unsafe (Epitropoulos, 2019). In their study, Mousena and Raptis (2021) investigated the school community as part of the solution to the negative impact outside forces can do to today's school environment. According to Mousena and Raptis (2021), "it is a fact that conditions in education are becoming increasingly difficult, as a result of the broader, rapidly changing, and increasingly complex environment (p. 98). Mousena and Raptis (2021) found effective school leadership and communication could come together to foster the following attributes leading to a positive school climate:

- Covering the biological, emotional, and exploratory needs of participants;
- A surrounding space which is pleasant and provides stimuli for action;
- The ability of neutralizing negative factors;
- Possibilities for verbal, non-verbal, and symbolic communication;

- Teacher-centered leadership;
- Educators' ability to communicate and self-regulate emotions;
- Collaboration between school workforce and external agents. (p. 108)

Cultivating a positive school climate is not just a concept for leaders to consider for educators but for students, as well (Pennsylvania State University & Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2018). Research conducted in the Pittsburgh public school system yielded a significant decrease in suspension in comparison with other schools, even more so at the elementary grade-level buildings, after implementation of "a restorative practices program oriented around effective communication, conveying understanding of responsibility, and separating the 'deed' from the 'doer'" (as cited in Rebora, 2019, paras. 3–4). According to Sawchuk (2020), the stresses of pressing social and political issues, as well as the COVID-19 pandemic, including pushing a lot of learning to virtual platforms has made the need for a positive school climate even greater than before.

Summary

In Chapter Two, literature related to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school culture were reviewed and summarized. In Chapter Three, the methodology of the study is explained. The explanation includes information about the problem statement and an overview of the purpose, as well as the research questions, hypotheses, research design, population and sample, instrumentation, data collection and analysis, and ethical consideration.

Chapter Three: Methodology

Included in this chapter are the problem and purpose overview, research questions, hypotheses, research design, population and sample information, and instrumentation. Data collection and analysis descriptions, as well as ethical considerations, are described. Methods used to study the relationships among the research variables will be discussed. The variables of status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, fairness, overall psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate were examined in the quantitative study.

Problem and Purpose Overview

A connection between collective efficacy and student learning is seen in previous research (Berg, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018; Hattie as cited in Waack, 2018). The knowledge of this connection is not enough to create and sustain change (Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Parrett & Budge, 2020). School leaders have an impact on the culture and climate of faculty members; therefore, bringing a focus to specific leadership behaviors designed to possibly develop increased collective efficacy of faculty members can possibly, in turn, positively impact student learning (Donohoo & Katz, 2019, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018; Jenkins et al., 2018; Parrett & Budge, 2020). The purpose of this study is to investigate the relationships among psychological safety, school climate, and collaborative capacity among middle-level educators to discover the specific leadership behaviors to increase collective efficacy and student learning

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The following research questions and hypotheses guided this study:

1. What is the relationship between each element of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools?

*H1*₀: There is no relationship between each element of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

H1^a: There is a relationship between each element of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

2. What is the relationship between each element of psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools?

 $H2_0$: There is no relationship between each element of psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

 $H2_a$: There is a relationship between each element of psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

3. What is the relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools?

*H3*₀: There is no relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative

capacity in middle-level schools.

 $H3_a$: There is a relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

4. What is the relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools?

 $H4_0$: There is no relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

 $H4_a$: There is a relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools.

5. What is the relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate in middle-level schools?

*H5*₀: There is no relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate in middle-level schools.

 $H5_a$: There is a relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate in middle-level schools.

Research Design

A quantitative research design was selected for this study to explore the relationship among the research variables. A two-part faculty survey was developed to gain the information needed to quantify these relationships. Part One included demographical questions. Part Two included items related to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate.

A case study was used to gain the information needed to investigate possible relationships among the research variables. Two middle-level school buildings were purposely selected in a school district located in Southwest Missouri. Approval was granted by the superintendent of the school district. The survey was distributed electronically to certified faculty members of both middle-level schools via email, and data were collected, organized, and analyzed from completed surveys. Relationships between research variables were analyzed using the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient, with the value of r indicating the relationship.

Population and Sample

A population for the purposes of research is described as a group of individuals in which research findings can be applied, and the sample is a subset of the group (Siegle, 2019). The population chosen for this study included certified faculty members at two school buildings containing fifth through eighth grades within a school district in Southwest Missouri. According to the Missouri Department of Secondary and Elementary Education (MODESE) Missouri School Directory (2020), the district housed over 4,600 students with approximately 370 certified faculty members at the time of this study.

Fifth through eighth grades within this district are housed in two different buildings. The fifth and sixth grade building housed over 50 certified faculty members and approximately 735 students (MODESE, 2020). The seventh and eighth grade building included over 50 certified faculty members and approximately 725 students (MODESE, 2020).

The survey was distributed to the entire population of certified faculty members in both middle-level school buildings. Bluman (2018) stated, "according to the central limit theorem, approximately 95% of the sample means fall within 1.96 standard deviations of the population mean if the sample size is 30 or more" (p. 374). A sample size of at least 30 is supported by the ideas within the Central Limit Theorem (Diez et al., 2020).

Instrumentation

The survey used for this study was created by the researcher (see Appendix A) based on the review of literature. The survey began with an identifying question to determine if the research participants were certified faculty members of the middle-level

schools chosen for the case study, followed by demographical questions. The next section included Likert scale items to determine possible relationships among the research variables. Psychological safety items were based on the works of Edmondson (2003) and Rock (2009). Collaborative capacity items were derived from the works of DeWitt et al. (2013, 2014). School climate items were based on the works of DeWitt (2017), Whitaker and Gruenert (2015, 2017), and the National School Climate Center (2007).

The survey consisted of a five-point Likert scale, with one representing "Strongly Disagree," two representing "Disagree," three representing "Somewhat Agree," four representing "Agree," a five representing "Strongly Disagree." Items 10, 12, 21, 22, 24, and 32 measured perceptions of status. Items 5 and 16 measured perceptions of certainty. Items 14 and 26 measured perceptions of autonomy. Items 7, 19, 25, and 28 measured perceptions of relatedness, and items 29 and 30 measured perceptions of fairness, all measuring the perceptions of total psychological safety. Items 9, 11, 15, 18, 20, 23, 27, and 31 measured perceptions of collaborative capacity, and items 6, 8, 13, 17, and 33 measured perceptions of school climate.

Table 1

Survey Subgroups

Survey Questions and Variables Measured	Relevant Items
Demographics	Questions 1,2,3,4
Status	Items 10,12,21,22,24
Certainty	Items 5,16
Autonomy	Items 14,26
Relatedness	Items 7,19,25,28
Fairness	Items 29,30
Overall Psychological Safety	Items Above
Collaborative Capacity	Items 9,11,15,18,20,23,27,31
School Climate	Items 6,8,13,17,33

In order to assess survey validity, a pilot group was selected to complete the survey, including instructional coaches, counselors, a teacher leadership team, and administrators (Li, 2016). Feedback given by this small group of certified educators, including clarity and length of time to complete the survey was considered before the survey was finalized.

Validity

The survey was completed based on human perception of each item. Human perception can alter for a number of reasons, including outside factors possibly altering one's well-being possibly during the time frame in which the survey is completed (Ramanathan, 2018). According to Rock (2013), one's brain health can be affected unless the presence of a "mental health diet" exists (p. 128). This is referred to as a healthy mind platter, which includes "the neuro-cognitive benefits of seven key activities: sleep time, playtime, time-in, downtime, connecting time, physical time, and focus time" (Rock, 2013, p. 130). Without a balance of these variables, a person's responses could be affected. These threats to a study's validity, as referred to by Campbell and Stanley (1963), include the concepts of "maturation" and "history" (p. 5), described as affecting the validity of pretest/posttest research, but could apply to single survey research, as well. According to the authors, "history" refers to "specific events" occurring in a research subject's life, possibly altering responses and "maturation" to functional concepts possibly altering responses, such as hunger and fatigue (1963, p. 5).

Data Collection

After obtaining IRB approval from Lindenwood University in May, 2021, the superintendent of the selected school buildings was contacted to obtain consent for

participation in the research study (see Appendix B). Following superintendent approval, email addresses of potential participants were obtained through school district websites or from school district personnel. The letter of participation (see Appendix C) and consent form (see Appendix D) were distributed to faculty members via email using Lindenwood University's *Qualtrics* account, including a link to the survey (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The *Qualtrics* software program was used to distribute the survey and collect participant responses.

Data Analysis

Once collected by the *Qualtrics* software program, the data were analyzed for the purpose of understanding the results and then investigating the relationships among the research variables (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019; Walker, 2017). Descriptive statistics provide a summary of the data "by describing what the data looks like" (Oh & Pyrczak, 2018, p. 49). The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was used in this quantitative study to identify the correlation coefficient from the data collected on the selected research variables. The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was selected to give the researcher a proven, common data analysis method to study the relationship between the quantified research variables (Fraenkel et al., 2019; Walker, 2017). The alpha level is set at .05, meaning there is at least a 95% chance the results are valid and not due to chance (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Ethical Considerations

Participants in research studies "are entitled for four types of rights, to be secured by the researcher: (a) right to maintain privacy (b) guaranteed anonymity (c) guaranteed confidentially and (d) avoiding harm, betrayal or deception" (Govil, 2013, p. 18). The following steps were taken to ensure the protection of research participants:

- 1. The use of safeguards will be used to protect the anonymity and confidentiality of research participants.
- 2. Housing all data and documentation regarding the study on a password protected device.
- 3. Reporting all data in sub-groups rather than individual responses.
- 4. The use of Lindenwood's *Qualtrics* account to gather all responses to ensure anonymity. Furthermore, responses will be destroyed three years after the research and dissertation are complete. Research participants will receive a link to the survey within the consent form.

The researcher was not a supervisor of any research participants, and a conflict of interest between the researcher and research participants was not expected.

Summary

Details regarding the methodology of the research study were presented in Chapter Three. The problem and purpose of the research study were reviewed, and the research questions were presented. The research design, population and sample, and instrumentation were described. Also explained were the processes for data collection and data analysis. Ethical considerations were offered. Chapter Four includes an analysis of the data.

Chapter Four: Analysis of Data

An introduction to the study was presented in Chapter One. Relevant literature was presented and discussed in Chapter Two. Chapter Three included a description of the methodology, leading to the analysis included in the current chapter.

Previous research shows a correlation between student learning and collective efficacy in schools (Berg, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018; Hattie as cited in Waack, 2018). Specific leadership behaviors designed to possibly increase the collective efficacy of faculty members can facilitate a positive culture and climate in the school environment, as well as an increase in student learning, bringing needed action to the knowledge of previous research (Donohoo & Katz, 2019, 2020; Donohoo et al., 2018; Jenkins et al., 2018; Parrett & Budge, 2020).

There is a lack of previous research showing specific connections between the research variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate, which independently have been connected to collective efficacy and student learning (Bandura, 2000, 2012; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2018; Parrett & Budge, 2020). The purpose of this study is to investigate the relationships among psychological safety, school climate, and collaborative capacity among middle-level educators in order to discover specific leadership behaviors that could increase collective efficacy and student learning.

A quantitative research design was used for this study to investigate possible relationships among the research variables (Creswell, 2018; Ponce et al., 2020). A threepart faculty survey was developed by the researcher to gain the information needed to quantify these relationships. The first section of the survey included demographical information. The second section included statements related to overall psychological safety, as well as the individual components of psychological safety, including status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness, followed by statements regarding collaborative capacity and school climate. A case study was used to gain the information needed to investigate possible relationships between the research variables (Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Chapter Four includes an overall summary of the data discovered, including an analysis of the connections discovered between the research variables and data to support each research question. Scatterplots and box-and-whisker charts are also included to provide a visual representation of the survey data (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Survey Instrument Design

A 33-item survey was developed and administered via *Qualtrics* and distributed by Lindenwood University to certified faculty members employed by a middle school and junior high school containing fifth through eighth grade students. The survey included two sections. The first section contained questions regarding demographic information. The second section was designed to gather specific data pertaining to the research variables and included statements pertaining to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate. Each statement included in the second section gathered Likert-type answers to help answer the research questions.

The first four questions were designed to obtain demographic information used to identify certified faculty members, grade level and content areas taught, and years of experience in education as well as in the current teaching assignment. A required question to begin the survey was used to identify certified faculty. Those who answered "no" to this identifying question were excluded from answering the rest of the survey questions and items. Question one in the first section was used to identify which survey participants are faculty members working with fifth, sixth, seventh, or eighth grades, as well as the possibility of identifying participants who work with multiple middle-level grades. This question helped identify faculty members from the same school building, as well as those who possibly work in both school buildings. Question two was used to identify the content area taught or position in the school. This question identified participants teaching core content areas, elective courses, as well as certified faculty members in specialty positions, such as school counselors (Sawchuk, 2020). Questions three and four were used to determine the years of experience in education as a whole, as well as the years of experience in the current position held during the time of the survey (Jacobs, 2018).

Survey items five through 33 contained Likert-scale statements developed by the researcher. Psychological safety items were based on the works of Edmondson (2003) and Rock (2009). Collaborative capacity items were derived from the works of DeWitt et al. (2013, 2014). School climate items were based on the works of DeWitt (2017), Whitaker and Gruenert (2015, 2017), and the National School Climate Center (2007).

Survey items related to psychological safety were designed to gather data relating to possible correlations among the research variables of overall psychological safety, as well as the individual psychological safety components of status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness (Edmondson, 2003; Rock, 2009).

Collaborative capacity survey items were designed to gather information regarding faculty member's perspectives on sharing opportunities, working together to meet student needs, and team functionality (DeWitt et al., 2013, 2014).

Items regarding school climate were designed to gather information regarding the associated concepts of the existence of a shared purpose and goals, feelings toward the work environment, and perceptions of character values held among faculty members (DeWitt, 2017; National School Climate Center, 2007; Whitaker and Gruenert 2015, 2017).

Collection of Data

Once survey items were created and field-tested, the researcher obtained permission to conduct research at a specific school district in southwest Missouri in two school buildings housing fifth through eighth grades. Once permission was granted, a letter of participation and survey consent form were emailed to certified faculty members at each building.

A minimum sample size of 30 teachers for the purpose of this study was necessary to meet a confidence interval of 95%. According to Bluman (2018), "approximately 95% of the sample means fall within 1.96 standard deviations of the population mean if the sample size is 30 or more, or if σ is known when *n* is less than 30 and the population is normally distributed" (p. 374). A case study was conducted among two school buildings housing grades fifth through eighth in a southwest Missouri school district. The fifth and sixth-grade building housed over 50 certified faculty members and approximately 735 fifth and sixth-grade students (MODESE, 2020). The seventh and eighth-grade building included over 50 certified faculty members and approximately 725
students (MODESE, 2020). Thirty surveys were collected out of the approximate 100 certified faculty members, therefore indicating a response rate of 30%.

Survey Data

The survey data were analyzed from both sections of the survey to address the research questions. A numerical value was given to each Likert scale answer: 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = somewhat agree, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree (Fraenkel et al., 2019). A composite score was calculated for each variable for each participant, as well as for each survey item by calculating the sum score of the Likert scale responses (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Scores were inverted for survey items stated in the negative (Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used for the purpose of understanding the results and investigating relationships among the research variables (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019; Walker, 2017). Descriptive statistics provide a summary of the data "by describing what the data looks like" (Oh & Pyrczak, 2018, p. 49).

To quantify the participants' answers to each Likert scale item, a total score was calculated for each variable for each certified faculty member (Fraenkel et al., 2019). (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The sum of items 10, 12, 21, 22, 24, and 32 was calculated to present a total score for status. Items 5 and 16 were calculated to represent certainty. Items 14 and 26 were calculated to represent autonomy. Items 7, 19, 25, and 28 were added together to create a score for relatedness. Items 29 and 30 were added to create a score for fairness. A grand total of the items for each of the previous concepts was added together for a score representing overall psychological safety. Items 9, 11, 15, 18, 20, 23,

27, and 31 were calculated to generate a score for collaborative capacity. Finally, items 6,8, 13, 17, 33 were calculated for a score representing school climate.

Possible patterns existing between the research variables were investigated by organizing and analyzing the survey scores, including the average of the mean, the average of the median, the mode, and standard deviation (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). An interquartile range was calculated to measure the variability of the data (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). Data were put into four equal groups, or quartiles, then the range was calculated by finding the difference between the third and first quartiles, providing the interquartile range, or IQR (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). Data outliers were also determined by examining scores extremely higher or lower than the rest of the score values, possibly skewing the mean and standard deviation of a particular research variable or data set (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

A boxplot was created as a visual representation of the data. Five values represented as averages are included in the boxplot, including the lowest score of the data set, or the minimum, quartile 1, the median of the data set, quartile three, and the highest data score, or the maximum, creating a five-number summary (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). A boxplot was created to represent each subgroup in the research, providing information regarding the data of each subgroup and how it compares to the data of other subgroups included in the research. The use of a boxplot to provide a graphical representation of data has remained "relevant due to its simplicity, ease of interpretation, and relative effectiveness" (Walker et al., 2018, p. 352).

Inferential statistics were used to determine the relationships among the research variables. The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was used to identify the correlation coefficient from the data collected on the selected research variables. The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was selected to give the researcher a proven, common data analysis method to study the relationship between the quantified research variables (Fraenkel et al., 2019; Walker, 2017).

Descriptive Statistics

The first four questions on the survey gathered information regarding the demographic data of the research participants. The data were organized based on categories of answers given for each question, as well as responses given for each demographic setting. First, data were organized based on the grade level in which each participant works as follows: values, percentage of sample, five-number summary, measures of central tendency, and standard deviation. Fifth through eighth grade faculty member values were depicted. The percentages of the sample were as follows: 13% of faculty members completing the survey worked with fifth grade, 13% worked with sixth grade, 20% worked with seventh grade, 7% worked with eighth grades, 20% worked with both seventh and eighth grades, and 3% worked in both middle-level school buildings with part of all grades depicted.

Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 2). Quartiles representing the concept of status for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.33, Quartile 2 = 3.83, Quartile 3 = 4.21, and Quartile 4 = 4.33. The minimum was 2.83, and the maximum was 4.33. Quartiles representing the concept of status for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.79, Quartile 2 = 4.08, Quartile 3 =4.50, and Quartile 4 = 5.00. The minimum was 3.67, and the maximum was 5.00.

Quartiles representing the concept of status for seventh grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.04, Quartile 2 = 3.67, Quartile 3 = 4.17, and Quartile 4 =4.50. The minimum was 2.83, and the maximum was 4.50. Quartiles representing the concept of status for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 =3.21, Quartile 2 = 3.42, Quartile 3 = 3.63, and Quartile 4 = 3.83. The minimum was 3.00, and the maximum was 3.83. Quartiles representing the concept of status for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.92, Quartile 2 = 3.83, Quartile 3 = 4.00, and Quartile 4 = 4.33. The minimum was 2.50, and the maximum was 4.33. Quartiles representing the concept of status for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.42, Quartile 2 = 3.67, Quartile 3 = 3.67, and Quartile 4 = 5.00. The minimum was 3.00, and the maximum was 5.00. Finally, quartiles representing the concept of status for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.50, Quartile 2 = 3.50, Quartile 3 = 3.50, and Quartile 4 = 3.50. The minimum was 3.50, and the maximum was 3.50.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	Middle	Jr.	MS/JH	Total
	Grade	Grade	Grade	Grade	School	High	Mixed	
Percentage								
Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	2.83	3.67	2.83	3.00	2.50	3.00	3.50	2.50
Quartile 1	3.33	3.79	3.04	3.21	2.92	3.42	3.50	3.21
Quartile 2	3 83	4.08	3 67	3 12	3 83	3 67	3 50	3 67
Quartife 2	5.85	4.00	5.07	5.42	5.05	5.07	5.50	5.07
Quartile 3	4.21	4.50	4.17	3.63	4.00	3.67	3.50	4.17
Maximum	4.33	5.00	4.50	3.83	4.33	5.00	3.50	5.00
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
M	3.75	4.21	3.64	3.42	3.53	3.67	3.50	3.69
MD	3.83	4.08	3.67	3.42	3.83	3.67	3.50	3.67
Mode	NI A	NIA	25.00	NIA	24.00	21.00	ΝIΛ	21.00
widde	INA	INA	23.00	INA	24.00	21.00	INA	21.00
SD	4.11	3.59	4.31	3.54	4.58	3.83	NA	3.89

Status for Grade-Level Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 1). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.

Status for Grade-Level Taught



Next, data related to status were organized and calculated per content taught or worked within. The percentages were as follows: 43% taught core content subjects, 17% taught elective subjects, 33% taught special education, and 7% worked as school counselors.

Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 3). Quartiles representing the concept of status for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.17, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.83, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of status for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of status for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.38, Quartile 2 = 3.62, Quartile 3 = 3.96, and Quartile 4 = 4.33. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.33. Quartiles representing the concept of status for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.08, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 3.92, and Quartile 4 = 4.33. The minimum was 2.67, and the maximum was 4.33.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode, were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

5141113 JOT COMETII I 411gm	Status f	or C	Content	Taug	zht
-----------------------------	----------	------	---------	------	-----

Values	Core	Elective	Special	School	Total
	Subjects	Subjects	Education	Counseling	
Percentage of	43	17	33	7	100
Sample					
Five-Number					
Summary					
Minimum	2.83	3.50	2.50	2.67	2.50
Quartile 1	3.00	3.50	3.38	3.08	3.21
Quartile 2	3.75	3.50	3.62	3.75	3.67
Quartile 3	4.17	4.00	3.96	3.92	4.17
Maximum	5.00	5.00	4.33	4.33	5.00
Measures of					
Central Tendency					
M	3.69	3.90	3.62	3.50	3.69
MD	3.75	3.50	3.62	3.75	3.67
Mode	17.00	21.00	23.00	NA	21.00
SD	4.24	3.91	3.33	7.07	3.89

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 2). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data (Bluman, 2018).





Next, data related to status were organized and calculated based on the total number of years in which each survey participant has worked in education. Values were depicted as follows: one through five years, six through 10 years, 11 through 15 years, 16 through 20 years, 21 through 25 years, 26 through 30 years, and 30 plus years. The percentages of the sample for total years in education were as follows: 17% had worked in education for one to five years; 33% of participants had worked in education for six to 10 years, 27% for 11 to 15 years, 7% 16 to 20 years, 7% for 21 to 25 years, 3% 26 to 30 years, and 7% for 30 plus years.

Additionally, data were organized in a five-number summary for total years in education (see Table 4). Status quartiles for one through five years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.33, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Status quartiles for participants working in

education for six through 10 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.88, Quartile 2 = 3.58, Quartile 3 = 3.79, and Quartile 4 = 4.33. The minimum was 2.67, and the maximum was 4.33. Status quartiles for 11 through 15 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.42, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.21, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Status quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.92, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.08, and Quartile 4 = 4.17. The minimum was 3.83, and the maximum was 4.17. Status quartiles for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.75, Quartile 2 = 3, Quartile 3 = 3.25, and Quartile 4 = 3.25. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 3.25. Status quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 =3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 3.5. Status quartiles for participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.96, Quartile 2 = 4.08, Quartile 3 = 4.21, and Quartile 4 = 4.33. The minimum was 3.83, and the maximum was 4.33. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Of Sample								
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	3.00	2.67	3.00	3.83	2.50	3.50	3.83	2.50
0 (1 1	2.22	2 00	2.40	2.02	0.75	2.50	2.06	2.01
Quartile I	3.33	2.88	3.42	3.92	2.75	3.50	3.96	3.21
Quartile 2	4.00	3 58	3 75	4.00	3.00	3 50	4.08	3 67
Quartine 2	4.00	5.50	5.75	4.00	5.00	5.50	4.00	5.07
Ouartile 3	4.50	3.79	4.21	4.08	3.25	3.50	4.21	4.17
C								
Maximum	5.00	4.33	5.00	4.17	3.25	3.50	4.33	5.00
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
M	3.97	3.45	3.83	4.00	3.00	3.50	4.08	3.69
MD	4.00	2 50	2 75	4.00	2.00	2 50	1 09	267
MD	4.00	5.38	5.75	4.00	5.00	5.50	4.08	5.07
Mode	NA	17.00	21.00	NA	NA	21.00	NA	21.00
112000		1,100	21.00			21.00		21.00
SD	4.92	3.53	4.00	1.41	4.24	NA	2.12	3.89

Status for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 3) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.

Status for Total Years in Education



Next, data were organized and calculated based on numbers of years in current position. Values were depicted as follows: one to five years in current position, six to 10 years in current position, 11 to 15 years in current position, 16 to 20 years in current position, 21 to 25 years in current position, 26 to 30 years in current position, and 30 plus years in current position. The percentages of the sample for number of years in the current position were as follows: 33% of participants had been in the current position for one to five years, 40% for six to 10 years, 13% for 11 to 15 years, 7% for 16 to 20 years.

Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 5). Status quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.08, Quartile 2 =

3.83, Quartile 3 = 4.46 and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.83 and the maximum was 5. Status quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.08, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.04, and Quartile 4 = 4.33. The minimum was 2.67 and the maximum was 4.33. Status quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.13, Quartile 2 =3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.92, and Quartile 4 = 4.17. The minimum was 3 and the maximum was 4.17. Status quartiles for participants in the current position for 16 to 20 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.67, Quartile 2 = 3.83, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.17. The minimum was 3.5 and the maximum was 4.17. Status quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.75, Quartile 2 = 3, Quartile 3 = 3.25, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 2.5 and the maximum was 3.5. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	33	40	13	7	7	0	0	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	2.83	2.67	3.00	3.50	2.50	NA	NA	2.50
Quartile 1	3.08	3.08	3.13	3.67	2.75	NA	NA	3.21
Quartile 2	3.83	3.75	3.50	3.83	3.00	NA	NA	3.67
Quartile 3	4.46	4.04	3.92	4.00	3.25	NA	NA	4.17
Maximum	5.00	4.33	4.17	4.17	3.50	NA	NA	5.00
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	3.87	3.68	3.54	3.83	18.00	NA	NA	3.69
MD	3.83	3.75	3.50	3.83	18.00	NA	NA	3.67
Mode	30.00	21.00	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	21.00
SD	4.94	3.17	3.30	2.83	4.24	NA	NA	3.89

Status for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 3) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position; 16 to 20 years in the current position; 21-25 years in the current position; 26-30 years in the current position; and 30 plus years in the current position.





Next, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 6). Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.88, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.63, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for seventh grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4. The

minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Finally, totals for the concept of certainty for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3, Quartile 4 = 3. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 3.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Fifth Grade	Sixth Grade	Seventh Grade	Eighth Grade	Middle School	Jr. High	MS/JH Mixed	Total
Percentage						<u> </u>		
Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number								
Minimum	3.00	3.50	3.00	4.00	3.00	3.50	3.00	3.00
Quartile 1	3.00	3.88	3.25	4.00	3.63	3.50	3.00	3.50
Quartile 2	3.50	4.25	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.00	4.00
Quartile 3	4.25	4.63	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.25	3.00	4.00
Maximum	5.00	5.00	4.00	4.00	4.50	4.50	3.00	5.00
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	3.75	4.25	3.67	4.00	3.84	3.93	3.00	3.85
MD	3.50	4.25	4.00	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.00	4.00
Mode	6.00	NA	8.00	8.00	8.00	7.00	6.00	8.00
SD	1.91	1.29	1.03	0.00	1.03	.90	NA	1.15

Certainty for Grade Level Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 5). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.

Certainty for Grade Level Taught



Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 7). Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of certainty for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 4 3.50, Quartile 3 = 3.75, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Certainty for	Content Taught

Values	Core	Elective	Special	School	Total
	Subjects	Subjects	Education	Counseling	
Percentage of	43	17	33	7	100
Sample					
Five-Number					
Summary					
Minimum	3.00	3.00	3.50	3.00	3.00
Quartile 1	3.00	3.50	3.63	3.25	3.50
Quartile 2	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.50	4.00
Quartile 3	4.00	4.50	4.00	3.25	4.00
Maximum	5.00	4.50	5.00	4.00	5.00
Measures of					
Central Tendency					
M	3.77	3.90	8.00	3.50	3.85
MD	4.00	4.00	8.00	3.50	4.00
Mode	8.00	9.00	8.00	NA	8.00
SD	1.27	1.30	.94	1.41	1.15

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 6). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.





Additionally, data were organized in a five-number summary for total years in education (see Table 8). Certainty quartiles for one through five years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.5 and the maximum was 4.5. Certainty quartiles for participants working in education for six through 10 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.25, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Certainty quartiles for 11 through 15 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Certainty quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4. Certainty quartiles for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.50, Quartile 2 = 3.50, Quartile 3 = 3.50, and

Quartile 4 = 3.50. The minimum was 3.50, and the maximum was 3.50. Certainty quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.50, Quartile 2 = 4.50, Quartile 3 = 4.50, and Quartile 4 = 4.50. The minimum was 4.50, and the maximum was 4.50. Certainty quartiles for participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Of Sample								
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	3.50	3.00	3.00	4.00	3.50	4.50	4.00	3.00
Quartile 1	3.50	3.00	4.00	4.00	3.50	4.50	4.00	3.50
Quartile 2	4.00	3.25	4.00	4.00	3.50	4.50	4.00	4.00
Quartile 3	4.00	4.00	4.50	4.00	3.50	4.50	4.00	8400
Maximum	4.50	5.00	5.00	4.00	3.50	4.50	4.00	5.00
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
М	3.90	3.55	4.13	4.00	3.50	4.50	4.00	3.85
MD	4.00	3.25	4.00	4.00	3.50	4.50	4.00	4.00
Mode	7.00	6.00	8.00	8.00	7.00	9.00	8.00	8.00
SD	.84	1.37	1.16	0.00	0.00	NA	NA	1.15

Certainty for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 7) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.

Certainty for Total Years in Education



Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 9). Certainty quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Certainty quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Certainty quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 5. Certainty quartiles for participants in the current position for 16 to 20 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 3.25, Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3.5, and the

maximum was 4. Certainty quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.5. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.

Table 9

Values	1.5	6 10	11 15	16.20	21.25	26.20	201	Total
values	I-J Voore	U-10 Voors	Voors	10-20 Vears	ZI-ZJ Voors	Z0-30 Vears	JU+ Voors	Total
Dorcontego	22	40	12	7	7			100
Of Somple	55	40	15	1	1	0	0	100
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	3.00	3.00	4.00	3.50	3.50	NA	NA	3.00
Quartile 1	3.50	3.00	4.00	3.63	3.75	NA	NA	3.50
Ouartile 2	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.25	4.00	NA	NA	4.00
Ouartile 3	4.00	4.00	4.25	3.88	4.25	NA	NA	4.00
X and the c				0.00				
Maximum	4 50	5.00	5.00	4.00	4 50	NΔ	NΔ	5.00
Waximum	т.50	5.00	5.00	 00	 50	1111	1111	5.00
Massures of								
Control								
Tendency	0.70	2 70	4.05	0.75	4.00	00.00	00.00	2.05
M	3.78	3.79	4.25	3.75	4.00	00.00	00.00	3.85
MD	4.00	4.00	4.00	3.75	4.00	00.00	00.00	4.00
Mode	7.00	8.00	8.00	NA	NA	00.00	00.00	8.00
SD	1.08	1.31	1.00	.71	1.41	00.00	00.00	1.15

Certainty for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 8) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position; 16 to 20 years in the current position; 21-25 years in the current position; 26-30 years in the current position; and 30 plus years in the current position.

Figure 8





Next, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 10). Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for sixth grade faculty participants were

calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.88, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for seventh grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.75, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.25, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 5. Finally, totals for the concept of autonomy for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (M), the average median (MD), mode, and standard deviation (SD) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al.,

2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Table 10

Autonomy for Grade Level Taught

Values	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	All	All	MS/JH	Total
	Grade	Grade	Grade	Grade	Middle	JH	Mixed	
Percentage								
Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	4.00	3.50	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.50	4.00	3.00
	4.00	a aa	0.50		0.50		4.00	4.00
Quartile I	4.00	3.88	3.63	3.25	3.63	4.25	4.00	4.00
Quartila 2	4 50	1 25	1 25	2 50	1 25	4 50	4.00	1 25
Quartile 2	4.30	4.23	4.23	5.50	4.23	4.30	4.00	4.23
Quartile 3	5.00	4 50	4 50	3 75	4 50	5.00	4 00	4 50
Quartité 5	5.00	1.50	1.50	5.15	1.50	5.00	1.00	1.50
Maximum	5.00	4.50	5.00	4.00	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
Μ	4.50	4.13	4.09	3.50	4.09	4.50	4.00	4.20
							4.00	
MD	4.50	4.25	4.25	3.50	4.50	4.50	4.00	4.25
Mode	10.00	0.00	0.00	NI A	0.00	10.00	<u> </u>	0.00
Mode	10.00	9.00	9.00	INA	9.00	10.00	0.00	9.00
SD	1.15	.96	1.48	1.41	1.47	1.15	NA	1.28

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 9). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both

seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.

Figure 9





Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 11). Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.88, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of autonomy for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.5, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4.5, and the maximum was 4.5.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Core Subjects	Elective	Special	School
Percentage of Sample	43	17	33	7
Five-Number Summary				
Minimum	3.00	3.50	3.00	4.50
Quartile 1	4.00	4.00	3.63	4.50
Quartile 2	4.00	4.50	4.00	4.50
Quartile 3	4.50	5.00	4.88	4.50
Maximum	5.00	5.00	5.00	4.50
Measures of Central Tendency				
M	4.12	4.40	4.15	4.50
MD	4.00	4.50	4.00	4.50
Mode	8.00	10.00	8.00	9.00
SD	1.30	1.30	1.42	0.00

Autonomy for Content in Which Participants Work

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 10). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.





Additionally, data were organized in a five-number summary for total years in education (see Table 12). Autonomy quartiles for one through five years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Autonomy quartiles for participants working in education for six through 10 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Autonomy quartiles for 11 through 15 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Autonomy quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.5, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 4.5 and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4.5. Autonomy quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.5, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 4.5 and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4.5. Autonomy quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.5, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 4.5 and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4.5. Autonomy quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.5, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 4.5 and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Autonomy quartiles

for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.13, Quartile 2 = 4.24, Quartile 3 = 4.38, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4.5. Autonomy quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 5, Quartile 2 = 5, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 5, and the maximum was 5. Autonomy quartiles for participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.13, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.38, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4.5. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years	Years	Years	Years	Years	Years	Years	
Percentage	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Of Sample								
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	3.00	3.00	3.00	4.50	4.00	5.00	4.00	3.00
Quartile 1	4.00	3.63	3.50	4.50	4.13	5.00	4.13	4.00
		4.00	4.00		4.0.5	- 00	4.0.5	
Quartile 2	4.50	4.00	4.00	4.50	4.25	5.00	4.25	4.25
Overtile 2	5 00	4.50	5 00	1 50	1 20	5 00	1 20	4.50
Quartile 5	5.00	4.50	5.00	4.50	4.38	5.00	4.38	4.50
Maximum	5.00	4 50	5.00	4 50	4 50	5.00	4 50	5.00
wiaximum	5.00	 .50	5.00	т.50	т.50	5.00	т.50	5.00
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
M	4.30	4.05	4.13	4.50	4.25	5.00	4.25	4.20
MD	4.50	4.00	4.00	4.50	4.25	5.00	4.25	4.25
Mode	10.00	8.00	10.00	9.00	NA	10.00	NA	9.00
SD	1.67	1.20	1.58	0.00	.71	NA	.71	1.28

Autonomy for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 11) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.

Autonomy for Total Years in Education



Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 13). Autonomy quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 5. Autonomy quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 5. Autonomy quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.38, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. Autonomy quartiles for participants in the current position for 16 to 20 years were as

follows: Quartile 1 = 4.5, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Autonomy quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 4.5, Quartile 2 = 4.5, Quartile 3 = 4.75, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 5. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.
Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	33	40	13	7	7	0	0	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	3.00	3.50	3.00	4.50	4.00	NA	NA	3.00
Quartile 1	3.63	4.00	3.38	4.50	4.50	NA	NA	4.00
Quartile 2	4.25	4.50	3.75	4.50	4.50	NA	NA	4.25
Quartile 3	4.50	5.00	4.00	4.50	4.75	NA	NA	4.50
Maximum	5.00	5.00	4.00	4.50	5.00	NA	NA	5.00
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	4.10	4.38	3.63	4.50	4.50	NA	NA	4.20
MD	4.25	4.50	3.75	4.50	4.50	NA	NA	4.25
Mode	9.00	10.00	8.00	4.50	NA	NA	NA	9.00
SD	1.48	1.14	.96	0.00	1.41	NA	NA	1.28

Autonomy for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 12) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position, 16 to 20 years in the current position, 21-25 years in the current position, 26-30 years in the current position, and 30 plus years in the current position.





Next, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 14). Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.31, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.63, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.75, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.94, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 5. Quartiles as Quartile 1 = 3.94, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 3.75, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for seventh grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.06, Quartile 2 = 3.25, Quartile 3 = 3.44, and Quartile 4 = 3.75. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 3.75. Quartiles representing the concept of

relatedness for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.06, Quartile 2 = 4.13, Quartile 3 = 4.19, and Quartile 4 = 4.25. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4.25. Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.69, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 2.25, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 4.25. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.25. Finally, totals for the concept of relatedness for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 3.5.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample. The average of the arithmetic mean (M), the average median (MD), mode, and standard deviation (SD) were calculated for grade-level demographics. The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set. Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data. The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	All	All	MS/JH	Total
	Grade	Grade	Grade	Grade	Middle	JH	Mixed	
Percentage								
Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	2.75	3.75	2.50	4.00	2.25	3.50	3.50	2.25
Quartile 1	3.31	3.94	3.06	4.06	3.69	3.50	3.50	3.50
Quartile 2	4.00	4.00	3.25	4.13	4.25	3.75	3.50	3.75
Quartile 3	4.63	4.25	3.44	4.19	4.25	3.88	3.50	4.25
Maximum	5.00	5.00	3.75	4.25	4.50	4.25	3.50	5.00
Measures of Central								
M	3.94	4.19	3.21	4.13	3.83	3.75	3.50	3.76
MD	4.00	4.00	3.25	4.13	4.25	3.75	3.50	3.75
Mode	NA	16.00	13.00	NA	17.00	15.00	14.00	14.00
SD	4.03	2.22	1.72	.71	3.39	1.15	NA	2.58

Relatedness for Grade Level Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 13). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.

Relatedness for Grade Level Taught



Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 15). Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 =3.5, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 4.25. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.25. Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.56, Quartile 2 = 3.88, Quartile 3 = 4.44, and Quartile 4 =5. The minimum was 2.25, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of relatedness for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.69, Quartile 2 = 3.88, Quartile 3 = 4.06, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.5.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Core	Elective	Special	School	Total
	Subjects	Subjects	Education	Counseling	
Percentage of Sample	43	17	33	7	100
Five-Number Summary					
Minimum	2.50	3.50	2.25	3.50	2.25
Quartile 1	3.25	3.50	3.56	3.69	3.50
Quartile 2	3.50	3.75	3.88	3.88	3.75
Quartile 3	4.00	4.25	4.44	4.06	4.25
Maximum	5.00	4.25	5.00	4.50	5.00
Measures of Central Tendency					
M	3.60	3.85	3.90	3.88	3.76
MD	3.50	3.75	3.88	3.88	3.75
Mode	16.00	14.00	14.00	NA	14.00
SD	2.69	1.52	3.03	2.12	2.60

Relatedness for Content Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 14). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.





 3.75, and Quartile 4 = 3.75. The minimum was 3.75 and the maximum was 3.75. Relatedness quartiles for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.63, Quartile 2 = 3, Quartile 3 = 3.38, and Quartile 4 = 3.75. The minimum was 2.25, and the maximum was 3.75. Relatedness quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 3.5. Relatedness quartiles for 20 participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.25, Quartile 2 = 4.25, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 4.25. The minimum was 4.25. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	3.00	2.50	3.50	3.75	2.25	3.50	4.25	2.25
Quartile 1	3.50	3.25	3.50	3.75	2.63	3.50	4.25	3.50
Quartile 2	4.00	3.50	4.13	3.75	3.00	3.50	4.25	3.75
Quartile 3	4.50	3.94	4.31	3.75	3.38	3.50	4.25	4.25
Maximum	5.00	4.50	5.00	3.75	3.75	3.50	4.25	5.00
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	3.95	3.50	4.06	3.75	3.00	3.50	4.25	3.76
MD	4.00	3.50	4.13	3.75	3.00	3.50	4.25	3.75
Mode	NA	13.00	14.00	15.00	NA	14.00	17.00	14.00
SD	3.03	2.40	2.19	0.00	4.24	14.00	NA	2.58

Relatedness for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 15) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.

Relatedness for Total Years in Education



Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 17). Relatedness quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.31, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.25, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 5. Relatedness quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.63, Quartile 3 = 4.06, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.75, and the maximum was 5. Relatedness quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.88, Quartile 2 = 4.13, Quartile 3 = 4.31, and Quartile 4 = 4.2. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Relatedness quartiles for participants in the current position

for 16 to 20 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 3.75, and Quartile 4 = 3.75. The minimum was 3.75, and the maximum was 3.75. Relatedness quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.25, Quartile 2 = 2.88, Quartile 3 = 3.19, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 2.25, and the maximum was 3.5. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	33	40	13	7	7	0	0	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	2.50	2.75	3.50	3.75	2.25	NA	NA	2.25
Quartile 1	3.31	3.50	3.88	3.75	2.25	NA	NA	3.50
Quartile 2	4.00	3.63	4.13	3.75	2.88	NA	NA	3.75
Quartile 3	4.25	4.06	4.31	3.75	3.19	NA	NA	4.50
Maximum	5.00	5.00	4.50	3.75	3.5	NA	NA	5.00
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	3.80	3.77	16.25	3.75	2.88	NA	NA	3.76
MD	4.00	3.63	16.50	3.75	2.88	NA	NA	3.75
Mode	17.00	14.00	NA	15.00	NA	NA	NA	14.00
SD	2.94	2.39	1.71	00.00	3.54	NA	NA	2.58

Relatedness for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 16) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position; 16 to 20 years in the current position; 21-25 years in the current position; 26-30 years in the current position; and 30 plus years in the current position.



Relatedness for Number of Years in Current Position

Next, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 18). Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.63, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.13, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for seventh grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 3.5. Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 3.5. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for eighth grade faculty participants.

participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.5, Quartile 2 = 2.5, Quartile 3 = 2.5, and Quartile 4 = 2.5. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 2.5. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.25, Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 4. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Finally, totals for the concept of fairness for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, And Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3.5.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Fifth Grade	Sixth Grade	Seventh Grade	Eighth Grade	All Middle	All JH	MS/JH Mix	Total
Percentage Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	2.50	3.50	3.00	2.50	2.00	3.00	3.50	2.00
Quartile 1	3.25	3.50	3.00	2.50	3.00	3.25	3.50	3.00
Quartile 2	4.00	3.75	3.25	2.50	3.25	3.50	3.50	3.50
Quartile 3	4.63	4.13	3.50	2.50	3.88	4.00	3.50	4.00
Maximum	5.00	4.50	3.50	2.50	4.00	4.50	3.50	5.00
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	3.88	3.88	3.25	2.50	3.25	3.65	3.50	3.47
MD	4.00	3.75	3.25	2.50	3.25	3.50	3.50	3.50
Mode	NA	7.00	6.00	5.00	6.00	6.00	3.50	7.00
SD	2.22	.96	.55	00.00	1.52	1.11	0.00	1.36

Fairness for Grade Level Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 17). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.

Fairness for Grade Level Taught



Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 19). Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.13, Quartile 2 = 3.5 Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 5. Quartiles representing the concept of fairness for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Fairness for Cont	ent Taught
-------------------	------------

Values	Core	Elective	Special	School	Total
	Subjects	Subjects	Education	Counseling	
Percentage of	43	17	33	7	100
Sample					
Five-Number					
Summary					
Minimum	2.50	3.00	2.00	3.00	2.00
Quartile 1	3.00	3.50	3.13	3.25	3.00
Quartile 2	3.50	4.00	3.50	3.50	3.50
Quartile 3	3.50	4.00	3.88	3.75	4.00
Maximum	4.50	4.50	5.00	4.00	5.00
Measures of					
Central Tendency					
M	3.27	3.80	3.55	3.50	3.47
MD	3.50	4.00	3.50	3.50	3.50
Mode	7.00	8.00	7.00	NA	
SD	1.20	1.14	1.66	1.41	1.36

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 18). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.





Additionally, data were organized in a five-number summary for total years in education (see Table 20). Fairness quartiles for one through five years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 73.5 Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Fairness quartiles for participants working in education for six through 10 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4. Fairness quartiles for 11 through 15 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 5. Fairness quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, and the maximum was 5. Fairness quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, And the maximum was 5. Fairness quartiles for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and

Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 3.5. Fairness quartiles for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.5, Quartile 2 = 3, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 4. Fairness quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4. Fairness quartiles for participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.88, Quartile 2 = 3.25, Quartile 3 = 3.63, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Of Sample								
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	3.00	2.50	2.50	3.50	2.00	4.00	2.50	2.00
Quartile 1	3.50	3.00	3.00	3.50	2.50	4.00	2.88	3.00
Quartile 2	3.50	3.25	3.75	3.50	3.00	4.00	3.25	3.50
Quartile 3	3.50	3.50	4.50	3.50	3.50	4.00	3.63	4.00
Maximum	4.50	4.00	5.00	3.50	4.00	4.00	4.00	5.00
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
M	3.60	3.25	3.75	3.50	3.00	4.00	3.25	3.47
MD	3.50	3.25	3.75	3.50	3.00	4.00	3.25	3.50
Mode	7.00	7.00	6.00	7.00	NA	8.00	NA	7.00
SD	1.10	00.85	1.77	00.00	2.83	NA	2.12	1.36

Fairness for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 19) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.

Fairness for Total Years in Education



Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 21). Fairness quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.13, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Fairness quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.63, and Quartile 4 = 5. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 5. Fairness quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.5, Quartile 2 = 2.75, Quartile 3 = 3.38, and Quartile 4 = 4.5 The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Fairness quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.5, Quartile 2 = 2.75, Quartile 3 = 3.38, and Quartile 4 = 4.5 The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Fairness quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.5, Quartile 2 = 2.75, Quartile 3 = 3.38, and Quartile 4 = 4.5 The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.5.

follows: Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4. Fairness quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.5, Quartile 2 = 3, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 4. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage	33	40	13	7	7	0	0	100
Of Sample								
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	3.00	2.50	2.50	3.50	2.00	NA	NA	2.00
Quartile 1	3.13	3.00	2.50	3.63	2.50	NA	NA	3.00
Quartile 2	3.50	3.50	2.75	3.75	3.00	NA	NA	3.50
Quartile 3	3.88	3.63	3.38	3.88	3.50	NA	NA	4.00
Maximum	4.50	5.00	4.50	4.00	4.00	NA	NA	5.00
Measures of Central								
Tendency	2 (0	2.50	2.12	2 75	2.00			0.47
М	3.60	3.50	3.13	3.75	3.00	NA	NA	3.47
MD	3.50	3.50	2.75	3.75	3.00	NA	NA	3.50
Mode	7.00	7.00	5.00	NA	NA	NA	NA	7.00
SD	1.14	1.28	1.83	.71	2.83	NA	NA	1.36

Fairness for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 20) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position, 16 to 20 years in the current position, 21-25 years in the current position, 26-30 years in the current position, and 30 plus years in the current position.



Fairness for Number of Years in Current Position

Next, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 22). Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.39, Quartile 2 = 3.94, Quartile 3 = 4.44, and Quartile 4 = 4.63. The minimum was 3.06, and the maximum was 4.63. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 4.03, Quartile 3 = 4.44, and Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 4.03, Quartile 3 = 4.44, and Quartile 4 = 4.81. The minimum was 3.75, and the maximum was 4.81. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 2 = 3.59, Quartile 3 = 3.95, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.95, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.95, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.14, Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.14, Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.14, Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.14.

3.44, Quartile 2 = 3.56, Quartile 3 = 3.69, and Quartile 4 = 3.81. The minimum was 3.31, and the maximum was 3.81. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.34, Quartile 2 = 3.84, Quartile 3 = 4.16, and Quartile 4 = 4.25. The minimum was 2.69, and the maximum was 4.25. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.72, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.31, and the maximum was 4.5. Finally, totals for overall psychological safety for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 3.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 3.5.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	All	All	MS/JH	Total
	Grade	Grade	Grade	Grade	Middle	JH	Mixed	
Percentage								
Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number								
Minimum	3.06	3.75	3.00	3.31	2.69	3.31	3.50	2.69
Quartile 1	3.39	3.75	3.14	3.44	3.34	3.72	3.50	3.41
Quartile 2	3.94	4.03	3.59	3.56	3.84	3.75	3.50	3.78
Quartile 3	4.44	4.44	3.95	3.69	4.16	3.88	3.50	4.00
Maximum	4.63	4.81	4.00	3.81	4.25	4.50	3.50	4.81
Measures of Central								
Tendency								
Μ	3.89	4.16	3.54	3.56	3.68	3.82	3.50	3.76
MD	3.93	4.03	3.59	3.56	3.84	3.75	3.50	3.78
Mode	NA	60.00	64.00	NA	68.00	60.00	56.00	60.00
SD	11.73	8.19	7.31	5.66	9.95	5.67	NA	8.11

Overall Psychological Safety for Grade-Level Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 21). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.



Overall Psychological Safety for Grade-Level Taught

Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 23). Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.31, Quartile 2 =3.75, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.81. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.81. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.69, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 =4.25, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 3.84, Quartile 3 = 3.88 and Quartile 4 =4.63. The minimum was 2.69, and the maximum was 4.63. Quartiles representing overall psychological safety for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.45, Quartile 2 = 3.72, Quartile 3 = 3.99, and Quartile 4 = 4.81. The minimum was 3.19, and the maximum was 4.25.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Core	Elective	Special	School	Total
	Subjects	Subjects	Education	Counseling	
Percentage of	43	17	33	7	100
Sample					
Five-Number					
Summary					
Minimum	3.00	3.50	2.69	3.19	2.69
Quartile 1	3.31	3.69	3.75	3.45	3.41
Quartile 2	3.75	3.75	3.84	3.72	3.78
Quartile 3	4.00	4.25	3.88	3.99	4.00
Maximum	4.81	4.50	4.63	4.25	4.81
Measures of					
Central Tendency	a				
М	3.68	63.00	60.70	3.72	3.76
MD	3.75	60.00	61.50	3.72	3.78
Mode	49.00	NA	62.00	NA	60
SD	8.53	6.71	8.45	12.02	8.11

Overall Psychological Safety for Content Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 22). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.



Overall Psychological Safety for Content Taught

Additionally, data were organized in a five-number summary for total years in education (see Table 24). Overall psychological safety quartiles for one through five years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 3.88, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.81. The minimum was 3.31, and the maximum was 4.81. Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants working in education for six through 10 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.09, Quartile 2 = 3.63, Quartile 3 = 3.80, and Quartile 4 = 4.31. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.31. Overall psychological safety quartiles for 11 through 15 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.47, Quartile 2 = 3.97, Quartile 3 = 4.41, and Quartile 4 = 4.63. The minimum was 3.31, and the maximum was 4.63. Overall psychological safety quartiles

for 16 through 20 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.91, Quartile 2 = 3.94, Quartile 3 = 3.97, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3.88, and the maximum was 4. Overall psychological safety quartiles for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.95, Quartile 2 = 3.22, Quartile 3 = 3.48, and Quartile 4 = 3.75. The minimum was 2.69, and the maximum was 3.75. Overall psychological safety quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.88, Quartile 2 = 3.88, Quartile 3 = 3.88, and Quartile 4 = 3.88. The minimum was 3.88, and the maximum was 3.88. Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.92, Quartile 2 = 4.03, Quartile 3 = 4.14, and Quartile 4 = 4.25. The minimum was 3.81, and the maximum was 4.25. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	3.31	3.00	3.31	3.88	2.69	3.88	3.81	2.69
Quartile 1	3.75	3.09	3.47	3.91	2.95	3.88	3.92	3.41
Quartile 2	3.88	3.63	3.97	3.94	3.22	3.88	4.03	3.78
Quartile 3	4.00	3.80	4.41	3.97	3.48	3.88	4.14	4.00
Maximum	4.81	4.31	4.63	4.00	3.75	3.88	4.25	4.81
Measures of Central Tendency								
Ň	3.95	3.53	3.95	3.94	3.22	3.88	4.03	3.76
MD	3.88	3.63	3.63	3.94	3.22	3.88	4.03	3.78
Mode	NA	61.00	NA	NA	NA	62.00	NA	60.00
SD	8.76	6.96	8.61	1.41	12.02	NA	4.95	8.12

Overall Psychological Safety for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 23) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.



Overall Psychological Safety for Total Years in Education

Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 25). Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.42, Quartile 2 = 3.81, Quartile 3 = 4.19, and Quartile 4 = 4.81. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.81. Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.78, Quartile 3 = 3.97, and Quartile 4 = 4.63. The minimum was 3.06, and the maximum was 4.63. Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants in the current psychological safety quartile 2 = 3.78, Quartile 3 = 3.97, and Quartile 4 = 4.63. The minimum was 3.06, and the maximum was 4.63. Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.36, Quartile 2 = 3.59, Quartile 3 = 3.95, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 3.31, and the maximum was 4.38. Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants in the current position for 16 to 20 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.81, Quartile 2 = 3.88, Quartile 3 = 3.94, and

Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3.75, and the maximum was 4. Overall psychological safety quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.98, Quartile 2 = 3.28, Quartile 3 = 3.58, and Quartile 4 = 3.88. The minimum was 2.69, and the maximum was 3.88. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.
Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	33	40	13	7	7	0	0	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	3.00	3.06	3.31	3.75	2.69	NA	NA	2.69
Quartile 1	3.42	3.50	3.36	3.81	2.98	NA	NA	3.41
Quartile 2	3.81	3.78	3.59	3.88	3.28	NA	NA	3.78
Quartile 3	4.19	3.97	3.95	3.94	3.58	NA	NA	4.00
Maximum	4.81	4.63	4.38	4.00	3.88	NA	NA	4.81
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	3.83	3.78	59.50	3.88	3.28	NA	NA	3.76
MD	3.81	3.78	57.50	3.88	3.28	NA	NA	3.78
Mode	60.00	61.00	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	60.00
SD	9.51	7.26	7.85	2.83	13.44	NA	NA	8.11

Overall Psychological Safety for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 24) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position; 16 to 20 years in the current position; 21-25 years in the current position; 26-30 years in the current position; and 30 plus years in the current position.



Overall Psychological Safety for Number of Years in Current Position

Next, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 26). Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.94, Quartile 3 = 4.38, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 2.75, and the maximum was 4.38. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.69, Quartile 2 = 4.06, Quartile 3 = 4.5, and Quartile 4 = 4.88. The minimum was 3.5, and the maximum was 4.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for seventh grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.63, and Quartile 4 = 3.88. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 3.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.63, and Quartile 4 = 3.88. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 3.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.63, and Quartile 4 = 3.88. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 3.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative grade faculty participants were calculated as 2.5, and the maximum was 3.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative grade faculty participants were calculated as 2.5, and the maximum was 3.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative grade faculty participants were calculated as 2.5, and the maximum was 3.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative grade faculty participants were calculated as 2.5, and the maximum was 3.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for eighth grade faculty participants

were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.03, Quartile 2 = 3.06, Quartile 3 = 3.09, and Quartile 4 = 3.13. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 3.13. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.88, Quartile 2 = 3.81, Quartile 3 = 4.19, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 4.5. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.63, Quartile 3 = 3.94, and Quartile 4 = 4.63. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.63. Finally, totals for the concept of collaborative capacity for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.75, Quartile 2 = 2.75, Quartile 3 = 2.75, and Quartile 4 = 2.75. The minimum was 2.75, and the maximum was 2.75.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	All	All	MS/JH	Total
	Grade	Grade	Grade	Grade	Middle	JH	Mixed	
Percentage								
Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	2.75	3.50	2.50	3.00	2.00	3.00	2.75	2.00
Quartile 1	3 50	3 69	3.00	3.03	2.88	3 50	2 75	3.03
Quartine 1	5.50	5.07	5.00	5.05	2.00	5.50	2.15	5.05
Quartile 2	3.94	4.06	3.50	3.06	3.81	3.63	2.75	3.63
Quartile 3	4.38	4.50	3.63	3.09	4.19	3.94	2.75	4.00
Maximum	4 38	4 88	3 88	3 13	4 63	4 63	2 75	4 88
Waximum	4.50	4.00	5.00	5.15	4.05	4.05	2.15	4.00
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
M	3.75	4.13	3.31	3.06	3.50	3.73	2.75	3.58
MD	2.04	1.06	2 50	2.06	2.91	2.62	2 75	2.62
MD	5.94	4.00	5.50	5.00	5.81	5.05	2.75	3.03
Mode	NA	NA	29.00	NA	NA	28.00	22.00	29.00
SD	5.72	4.97	4.18	.71	7.88	4.06	NA	5.48

Collaborative Capacity for Grade-Level Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 25). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.





Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 27). Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.75, and Quartile 4 = 4.88. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.88. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.5, Quartile 2 = 3.63, Quartile 3 = 3.63, and Quartile 4 = 4.63. The minimum was 2.75, and the maximum was 4.63. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.56, Quartile 2 = 3.94, Quartile 3 = 4.09, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 4.38. Quartiles representing the concept of collaborative capacity for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.09, Quartile 2 = 3.56, Quartile 3 = 4.03, and Quartile 4 = 4.50. The minimum was 2.63, and the maximum was 4.50.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Core	Elective	Special	School	Total
	Subjects	Subjects	Education	Counseling	
Percentage of	43	17	33	7	100
Sample					
Five-Number					
Summary					
Minimum	2.50	2.75	2.00	2.63	2.00
	2.00	2.50	2.56	2.00	2.02
Quartile I	3.00	3.50	3.56	3.09	3.03
Ouartile 2	3.50	3.63	3.94	3.56	3.63
200000-		0100			0100
Quartile 3	3.75	3.63	4.09	4.03	4.00
	4.00	1.60	4.20	4.50	4.00
Maximum	4.88	4.63	4.38	4.50	4.88
Measures of					
Central Tendency					
M	3.48	3.63	3.69	3.56	3.58
MD	3.50	3.63	3.94	3.56	3.63
Mode	20.00	20.00	22.00	N A	20.00
MOUC	29.00	29.00	52.00		29.00
SD	5.29	5.34	5.71	10.61	5.48

Collaborative Capacity for Content Area Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 26). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.





Additionally, data were organized in a five-number summary for total years in education (see Table 28). Collaborative capacity quartiles for one through five years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.63, Quartile 2 = 3.88, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.88. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.88. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants working in education for six through 10 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.75, Quartile 2 = 3.19, Quartile 3 = 3.72, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.38. Collaborative capacity quartiles for 11 through 15 years in education were calculated as Quartile 3 = 4.19, and Quartile 4 = 4.63. The minimum was 3.13, and the maximum was 4.63. Collaborative capacity quartiles for 16 through 20 years in

education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.41, Quartile 2 = 3.44, Quartile 3 = 3.47, and Quartile 4 = 3.50. The minimum was 3.38, and the maximum was 3.63. Collaborative capacity quartiles for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 2.41, Quartile 2 = 2.81, Quartile 3 = 3.22, and Quartile 4 = 3.63. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 3.63. Collaborative capacity quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.38, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.13, and Quartile 4 = 4.5. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.5. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	3.00	2.50	3.13	3.38	2.00	4.00	3.00	2.00
Quartile 1	3.63	2.75	3.59	3.41	2.41	4.00	3.38	3.03
Quartile 2	3.88	3.19	3.81	3.44	2.81	4.00	3.75	3.63
Quartile 3	4.00	3.72	4.19	3.47	3.22	4.00	4.13	4.00
Maximum	4.88	4.38	4.63	3.50	3.63	4.00	4.50	4.88
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	3.88	3.30	3.88	3.44	2.81	4.00	3.75	3.58
MD	3.88	3.19	3.81	3.44	2.81	4.00	3.75	3.63
Mode	NA	22.00	NA	NA	NA	32.00	NA	29.00
SD	5.43	5.52	3.89	00.71	9.19	NA	8.49	5.48

Collaborative Capacity for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 27) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.



Collaborative Capacity for Total Years in Education

Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 29). Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.13, Quartile 2 = 3.75, Quartile 3 = 4.38, and Quartile 4 = 4.88. The minimum was 2.5, and the maximum was 4.88. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants in the current position for six to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.31, Quartile 2 = 3.63, Quartile 3 = 3.84, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 2.63, and the maximum was 4.38. Collaborative capacity quartiles in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.09 Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 4.38. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.09 Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 4.38. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.09 Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 4.38. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.09 Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.38. The minimum was 4.38. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants in the current position for 16 to 20 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.000 years

3.44, Quartile 2 = 3.5, Quartile 3 = 3.56, and Quartile 4 = 3.63. The minimum was 3.38, and the maximum was 3.63. Collaborative capacity quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 2.5, Quartile 2 = 3, Quartile 3 = 3.5, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 2, and the maximum was 4. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	33	40	13	7	7	0	0	100
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	2.50	2.63	3.00	3.38	2.00	NA	NA	2.00
Quartile 1	3.13	3.31	3.09	3.44	2.50	NA	NA	3.03
Quartile 2	3.75	3.63	3.50	3.50	3.00	NA	NA	3.63
Quartile 3	4.38	3.84	4.00	3.56	3.50	NA	NA	4.00
Maximum	4.88	4.38	4.38	3.63	4.00	NA	NA	4.88
Measures of								
Central								
M	3.74	3.55	3.59	3.50	3.00	NA	NA	3.58
MD	3.75	3.63	3.50	3.50	3.00	NA	NA	3.63
Mode	NA	28.00	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	29.00
SD	6.33	4.66	5.19	1.41	11.31	NA	NA	5.48

Collaborative Capacity for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 28) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position; 16 to 20 years in the current position; 21-25 years in the current position; 26-30 years in the current position; and 30 plus years in the current position.



Collaborative Capacity for Number of Years in Current Position

Next, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by grade levels in which participants worked (see Table 30). Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for fifth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 4.3, Quartile 3 = 4.8, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.6, and the maximum was 4.8. Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.25, Quartile 2 = 4.6, Quartile 3 = 4.8, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 4.8. Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for sixth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.25, Quartile 2 = 4.6, Quartile 3 = 4.8, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.8, and the maximum was 4.8. Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for seventh grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 3.7, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.2. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.2. Quartiles representing the concept of

school climate for eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.45, Quartile 2 = 3.7, Quartile 3 = 3.95, and Quartile 4 = 4.2. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.2. Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for faculty participants working with both fifth and sixth grades (middle) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 4.1, Quartile 3 = 4.35, and Quartile 4 = 4.6. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.6. Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for participants working with both seventh and eighth grades (junior high) were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.9, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.3, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.4, and the maximum was 4.8. Finally, totals for the concept of school climate for fifth through eighth grade faculty participants were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.6, Quartile 2 = 3.6, Quartile 3 = 3.6, and Quartile 4 = 3.6. The minimum was 3.6, and the maximum was 3.6.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Fifth	Sixth	Seventh	Eighth	All	All	MS/JH	Total
	Grade	Grade	Grade	Grade	Middle	JH	Mix	
Percentage								
Of Sample	13	13	20	7	20	23	3	100
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	3.60	3.80	3.20	3.20	3.00	3.40	3.60	3.00
Quartile 1	3.75	4.25	3.25	3.45	3.25	3.90	3.60	3.60
Quartile 2	4.30	4.60	3.70	3.70	4.10	4.00	3.60	4.00
Quartile 3	4.80	4.80	4.00	3.95	4.35	4.30	3.60	4.40
Maximum	4.80	4.80	4.20	4.20	4.60	4.80	3.60	4.80
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	4.25	4.45	3.67	3.70	3.87	4.09	3.60	3.98
MD	4.30	4.6	3.70	3.70	4.60	4.00	3.60	4.00
Mode	24.00	24.00	16.00	NA	15.00	20.00	18.00	20.00
SD	3.20	00.00	2.25	3.54	3.50	2.23	NA	2.83

School Climate for Grade Level Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 29). The figure displays seven series of data for each grade level in which survey participants work: fifth grade, sixth grade, seventh grade, eighth grade, middle (both fifth and sixth), junior high (both seventh and eighth), and total participants. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.

School Climate for Grade Level Taught



Additionally, a five-number summary was created to depict the data represented by content taught (see Table 31). Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for faculty members teaching core subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.4, Quartile 2 =4, Quartile 3 = 4.2, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for faculty members teaching elective subjects were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.8, Quartile 2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.6, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.6, and the maximum was 4.8. Quartiles representing the concept of school climate for faculty members teaching special education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.85, Quartile 2 = 4.1, Quartile 3 = 4.35, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.8. Quartile 3 = 4.35, and the concept of school climate for faculty members working as school counselors were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.35, Quartile 2 = 3.7, Quartile 3 = 4.05, and Quartile 4 = 4.4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.4.

Additionally, demographic data were analyzed to create a representation of the sample (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The average of the arithmetic mean (*M*), the average median (*MD*), mode, and standard deviation (*SD*) were calculated for grade-level demographics (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The mean was calculated to find the midpoint of the data set (Fraenkel et al., 2019). Additional measures of central tendency, including the median and mode were calculated to further summarize the data (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The standard deviation was calculated to understand the variance of the calculated mean (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019).

Values	Core Subjects	Elective	Special	School	Total
Percentage of		17	33	7	100
Sample	45	17	55	1	100
Five-Number					
Summary					
Minimum	3.20	3.60	3.00	3.00	3.00
Quartile 1	3.40	3.80	3.85	3.35	3.60
Quartile 2	4.00	4.00	4.10	3.70	4.00
Quartile 3	4.20	4.60	4.35	4.05	4.40
Maximum	4.80	4.80	4.80	4.40	4.80
Measures of					
Central Tendency	2.01	4.16	1.00	2.70	2.00
M	3.91	4.16	4.06	3.70	3.99
MD	4.00	4.00	4.10	3.70	4.00
Mode	16.00	NA	24.00	NA	20.00
SD	2.85	2.59	2.83	4.95	2.83

School Climate for Content Taught

Data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 30). The figure displays seven series of data for each content in which survey participants work: core subjects, elective subjects, special education, and school counseling. The boxes in the figure depict data clusters, and the tails depict the variances among the data.

School Climate for Content Taught



Additionally, data were organized in a five-number summary for total years in education (see Table 32). School climate quartiles for one through five years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.2, Quartile 2 = 4.2, Quartile 3 = 4.4, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.4, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartiles for participants working in education for six through 10 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.3, Quartile 2 = 3.7, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 4.8. School climate quartiles for 11 through 15 years in education were calculated as Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 3 = 4.8, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 3 = 4.8, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 1 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 1 = 4.8. The minimum was 4.8. School climate quartile 2 = 4.2, Quartile 3 = 4.8, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 3 = 4.8, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 3 = 4.8. And Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 3 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartile 3 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2.

2 = 4, Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4. School climate quartiles for 21 through 25 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 3.25, Quartile 2 = 3.5 Quartile 3 = 3.75, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4. School climate quartiles for 26 through 30 years in education were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.2, Quartile 2 = 4.2, Quartile 3 = 4.2, and Quartile 4 = 4.2. The minimum was 4.2, and the maximum was 4.2. School climate quartiles for participants working in education for 30 plus years were calculated as Quartile 1 = 4.25, Quartile 2 = 4.3, Quartile 3 = 4.35, and Quartile 4 = 4.4. The minimum was 4.2, and the maximum was 4.4. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for total years in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage Of Sample	17	33	27	7	7	3	7	100
Five-Number Summary								
Minimum	3.40	3.00	3.20	4.00	3.00	4.20	4.20	3.00
Quartile 1	4.20	3.30	3.70	4.00	3.25	4.20	4.25	3.60
Quartile 2	4.20	3.70	4.20	4.00	3.50	4.20	4.30	4.00
Quartile 3	4.40	4.00	4.80	4.00	3.75	4.20	4.35	4.40
Maximum	4.80	4.80	4.80	4.00	4.00	4.20	4.40	4.80
Measures of Central Tendency								
M	4.20	3.76	4.15	4.00	3.50	4.20	4.30	3.99
MD	4.20	3.70	4.20	4.00	3.50	4.20	4.30	4.00
Mode	21.00	20.00	24.00	20.00	NA	NA	NA	20.00
SD	2.55	2.82	3.37	0.00	3.54	NA	.71	2.82

School Climate for Total Years in Education

The data were utilized to create a box plot (see Figure 31) for total years in education. The figure depicts seven series of data: one to five years in education, two to six years in education, six to 10 years in education, 11 to 15 years in education, 16 to 20 years in education, 21-25 years in education, 26 to 30 years in education, and 30 plus years in education.

School Climate for Total Years in Education



Additionally, a five-number summary was created utilizing the data for the number of years in the current position (see Table 33). School climate quartiles for participants in the current position for one to five years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.6, Quartile 2 = 4.3, Quartile 3 = 4.4, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.6, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartiles for participants in the current position for sox to 10 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.75, Quartile 2 = 3.9, Quartile 3 = 4.15, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 4.8. School climate quartiles for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.35, Quartile 2 = 3.8, Quartile 3 = 4.35, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 4.8. School climate quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.35, Quartile 2 = 3.8, Quartile 3 = 4.35, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 4.8. School climate quartiles for participants in the current position for 11 to 15 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.35, Quartile 2 = 3.8, Quartile 3 = 4.35, and Quartile 4 = 4.8. The minimum was 3.2, and the maximum was 4.8. School climate quartiles for participants in the current position for 16 to 20 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 4, Quartile 2 = 4,

Quartile 3 = 4, and Quartile 4 = 4. The minimum was 4, and the maximum was 4. School climate quartiles for participants in the current position for 21 to 25 years were as follows: Quartile 1 = 3.3, Quartile 2 = 3.6, Quartile 3 = 3.9, and Quartile 4 = 4.2. The minimum was 3, and the maximum was 4.2. No survey participants had been in their current position for the last two categories of 26 to 30 years, or 30 plus years. Finally, measures of central tendency and the standard deviation were calculated for the total number of years in the current position in education.

Values	1-5	6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	30+	Total
	Years							
Percentage	33	40	13	7	7	0	0	100
Of Sample								
Five-Number								
Summary								
Minimum	3.60	3.00	3.20	4.00	3.00	NA	NA	3.00
Quartile 1	3.60	3.75	3.35	4.00	3.30	NA	NA	3.60
Quartile 2	4.30	3.90	3.80	4.00	3.60	NA	NA	4.00
Ouartile 3	4.40	4.15	4.35	4.00	3.90	NA	NA	4.40
C								
Maximum	4.80	4.80	4.80	4.00	4.20	NA	NA	4.80
Measures of								
Central								
Tendency								
M	4.10	3.98	3.90	4.00	3.60	NA	NA	3.99
MD	4.30	3.90	3.80	4.00	3.60	NA	NA	4.00
Mode	22.00	19.00	NA	20.00	NA	NA	NA	30.00
SD	3.06	2.64	3.70	0.00	4.24	NA	NA	2.83

School Climate for Number of Years in Current Position

Data were used to create a box plot (see Figure 32) for the number of years in the current educational position. The figure depicts seven series of data: one through five years in the current position; six through 10 years in the current position; 11 to 15 years in the current position, 16 to 20 years in the current position, 21-25 years in the current position, 26-30 years in the current position, and 30 plus years in the current position.



School Climate for Number of Years in Current Position

Inferential Statistics

Finally, an inferential analysis of the data was completed using the Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient (PPMC). The PPMC was used to determine if a significant relationship existed between the independent and dependent variables. Bluman (2018) stated, "the range of the linear correlation coefficient is from -1 to +1" with a positive correlation trending toward +1 and a negative correlation trending to -1 (p. 552)

A scatterplot was used as a visual tool to better understand the data (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). Scatterplots offer a simple visual representation of data, providing the researcher with information regarding the relationship existing among the research variables (Fraenkel et al., 2019). The scatterplots included in this chapter

provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of The SCARF theory (status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness), overall psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate.

The first scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of status and collaborative capacity (see Figure 33). The scatterplot includes a best-fit line, demonstrating the trend of the data (Sarikaya & Gleicher, 2018). Bluman (2018) also explained the "strength and direction of a linear relationship" is discovered through examining a pattern in the data (p. 552). A scatterplot provides a visual representation of the data pattern (Bluman, 2018).

A PPMC was used to determine the correlation between status and collaborative capacity. After calculating the correlation coefficient for status and collaborative capacity, the value of r was determined to be 0.807. This value was greater than the critical value of 0.361, with an alpha level equal to 0.05. When r = 0.807, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.807 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between status and collaborative capacity among the survey participants.

Status and Collaborative Capacity



The relationship between the variables of status and school climate was visually represented in a scatterplot (see Figure 34). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between status and school climate. After calculating the correlation coefficient for status and school climate, the value of r was determined to be 0.865. When r = 0.865, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.865 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between status and school climate among survey participants.





A scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of certainty and collaborative capacity (see Figure 35). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between certainty and collaborative capacity. After calculating the correlation coefficient for certainty and collaborative capacity, the value of r was determined to be 0.716. When r = 0.716, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.716 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between certainty and collaborative capacity among the survey participants.

Certainty and Collaborative Capacity



A scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of certainty and school climate, as well (see Figure 35). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between certainty and school climate. After calculating the correlation coefficient for certainty and school climate, the value of r was determined to be 0.715. When r = 0.715, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.715 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between certainty and school climate among the survey participants.





A scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of autonomy and collaborative capacity (see Figure 37). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between autonomy and collaborative capacity. After calculating the correlation coefficient for autonomy and collaborative capacity, the value of r was determined to be 0.036. When r = 0.036, the strength of the relationship is considered weak and inconsistent (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.036 is less than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected. There is no statistically significant relationship between autonomy and collaborative capacity among the survey participants.

Autonomy and Collaborative Capacity



A scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of autonomy and school climate, as well (see Figure 38). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between autonomy and school climate. After calculating the correlation coefficient for autonomy and school climate, the value of r was determined to be 0.304. When r = 0.304, the strength of the relationship is considered weak and inconsistent (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.304 is less than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was not rejected. There is no statistically significant relationship between autonomy and school climate among the survey participants.

Autonomy and School Climate



Additionally, a scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of relatedness and collaborative capacity (see Figure 39). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between relatedness and collaborative capacity. After calculating the correlation coefficient for relatedness and collaborative capacity, the value of *r* was determined to be 0.757. When r = 0.757, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.757 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between relatedness and collaborative capacity among the survey participants.

Relatedness and Collaborative Capacity



Additionally, a scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of relatedness and school climate (see Figure 40). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between relatedness and school climate. After calculating the correlation coefficient for relatedness and school climate, the value of rwas determined to be 0.733. When r = 0.733, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.733 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between relatedness and school climate among the survey participants.

Relatedness and School Climate



Additionally, a scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of fairness and collaborative capacity (see Figure 41). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between fairness and collaborative capacity. After calculating the correlation coefficient for fairness and collaborative capacity, the value of *r* was determined to be 0.777. When r = 0.777, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.777 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between fairness and collaborative capacity among the survey participants.

Fairness and Collaborative Capacity



Additionally, a scatterplot was used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of fairness and school climate (see Figure 42). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between fairness and school climate. After calculating the correlation coefficient for fairness and school climate, the value of r was determined to be 0.813. When r = 0.813, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.813 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between fairness and school climate among the survey participants.




A scatterplot was also used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity (see Figure 43). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity. After calculating the correlation coefficient for overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity, the value of r was determined to be 0.866. When r = 0.866, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.866 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity among the survey participants.



Overall Psychological Safety and Collaborative Capacity

Additionally, a scatterplot was also used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of overall psychological safety and school climate (see Figure 43). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between overall psychological safety and school climate. After calculating the correlation coefficient for overall psychological safety and school climate, the value of *r* was determined to be 0.935. When r = 0.935, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.935 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate among the survey participants.



Overall Psychological Safety and School Climate

Finally, a scatterplot was also used to provide a visual representation of the data between the variables of collaborative capacity and school climate (see Figure 44). A PPMC was utilized to determine the correlation between collaborative capacity and school climate. After calculating the correlation coefficient for collaborative capacity and school climate, the value of *r* was determined to be 0.822. When r = 0.822, the strength of the relationship is positive, and an increase in one variable indicates an increase in both (University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development, 2020). The positive value 0.822 is more than the critical value of 0.361; therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a statistically significant relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate among the survey participants.

Collaborative Capacity and School Climate



The values of *r* were organized (Table 34) to provide a visual representation of the correlation coefficient for each of the following research variables: Status, Certainty, Autonomy, Relatedness, Fairness, Overall Psychological Safety, Collaborative Capacity, and School Climate.

Table 34

Summary	of PPMC	Values
~	./	

Variable	Collaborative Capacity	School Climate
Status	0.807	0.865
Certainty	0.716	0.715
Autonomy	0.036	0.304
Relatedness	0.757	0.733
Fairness	0.777	0.814
Overall Psychological Safety	0.866	0.935
Collaborative Capacity		0.822

Summary

Data obtained from 30 certified fifth through eighth-grade faculty members were presented in this chapter. The data were analyzed and presented, including survey instrument design, collection of data, survey data, data analysis, descriptive statistics, and inferential statistics. Tables and figures were included to provide a visual representation of the data.

In Chapter Five, the findings and conclusions are discussed. First, an overview and analysis of the data are presented. Then, findings of descriptive statistics and inferential statistics are shared, as well as the research questions, implications for practice, and recommendations for future study.

Chapter Five: Conclusions and Implications

Zhou (2021) showed the importance of leadership behaviors and teacher perceptions of leaders to be of significant importance to teacher collective efficacy. The results of his qualitative research found "teachers admired servant leaders who were not self-centered but had a humble heart willing to help others grow" (Zhou, 2021, p. 111). Other leadership characteristics rising to the surface of Zhou's (2021) research included "leaders who showed competency and accountability, knew what was going on and jumped right in to do the hard work and take responsibility" (p. 111).

Previous research shows a connection between student learning and the collective efficacy of teachers, as well as a connection between collective efficacy to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and a positive school climate (Bandura, 2005, 2012; Berg, 2020; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo & Mausbach, 2021; Donohoo et al., 2018; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2018, 2018, as cited in Waack, 2018). The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationships among the research variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate in order to bring focus to possible high-impact, overlapping elements to guide the intentions and behaviors of school leaders (Donohoo et al., 2018; Modoono, 2017; Zebeda et al., 2020). According to Brown (2021), "We can't live into values that we can't name AND, living into values requires moving from lofty aspirations to specific, observable behaviors" (para. 2).

Analysis of Data

A Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was used to identify the relationships between the research variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). Data were analyzed to gain an understanding of the research results (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). The alpha level was set at .05 (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). With a return rate of 30 surveys, the critical value was 0.361 (Fraenkel et al., 2019). According to Fraenkel et al. (2019):

The sample correlation, therefore (independent of sign) must have a value equal to or greater than 0.361 for the researcher to reject the null hypothesis and conclude that there is a significant correlation in the population. Any sample correlation between 0.361 and -0.361 would be considered likely (i.e., due to sampling error) and hence *not* statistically significant. (p. 231)

Bluman (2018) explained the "range of the linear correlation coefficient" is a value from -1 to +1 (p. 552). He stated:

If there is a *strong positive linear relationship* between the variables, the value of r will be close to +1. If there is a *strong negative linear relationship* between the variables, the value of r will be close to -1. When there is no linear relationship between the variables or only a weak relationship, the value of r will be close to 0. (Bluman, 2018, p. 552)

Possible relationships between the research variables were explored as part of this quantitative research study, including individual elements of psychological safety, including status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, fairness, overall psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate.

Findings

Results from this study were derived from responses given by 30 research participants using a survey created by the researcher. The data were analyzed in two stages. The first stage involved descriptive statistics, specifically organizing and analyzing survey results in comparison to demographic information survey participants provided. The second stage involved inferential statistics to gain a deeper understanding of the potential connections between the research variables.

The values of *r* were organized (Table 34) to provide a visual representation of the correlation coefficient for each of the following research variables: Status, Certainty, Autonomy, Relatedness, Fairness, Overall Psychological Safety, Collaborative Capacity, and School Climate.

Table 34

Variable	Collaborative Capacity	School Climate
Status	0.807	0.865
Certainty	0.716	0.715
Autonomy	0.036	0.304
Relatedness	0.757	0.733
Fairness	0.777	0.814
Overall Psychological Safety	0.866	0.935
Collaborative Capacity		0.822

Summary of PPMC Values

Descriptive Statistics

The first section of the survey included the following demographical questions:

- 1. What grade level do you teach?
- 2. What content(s) do you teach?
- 3. How many years of teaching experience do you have?
- 4. How many years have you been employed in this particular assignment/building?

Demographic questions were included due to the significance of previous research. First, it was important to gather information on the grade level and content taught due to research surrounding the different types of impact on students by different grade levels and contents (Fisher & Frey, 2018; Pennington et al., 2019; Pollock et al., 2021; Trusz, 2018). It was also important to gather information regarding the length of time participants had worked in education, as well as the particular assignment, due to previous research regarding the individual impact of school climate, collaborative capacity, psychological safety, and collective efficacy on student achievement, all concepts largely related to time and relationships within a team (Bandura, 2000 & 2012; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo & Katz, 2019; Fisher & Frey, 2018; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2018; Parrett & Budge, 2020; Pennington et al., 2019; Trusz, 2018; Tucker 2019).

Demographic information regarding grade level taught was analyzed for each research variable. The following grade level categories were reported by research participants:

• Faculty members working with fifth grade students

- Faculty members working with sixth grade students
- Faculty members working with both fifth and sixth grade students, also referred to as middle school for the purposes of this case study
- Faculty members working with seventh grade students
- Faculty members working with eighth grade students
- Faculty members working with both seventh and eighth grade students, also referred to as junior high for the purposes of this case study
- Faculty members working with sixth through eighth grade students

Overall, the research variables were relatively similar in mean, ranging from 3.47 to 4.2. The mean score for autonomy, 4.2, was the greatest among all variables. Faculty members working with fifth grade students, as well as those working with both seventh and eighth grade students had the lowest standard deviation for autonomy.

Also observed among the demographic categories was the similarity between the variables of fairness and collaborative capacity. Across all demographic categories, fairness represented the lowest overall mean at 3.47, and collaborative capacity represented the second lowest mean overall at 3.58. Many of the lowest means within the demographic groups occurred within the concept of fairness, in which collaborative capacity also scored low, with the concept of certainty also close behind in this observation. The perception of fair versus unfair plays a vital role in team interaction, affecting the level of trust within a team (Brown, 2018; Reiche, 2016; Rock, 2013). The similarities represented in the survey results between fairness and collaborative capacity are supported by previous research as well as provide an important insight for leaders to ponder (Brown, 2018; Reiche, 2016; Rock, 2013). According to Causton (2021), school

leaders should take the time to form trusting relationships among school faculty, which will only benefit team efforts.

Inferential Statistics

Inferential statistics were used to analyze the 28 items in section two of the survey. The relationships between each variable relative to each survey item were investigated, including status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, fairness, overall psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate. A Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient was used to examine potential relationships among the research variables. The correlation coefficient utilizes quartiles to measure the strength of each relationship between the dependent and independent variables (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). A review of the findings is as follows:

Research Question One

What is the relationship between each element of psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools?

The correlation coefficient for status and collaborative capacity was calculated as r = 0.807. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between status and collaborative capacity, was rejected.

The correlation coefficient for certainty and collaborative capacity was calculated as r = 0.716. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between certainty and collaborative capacity, was rejected.

The correlation coefficient for autonomy and collaborative capacity was calculated as r = 0.036. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between autonomy and collaborative capacity, was not rejected.

The correlation coefficient for relatedness and collaborative capacity was calculated as r = 0.757. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between relatedness and collaborative capacity, was rejected.

The correlation coefficient for fairness and collaborative capacity was calculated as r = 0.777. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between fairness and collaborative capacity, was rejected.

Research Question Two

What is the relationship between each element of psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools?

The correlation coefficient for status and school climate was r = 0.865. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between status and school climate, was rejected.

The correlation coefficient for certainty and school climate was calculated as r = 0.715. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between certainty and school climate, was rejected.

The correlation coefficient for autonomy and school climate was calculated as r = 0.304. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between autonomy and school climate, was not rejected.

The correlation coefficient for relatedness and school climate was calculated to be r = 0.733. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between relatedness and school climate, was rejected.

The correlation coefficient for fairness and school climate was calculated to be r = 0.813. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between fairness and school climate, was rejected.

Research Question 3

What is the relationship between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools?

The correlation coefficient for overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity was r = 0.866. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between psychological safety and collaborative capacity, was rejected.

Research Question 4

What is the relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate in middle-level schools?

The correlation coefficient for overall psychological safety and school climate was r = 0.935. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between psychological safety and school climate, was rejected.

Research Question 5

What is the relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate in middle-level schools?

The correlation coefficient for collaborative capacity and school climate was r = 0.822. The null hypothesis, indicating there is no statistically significant relationship between collaborative capacity and school climate, was rejected.

The Pearson Product Moment Correlation Coefficient when comparing overall psychological safety to school climate was 94%, demonstrating a statistically significant

relationship between these variables. This high of percentage would communicate one concept could almost predict the other (Bluman, 2018; Fraenkel et al., 2019). The concepts of cultivated relationships, trust, and certainty are common themes within the individual elements of psychological safety, as well as overall psychological safety and a positive school climate (Brown, 2018; Causton et al., 2021; Zimmerman et al., 2020).

Conclusions

The purpose of this study was to investigate potential relationships between the individual elements of psychological safety, overall psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate in order to bring a focus to possible high-impact, overlapping elements to guide the intentions and behaviors of school leaders (Donohoo et al., 2018; Modoono, 2017; Zebeda et al., 2020). The survey instrument was designed by the researcher to gather demographical information relevant to the study, as well as responses related to the research variables. Data were organized in two stages: descriptive and inferential statistics to gain an understanding of potential relationships between the research variables.

As a result of the findings, the following conclusions were drawn:

- A statistically significant relationship existed between status and collaborative capacity.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between status and school climate.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between certainty and collaborative capacity.

- A statistically significant relationship existed between certainty and school climate.
- A statistically significant relationship did not exist between autonomy and collaborative capacity.
- A statistically significant relationship did not exist between autonomy and school climate.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between relatedness and collaborative capacity.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between relatedness and school climate.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between fairness and collaborative capacity.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between fairness and school climate.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between overall psychological safety and collaborative capacity.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between overall psychological safety and school climate.
- A statistically significant relationship existed between collaborative capacity and school climate.

Demographic information analyzed by descriptive statistics indicated means for each research variable were 3.47 and above, with the highest mean seen with the concept of autonomy, followed closely by school climate, then the concept of certainty. The two lowest means were found within the concepts of fairness and collaborative capacity.

Inferential statistics indicated the strongest relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate, demonstrating an increase in one could predict an increase of the other. Statistically significant relationships were found among almost all of the research questions. The exception was the relationships between the concept of autonomy, an individual variable within the umbrella term of psychological safety, to both collaborative capacity and school climate. The decreased connection between autonomy and collaborative capacity is consistent with research, according to Rock (2009), who pointed out collaboration might lessen the perception of autonomy as teams work together rather than individually to increase student achievement.

As discussed previously, common themes woven among the research variables were seen in the literature review discussed in Chapter Two, as well as in the survey data. The concept of trust is connected to psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate, which is consistent with the research data (Brown, 2018; Causton et al., 2021; Edmondson, 2012, 2018; Zimmerman et al., 2020). The concept of certainty was often connected to increased school climate, and decreased certainty was often tied to decreased collaborative capacity.

Rock (2013) discussed the brain research surrounding the concept of certainty. When certainty is absent, the prefrontal cortex reacts, potentially causing stress, which leads to unfamiliarity (Rock, 2013). Certainty is also tied to confidence in the research discussed in Chapter Two, as well as trust, which is connected to multiple concepts in the research, including psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate (Brown, 2018; Causton et al., 2021; Reiche, 2016; Rock, 2013; Zimmerman et al., 2020)

Implications for Practice

The review of literature and analysis of survey data indicate statistically significant relationships among the research variables, with the exception of autonomy to both collaborative capacity and school climate. Inferential statistics indicated the strongest relationship between overall psychological safety and school climate, demonstrating an increase in one could predict the increase in the other.

Previous research discussed in Chapter Two regarding the effect of collective efficacy on student achievement, literature relating the research variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate to both collective efficacy and student achievement, and finally, the results of this study provide potential implications for school leaders (Bandura, 2000, 2012; Berg, 2020; DeWitt, 2017; Donohoo et al., 2018; Garmston & Wellman, 2013; Gruenert & Whitaker, 2015, 2017; Harvey et al., 2019; Hattie, 2017, 2018, as cited in Waack, 2019).

First, school leaders should work to increase faculty members' status among collaborative teams. This can be accomplished by reducing perceived threats, as well as showing recognition for both team and individual work efforts. Feedback should be given constructively, as well as gently. Faculty members will work hard for leaders who value and appreciate team members, thus increasing their status. Fears of failure are reduced, and challenges are tackled head-on with the best efforts (Mind Tools Content Team, 2021).

As seen in the survey results, leaders should also work to increase feelings of certainty among faculty members. Offering frequent and clear communication, as well as consistency in how various situations arising within the school day are handled, can increase certainty among the team, and ultimately increase the team's feelings of safety. Authors Mousena and Raptis (2021) pointed out the importance of communication as education is a social endeavor. There are multiple ways for school leaders to communicate effectively, including the frequency of communication, clarity, and variety. Recent research showed teacher support and frequent feedback are ways to provide "teachers with a deeper focal lens for observing and analyzing classroom interaction" (Laskowski, 2021, p. 8). Knowing what to expect from a leader can bring feelings of safety even in times of overall uncertainty, such as the times schools have experienced recently during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Third, leaders should work to develop connections among faculty members, thus increasing relatedness among the team. This can be accomplished in multiple ways, including mentoring programs, cultivating collaborative teams, and even taking the time to show genuine care and concern for individual faculty members' lives, both personally and professionally.

Fourth, leaders should work to foster faculty members' sense of fairness. Day-today managerial tasks can increase perceptions of fairness among a team, particularly when the team is consulted in the creation of these tasks (Mind Tools Content Team, 2021). Other ways to increase perceptions of fair exchanges could include the inclusion of all faculty members in various tasks and teams, as well as not showing favoritism within the team. Specific team collaborative processes can be put in place, encouraging equal voice from all members, thus increasing the perception of fair exchanges among team members, also increasing the capacity to collaborate effectively. The norms outlined by Garmston and Wellman (2016) can provide structured interactions, allowing for this equal voice, including pausing, paraphrasing, posing questions, paying attention to self and others, and presuming positive intentions.

Further implications lie in increasing the overall psychological safety among faculty members. Previous research has indicated trust can play a vital role in increasing the psychological safety of a team, as well as school climate and collaborative capacity (Brown, 2018; Causton et al., 2021; Edmondson, 2012, 2018; Reiche, 2016, Rock 2009, 2013; Zimmerman et al., 2020). School leaders who make the mistake of micromanaging faculty members decrease autonomy as well as motivation among faculty (Pink, 2009; Rock, 2013). Instead, by displaying trust, school leaders can foster faculty members' sense of belonging to a school team (Berg & Walker, 2021; Canli & Dermirtas, 2018). According to Wanless and Winters (2018):

One major goal in creating a school climate for teacher learning is to create a sense of psychological safety: a sense that it is all right to enter a state of discomfort together because we have warm relationships with trusted peers who will support us as we take risks and learn together. (para. 7)

A school leader should take the time to form trusting relationships with faculty members, demonstrating genuine care and value for the team (Beck et al., 2020; Causton et al., 2021). The neuroscience behind the concept of psychological safety ensures every faculty member is an individual, and efforts should be made by school leaders to be aware of faculty member differences, strengths, weaknesses, and needs (Rock, 2009; 2013). There are many ways school leaders can accomplish this, including being present throughout the building, participating in team discussions, and taking the time to truly get to know faculty members.

School teams taking an active role in decision-making processes point to an overall climate of trust (Berg & Walker, 2021; Grissom et al., 2021). Leadership trust can empower faculty members to be agents of change and make instructional decisions, which could eventually pass empowerment to students to become masters of their own learning (Berg & Walker, 2021). According to Johnson (2021), teacher teams and the capacity to collaborate are of vital importance, particularly following recent school closures due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Faculty working collaboratively were less overwhelmed by the challenges of online learning than teams comprised of individuals who worked independently to form solutions (Johnson, 2021). School leaders can foster collaborative teams and demonstrate trust in faculty members by first working collectively to create a shared vision centered on student success.

From the creation of the shared vision, a vital concept to an increased school climate, teacher-led teams can be put in place to collectively tackle issues and collectively make instructional decisions (Bukko et al., 2021; Preston & Donohoo, 2021). It is easy for school leaders to desire a quick solution to issues as they arise (Toll, 2017). It is important for school leaders to take the time to truly listen to faculty members, hear all voices, and work together to provide solutions that can be processed through collaborative teams (Berg & Walker, 2021; Garmston & Wellman, 2013, 2014; Preston & Donohoo, 2021; Toll, 2017).

Recommendations for Future Research

Despite the research and conclusions drawn from this particular case study regarding psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate, much work is needed to fully understand the relationships between the research variables, how they relate to collective efficacy, and needed leadership behaviors to increase collective efficacy among faculty members. The following recommendations for future research were identified:

- Investigate both the individual elements of psychological safety, including the concepts of status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness, as well as overall psychological safety in grade levels outside of middle-level. There are developmental, social, and emotional challenges in every stage of adolescence. It would be of great interest to learn perceptions of psychological safety among faculty members who work with both younger and older grade levels.
- 2. Investigate the perceptions of collaborative capacity with faculty members working in grade levels outside of middle-level. As stated before, there are developmental, social, and emotional challenges in every stage of adolescence. It would be of great interest to learn perceptions of collaborative capacity among faculty members who work with both younger and older grade levels.
- Investigate the perceptions of school climate with faculty members working in grade levels outside of middle-level. As stated before, there are developmental, social, and emotional challenges in every stage of

adolescence. It would be of great interest to learn perceptions of school climate among faculty members who work with both younger and older grade levels.

- 4. Investigate both the individual elements of psychological safety, including the concepts of status, certainty, autonomy, relatedness, and fairness, as well as overall psychological safety in grade levels in a larger study, not limited to schools within a case study. It would be of great interest to learn perceptions of psychological safety among faculty members who work in different types of schools, as well as other areas of the state and country.
- 5. Investigate both the perception of collaborative capacity in a larger study, not limited to schools within a case study. It would be of great interest to learn perceptions of psychological safety among faculty members who work in different types of schools, as well as other areas of the state and country.
- 6. Investigate both the perception of school climate in a larger study, not limited to schools within a case study. It would be of great interest to learn perceptions of psychological safety among faculty members who work in different types of schools, as well as other areas of the state and country.
- 7. Extend this research beyond the relationships among the research variables to include student achievement and behavioral data. Student achievement data can include local district assessments, as well as state assessments, and national-normed assessments. Behavioral data can include categorized office referral analysis, as well as school leader and faculty narratives regarding student behavior.

- 8. Extend this research beyond a perception of group collaborative capacity to individual capacity to collaborate and awareness of self-efficacious behaviors. Although collective efficacy is not simply the sum of the individual group member's self-efficacy, it would be a worthwhile study to investigate since there are many individual factors affecting teacher effectiveness.
- 9. Explore this same or similar study using qualitative research. It would be interesting to dive deeper into the quantitative survey responses, gathering more specific information regarding faculty perceptions of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate through conversations, such as interviews. It would also be of great interest to have conversations with those in leadership positions who were excluded from this research.
- 10. Consider a study researching the benefits of teachers going into colleagues' classrooms to observe, learn, and provide constructive feedback regarding the implementation of instructional decisions. This could possibly be a step to promote trust and confidence, increasing the collective efficacy of faculty members, as well as providing learning experiences and further leadership opportunities for teachers (Berg & Walker, 2021; Donohoo & Hite, 2021).
- 11. Consider a study regarding hiring practices and the retention of effective faculty members, specifically centered around the leader's role in supporting new hires, including the implementation and monitoring of a mentoring program, frequent discussions, visiting the classrooms, equipping with adequate resources, and taking the time to form solid relationships. In a recent study conducted by Rasanen et al. (2021), over half of the teachers included in

the survey data reported they had the intention of leaving the profession. Leader support is vital to the retention of teachers, and poor leadership is listed as a contributing factor to teacher turnover (Eller & Eller, 2018; Goodwin & Stronge, 2018).

12. Explore leadership awareness of their own strengths and weaknesses and how they best work with faculty members (Reimer, 2017). School leaders should practice self-care to appropriately model the same for faculty and take the time to make sure they have a healthy, balanced lifestyle to effectively lead faculty members and students toward success (Friedman et al., 2020; Rock, 2013).

Summary

Chapter One included the background, theoretical framework, statement of the problem, purpose of the study, research questions and hypotheses, and the significance of the study. Definition of terms, delimitations, limitations, and assumptions were also provided. Chapter Two included a review of previous research, as well as current literature regarding the research variables of psychological safety, collaborative capacity, and school climate, as well as concepts related to those variables and collective efficacy. Chapter Three included a description of the research methodology, which included the problem and purpose of the study, research questions and hypotheses, research design, population and sample, instrumentation, data collection, data analysis, and ethical considerations.

Data analysis was provided in Chapter Four and included the survey instrument design, collection of data, and data analysis. Data were organized in two stages and using descriptive and inferential statistics.

A summary and conclusion were provided in Chapter Five and included an overview, analysis of data, and findings. Additionally, Chapter Five included a summary of both descriptive and inferential statistics, as well as research questions one through five, followed by conclusions, implications for practice, and finally, recommendations for future research.

Survey results indicate statistically significant relationships among status, certainty, relatedness, and fairness to school climate and collaborative capacity, as well as overall psychological safety to school climate and collaborative capacity. Considering previous connections regarding collective efficacy and student achievement, it is of vital importance for leaders to continually work to increase collective efficacy among faculty members and support teachers in efforts to sustain high-quality instruction in the classroom.

School leaders play a vital role in education due to the ultimate impact on student success through supporting efficacious faculty members and teams. With the negative attention surrounding today's teachers, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on schools, as well as the impact of current inequities not only in education but in surrounding communities and the country as a whole, it is more important than ever to realize the influence school leaders can and should have toward fostering collective efficacy and collaborative capacity among faculty, a positive school climate, and care toward the psychological safety of the school team. The ultimate goal of education is

192

student success. The road to student success must be paved with both effective school leaders and faculty members to provide students with opportunities, knowledge, relationships, and skills to provide the best education possible, as well as the most fruitful opportunities for success in life.

Sinek (2014) stated, "Leadership is a choice. It is not a rank" (09:52). It is important for school leaders to put others first for the good of both faculty members and students, specifically working to increase faculty members' perception of status, certainty, relatedness, and fairness. Faculty members' feelings of safety, value, and trust are vital to the success of a school. Positive steps toward collective efficacy, collaborative capacity, school climate, and ultimately student achievement will follow as school leaders truly value faculty members and relationships among those who care for students. Above all, the focus of school leaders should be centered around their people.

References

- Amanchukwu, R. N., Ololube, N. P., & Stanley, G. J. (2015). A review of leadership theories, principles and styles and their relevance to educational management. *Scientific and Academic Publishing*, *5*, 6–14. http://article.sapub.org/ 10.5923.j.mm.20150501.02.html
- Anfara, V., & Caskey, M. (October, 2014). Developmental characteristics of young adolescents. Association for Middle Level Education. http://www.amle.org/ BrowsebyTopic/WhatsNew/WNDet.aspx?ArtMID=888&ArticleID=455
- Arnett, A. (2018). What is the role of public education in the U.S.? *The Education Digest*, 84(2). Retrieved from https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid =6&sid=22c3c523-e4d6-4cb9-bdef

9d46c770f797%40sessionmgr4006

- Ark, T. V. (2021). 5 changes, 5 shifts, and 5 implications for what's next in education. ASCD. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/5-changes-shiftsand-implications-for-whats-next-in-education
- Azzam, A. M. (2014). *Motivation to learn: A conversation with Daniel Pink*. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/motivated-to-learn-a-conversationwith-daniel-pink
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. https://www.uky.edu/~eushe2 /Bandura/Bandura1977PR.pdf
- Bandura, A. (1999). A social cognitive theory of personality. In L. Pervin & O. John(Eds.), *Handbook of Personality* (2nd ed., pp. 154–196). Guilford Publications.

http://www.uky.edu/~eushe2/BanduraPubs/Bandura1999HP.pdf

- Bandura, A. (2000). Exercise of human agency through collective efficacy. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*. https://www.uky.edu/~eushe2/Bandura/ Bandura2000CDPS.pdf
- Bandura, A. (2005). The evolution of social cognitive theory. In K. G. Smith & M. A. Hitt (Eds.) *Great Minds in Management*. (pp. 9–35) Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bandura, A. (2012). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W. H. Freeman.
- Beck, J. S., Lunsmann, C., & Garza, T. (2020). We need to be in the classroom more: Veteran teachers' views on teacher preparation and retention. *The Professional Educator*, 43(1), 91–99. http://wp.auburn.edu/educate/wp-content/uploads
 /2020/11/ 9-Vol.-43-No.-1-91%E2%80%93-99.pdf
- Berg, J. (2020). Leading together /teams to the rescue. *Educational Leadership*, 78(2), 78–79. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/oct20/ vol78/num02/Teams-to-the-Rescue.aspx
- Berg, J. H., & Walker, M. F. (2021). Leading together/power to the people. *Educational Leadership*, 78(7). https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/power-to-the-people
- Bluman, A. G. (2018). *Elementary statistics: A step by step approach* (10th ed.).McGraw Hill Education.
- Boren, D. M. (2017). Synergistic school leadership: Coaching teachers, teams, and team leaders. *Leadership*, 46(5), 40–43. https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/ pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=9&sid=814ef6f4-4af5-492d-b8fcc887f5c05c4f%40sessionmgr4007

Breen, A. (2019, February 19). *What if we could remake middle school?* University of Virginia Curry School of Education and Human Development.

https://curry.virginia.edu/news/what-if-we-could-remake-middle-school#

- Brown, B. (2018). Dare to lead. Vermillion.
- Brown, B. (2021). *Operationalizing your organization's values*. Brene Brown. https://daretolead.brenebrown.com/operationalizing-your-orgs-values/
- Bukko, D., Liu, K., & Johnson, A.H. (2021). Principle practices that build and sustain trust: Recommendations from teachers in a high-trust school. *Planning and Changing*, *50*(1/2), 58–74. https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=8&sid=afc100a1-278e-4931-b2fbab7c3f52a47d%40redis
- Burns, W. A. (2017). A descriptive literature review of harmful leadership styles:
 Definitions, commonalities, measurements, negative impacts, and ways to
 improve these harmful leadership styles. *Creighton Journal of Interdisciplinary Leadership*, 3(1), 33–52. doi:10.17062/cjil.v3i1.53
- Cacioppo, S., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2020). *Introduction to social neuroscience*. Princeton University Press.
- Campbell, D. T., & Stanley, J. C. (1963). *Experimental and quasi-experimental designs for research*. Houghton Mifflin Company.

Canli, S., & Dermirtas, H. (2018). The effects of school principals' trust in teachers on school climate. *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, 10(1), 105–128. https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?
vid=21&sid=f586122f-34fb-4832-a0c9-ac15880f5be0%40redis

- Caufield, J., Kidd, S., & Kocher, T. (2000). Brain-based instruction inaction. *Educational Leadership*, 58(3), 62–65. ascd.org/publications/educational_ leadership/nov00/vol58/num03/Brain-based Instruction in Action.aspx
- Causton, J., Macleod, K., & Pretti-Frontczak, K. (2021). Ready, set, success: A formula for leading schools with love. *Educational Leadership*, 79(2), 21-25.
- Clark, T. R. (2020). *The 4 stages of psychological safety defining the path to inclusion and innovation*. Oakland, CA: Berrett-Koehler
- Coon, D. (2020). Introduction to psychology: Gateways to mind and behavior. Boston, MA: Cengage Learning
- Corry, M., & Stella, J. (2018). Teacher self-efficacy in online education: A review of the literature. *Research in Learning Technology*, (26), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.25304/rlt.v26.2047
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed-methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cunningham, K., & Pfleging, A. (2021). Efficacy in the face of adversity. *Educational Leadership*, 79(3). https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/efficacy-in-the-face-of-adversity
- Delizonna, L. (2017. August 24). High-performing teams need psychological safety. Here's how to create it. *Harvard Talent Management*. https://socialscience. fas.harvard.edu/files/socialscience/files/hbr_2017aug_highperformteamspsychsaf ety.pdf

DeWitt, P. (2017a). *Collaborative leadership: Six influences that matter most*. Corwin Dewitt, P. (2017b). The school climate problem (and what we can do about it).

Education Week. https://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2017/09/21/ the-school-climate-problem-and-whatwe.html

DeWitt, P. (2018). School climate: Leading with collective efficacy. Corwin

- DeWitt, P., & Slade, S. (2014). School climate change: How do I build a positive environment for learning? ASCD
- Diez, D., Barr, C., & Cetinkaya-Rundel, M. (2020). Examining the central limit theorem. Statistics. https://stats.libretexts.org/Bookshelves/Introductory_ Statistics/Book%3A_OpenIntro_Statistics_(Diez_et_al)./04%3A_Foundations _for_Inference/4.05%3A_Examining_the_Central_Limit_Theorem
- Donohoo, J., Hattie, J., & Eels, R. (2018). The power of collective efficacy. *Educational Leadership*, 75(6). https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/thepower-of-collective-efficacy
- Donohoo, J., & Hite, S. (2021). Addressing inequity with the power of collective efficacy. *Educational Leadership*, 78(6). http://www.ascd.org/publications /educational-leadership/mar21/vol78/num06/Addressing-Inequity-withthe-Power-of-Collective-Efficacy.aspx
- Donohoo, J., & Katz, S. (2019). What drives collective efficacy? *Educational Leadership*, 76(9). ascd.org/publications/educational leadership/jul 19/vol76/num09/What-Drives-Collective-Efficacy¢.aspx
- Donohoo, J., & Katz, S. (2020). *Quality implementation: Leveraging collective* efficacy to make "what works actually work." Corwin.
- Donohoo, J., & Mausbach, A. (2021). *Beyond collaboration: The power of joint work*. ASCD

- Donohoo, J., O'Leary, T., & Hattie, J. (2020). The design and validation of the enabling conditions for collective teacher efficacy scale (EC-CTES). *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 5(2), 147–166.
 https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/JPCC-08-2019-0020/full/html
- Donoghue, G., & Hattie, J. (2016). Learning strategies: A synthesis and conceptual model. *NPJ Science of Learning*. https://www.nature.com/articles/ npjscilearn201613
- Ebersold, S., Rahm, T., & Heise, E. (2019). Autonomy support and well-being in teachers: Differential mediations through basic psychological need satisfaction and frustration. *Social Psychology of Education*, 22(4), 921–942. https://web.p. ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=10&sid=aa81d5d6-b059-4d61-871d-e519a7f1f247%40redis
- Edmondson, A. C. (2011). *Psychological safety, trust and learning in organizations: A group-level lens.* Research Gate. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/ 268328210_ Psychological_Safety_Trust_and_Learning_in_Organizations_ A_Group-level_Lens
- Edmondson, A. C. (2003). *Psychological safety, trust, and learning in organizations: A group-level lens.* Harvard Business School. https://citeseerx.ist. psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.195.4023&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Edmondson, A. C. (2012). *Teaming: How organizations learn, motivate, and compete in the knowledge economy.* Jossey-Bass

Edmondson, A., & Roloff, K. (2009) Leveraging diversity through psychological

safety. *Rotman Magazine*. https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/afriberg/files/ leveraging_diversity_through_psychological_safety_hbs_article.pdf

- Eels. R. J. (2011). Meta-analysis of the relationship between collective teacher efficacy and student achievement (Publication No. 133). [Doctoral dissertation, Loyola University Chicago]. Loyola eCommons.
- Elgart, M. A. (2017). Can schools meet the promise of continuous improvement? *Phi Delta Kappan*, 99(4), 54–59. doi: 10.1177/0031721717745546
- Eller, J. F. & Eller, S. A. (2018). Recruiting, hiring, and retaining teachers: How to staff your school with the best of the best. *Principal*, 97(3), 44–45. https://web.p. ebscohost. com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=da059e09-0386-4aea-9b2f-080b15bebfa5%40redis
- Epitropoulos, A. (2019). 10 signs of a toxic school culture. *Education Update*, *61*(9). www.ascd.org/publications/newsletters/educationupdate/sept19/vol61/num09/10/10-Signs-of-a-Toxic-School-Culture.aspx
- Fisher, D., & Frey, N. (2018). Boosting your teacher credibility: Students' belief that they can learn from a teacher is powerful. *Educational Leadership*, 76 (1), 82–83. https://web.p.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid= 19&sid=014a68d8-d786-42cb-bc7e-fa61eee75f58%40redis
- Fisher, D., & Frey, N. (2018). Show and tell: A video column/branding and school culture. *Educational Leadership*, 75(6). http://www.ascd.org/publications /educational-leadership/mar18/vol75/num06/Branding-and-School-Culture.aspx
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N. E., & Hyun, H. H. (2019). *How to design and evaluate research in education* (10th ed.). McGraw-Hill

- Frazier, M., Fainshmidt, S., Klinger, R., Pezeshkan, A., & Vracheva, V. (2017).
 Psychological safety: A meta-analytic review and extension. *Personnel Psychology*. 70. 113–165. doi: 10.1111/peps.12183
- Frey, N., Smith, D., & Fisher, D. (2020). A positive classroom climate, even from a distance. ASCD Express, 15(17). http://www.ascd.org/ascd-express /vol15/num17/a-positive-classroom-climate-even-from-a-distance.aspx
- Friedman, B., Suri, S., Sole-Padulles, C., Duzel, S., Drevon, C., Baare, W., Bartres-Faz, D., Fjell, A. Johansen-Berg, H., Madsen, K., Nybert, L., Penninx, B., Sexton, C., Walhovd, K., Zsoldos, E, & Budin-Ljosne, I. (2020). Are people ready for personalized brain health? Perspectives of research participants in the lifebrain consortium. *Gerontologist*, *60*(6), 1050–1059. https://academic.oup.com/gerontologist/article/60/6/1050/5612286
- Gardner, H. (2008). Five minds for the future. *The University of Chicago Press*, (5)1/2, 17–24. http://centre.upeace.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/

1.3-Gardner-5-Minds-of-the-Future.pdf

- Garmston, R. J., & Wellman, B. M. (2013). *The adaptive school: Developing and facilitating collaborative groups* (2nd ed.). Rowman & Littlefield
- Garmston, R., & Wellman, B. (2014). Adaptive schools foundation seminar learning guide (2nd ed.) (M. Dolcemascolo & C. M., Eds.). Thinking Collaborative

Goddard, R. D., Hoy, W. K., & Hoy, A. W. (2000). Collective teacher efficacy:
Its meaning, measure, and impact on student achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, 37(2), 479–507. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu
/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.123.9261&rep=rep1&type=pdf

- Goodwin, B., & Davis, K. (2021). Research matters: What kind of leader are you? *Educational Leadership*, 78(7). https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/ what-kind-of-leader-are-you
- Goodwin, B., & Shebby, S. (2020). Research matters / restoring teacher efficacy. *Educational Leadership*, 78(4), 76–77. http://www.ascd.org/publications/ educational-leadership/dec20/vol78/num04/Restoring-Teachers'-Efficacy.aspx

Goodwin, B., & Stronge, J. H. (2018). Qualities of effective teachers. ASCD.

- Govil, P. (2013). Ethical considerations in educational research. International Journal of Advancement in Education and Social Sciences. https://docplayer.net/49892309-Ethical-considerations-in-educational-research.html
- Grissom, J. A., Egalite, A. J., & Lindsay, C. A. (2021). What great principals really do. *Educational Leadership*, 78(7), 21–25. https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost
 /pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=54c93a23-6605-484d-ac400afdab47c4ce%40redis
- Gruenert, S. (2017). School culture rewired. National association of elementary school principals. https://www.naesp.org/sites/default/files/School%20Culture% 20Rewired%20Presentation%20-%209-27-17.pdf
- Gruenert, S., & Whitaker, T. (2017). School culture recharged: Strategies to energize your staff and culture. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development
- Gruenert, S., & Whitaker, T. (2015). School culture rewired: How to define, assess, and transform it. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development

- Hart, D. (2018). Teamwork is the new leadership. *Maine Policy Review*, 27(1), 30–33. https://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1799&context=mpr
- Harvard Health Publishing. (2019, June 5). Pain, anxiety, and depression. *Harvard Health.* www.health.harvard.edu/mind-and-mood/pain-anxiety-and-depression
- Harvey, J. F., Johnson, K. J., Roloff, K. S., & Edmondson, A. C. (2019). From orientation to behavior: The interplay between learning orientation, open mindedness, and psychological safety in team learning. *Human Relations*, 72(11), 1726–1751. doi: 10.1177/0018726718817812
- Hattie, J. (2012). Visible learning for teachers: Maximizing impact on learning.Routledge.
- Hattie, J. (2017). 250+ influences on student achievement. Visible Learning. https://visiblelearning.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/VLPLUS-252-Influences-Hattie-ranking-DEC-2017.pdf
- Hattie, J. (2019). 250+ *influences on student achievement*. Visible Learning https://www.visiblelearning.com/sites/default/files/250_influences_chart_june_20 19.pdf
- Hattie, J. (2019). *Visible learning for teachers: Maximizing impact on learning*. Routledge
- Hattie, J. (2020). Real gold vs, fool's gold: The visible learning methodology for finding what work's best in education. Corwin.
- Hayes, R., Kyer, B., & Weber, E. (2015). *The case study cookbook*. https://web.wpi.edu/ Pubs/E-project/Available/E-project-121615-164731/unrestricted/
USPTO_CookbookFinal.pdf

- Hidi, S. (2015). Revisiting the role of rewards in motivation and learning: Implications of neuroscientific research. *Educational Psychology Review*, 28(1), 61–93.
 https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=4&sid=
 b8f7b1ac-4118-4eeb-84e4-d289b2e20074%40sessionmgr4007
- Hocevar, S. P., Jensen, E., & Thomas, G. F. (2007). Developing collaborative capacity:
 A diagnostic model. *ResearchGate*. file:///Users/kbrownfield/Downloads/
 Developing_Collaborative_Capacity_A_Diagnostic_Mod.pdf
- Hoerr, T. R. (2016, October). Principal connection / how principals spark engagement. *ASCD*. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/oct16 /vol74/num02/How-Principals-Spark-Engagement.aspx
- Internal Affairs Office, U.S. Department of Education. (2008). Organization of U.S. education: The school level. USNEI. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ous/ international/usnei/us/schoollevel.doc
- Jackson, R. (2020). Co-creating your school's core values. *Education Update*, (62)12. http://www.ascd.org/publications/newsletters/education_update/dec20/vol62 /num12/Co-Creating_Your_School's_Core_Values.aspx
- Jacobs, J. (2018). School climate: A comparison of teachers, students, and parents (3476). [Doctoral dissertation, East Tennessee State University]. Digital Commons.

Jenkins, J., Lock, L., & Lock, M. A. (2018). Leadership: A critical bridge to

accountability. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 84(3), 10–15. https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=13&sid=f006df40-051b-45e2-913b-844310a5db7c%40sdc-v-sessmgr02

- Jensen, P., & Ratcliffe, K. (2020). Redefining school culture with listening: The authors vouch for a process that hears the voices of students, teachers and administrators equally for building a responsive climate. *School Administrator*, 77(6), 40+. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A635067970/AONE?u=sain20269&sid=AON E&xid=a0a59e9c
- Johnson, S. M. (2021). Why teacher teams are more critical than ever. *Educational Leadership*, 79(1). https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/why-teacher-teams-aremore-critical-than-ever
- Kafele, B. K. (2017, May). Is your school better because you lead it? *Educational Leadership*, 75(8). http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/may17/vol74/num08/Is-Your-School-Better-Because-You-Lead-It¢.aspx
- Kim, S., Lee, H., & Connerton, T. (2020). How psychological safety affects team performance: Mediating role of efficacy and learning behavior. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01581
- Kober, N. (2007). Why we still need public schools: Public Education for the common good. Center on Education Policy. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED503799.pdf
- Kolb, B., Whishaw, I. Q., & Teskey, G. C. (2019). An introduction to brain and behavior. Worth Publishers.
- Kraft, M., & Hattie, J. (2021). Interpreting education research and effect sizes.

Educational Leadership, 78(8). https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/

interpreting-education-research-and-effect-sizes

- Lasater, K. (2016). School leader relationships: The need for explicit training on rapport, trust, and communication. *Journal of School Administration Research and Development*, *1*(2), 19–26. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1158155.pdf
- Laskowski, T. (2021). Feedback builds classroom management confidence for new teachers. *Educational Leadership*, 79(2), 8.
- Leithwood, K., & McCullough, C. (2016, March). Leading high-performing school districts: Nine characteristics of effective districts and the leadership practices that achieve them. Canadian Education Association. https://professionallearning. education.gov.scot/media/1401/est-leading-high-performing-school-districts.pdf
- Li, Y. (2016, November 28). How to determine the validity and reliability of an instrument. Discovery Center for Evaluation, Research, & Professional Learning, a Miami University Blog. https://blogs.miamioh.edu/discoverycenter/2016/11/how-to-determine-the-validity-and-reliability-of-an-instrument/
- Lieberman, M. D., & Eisenberger, N. I. (2015, May 31). The pains and pleasures of social life: A social cognitive neuroscience approach. University of California Psychology Department. https://sanlab.psych.ucla.edu/wpcontent/uploads/sites/31/2015/05/Lieberman-Eisenberger-2008-Neuroleadership.pdf
- Ma, X., & Marion, R. (2021). Exploring how instructional leadership affects teacher efficacy: A multi-level lens. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 49(1), 188–207. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/

10.1177/1741143219888742

- Martin, J. G. (2020). Teaching without fear: Psychological safety can alter the professional learning landscape. *The Learning Professional*, 41(2), 36–39. https://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=579642aa-85dd-469a-b96f-0efd5d431da5%40pdc-v-sessmgr01
- Maxwell, S., Reynolds, K., Lee, E., Subasic, E., & Bromhead, D. (2017). The impact of school climate and school identification on academic achievement:
 Multilevel modeling with student and teacher data. *Frontiers in Psychology*. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5723344/#B11
- McKenna, L., & Primeau, M. (2019, October). Psychological safety: Breaking the silence. Stanford Health Improvement Program News. https://hip.stanford.edu/ calendar-news/news/psychological-safety-breaking-the-silence/
- Medford, L. (2014, November 13). Frequently asked questions. Association for Middle-Level Education. https://www.amle.org/wp-content/uploads/ 2021/02/FAQ_November2014.pdf
- Milkman, K. L. (2021) *How to change: The science of getting from where you are to where you want to be.* Portfolio/Penguin.
- Mind Tools Content Team. (2021). *David Rock's scarf model: Using neuroscience to work effectively with others*. The University of Texas at Austin Employee Assistance Program. https://www.mindtools.com/pages/article/SCARF.htm.
- Missouri Department of Education. (2019). *School directory by district*. Missouri Comprehensive Data System. https://apps.dese.mo.gov/MCDS/Reports/ SSRS_Print.aspx?Reportid=152b1d45-e617-4184-acf3-82b9287ae2b4

Modoono, J. (2017). The trust factor. *Educational Leadership*, (74)8. http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/may17/ vol74/num08/The-Trust-Factor.aspx

Mousena, E., & Raptis, N. (2021). Beyond teaching – School climate and communication in the educational context. *Journal of Higher Education Theory & Practice,* 21(2), 98–110. https://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/ pdfviewer?vid=10&sid=fecb33a2-0847-4ca8-93fdf619ed444e8d%40sessionmgr101

National School Climate Council (2012). The school climate improvement process: Essential elements. *School Climate Brief*, (4).

http://www.schoolclimate.org/climate/schoolclimatebriefs.php

- National School Climate Center. (2007a). Measuring school climate. *NSCI*. https://www.schoolclimate.org/services/measuring-school-climate-csci
- National School Climate Center. (2007b). What is school climate? *NSCI*. https://www.schoolclimate.org/about/our-approach/what-is-school-climate
- Niven, K., & Healy, C. (2016). Susceptibility to the 'dark side' of goal-setting:
 Does moral justification influence the effect of goals on unethical behavior?
 Journal of Business Ethics, 137(1), 115–127. https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost
 /pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=827d453e-b642-472d-a69626ad19df7823%40sessionmgr4006
- Oh, D., & Pyrczak, F. (2018). *Making sense of statistics: A conceptual overview*. Routledge.

- Paris, N. A. (2019). The young adolescent state of mind. AMLE. https://www.amle.org/BrowsebyTopic/WhatsNew/WNDet/TabId/270/ArtMID/8 8/ArticleID/1015/The-Young-Adolescent-State-of-Mind.aspx
- Parrett, W. H., & Budge, K. M. (2020). *Turning high-poverty schools into high-performing schools*. ASCD.

Pennington, C. G., Curtner-Smith, M. D., Wind, S. A. (2019). Impact of a physical education teacher's age on elementary school students' perceptions of effectiveness and learning. *Journal of Teaching in Physical Education*, 38(4), 279-285. file:///Users/kbrownfield/Downloads/_system_appendPDF_proof_hi.pdf

- Pennsylvania State University & Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (2018). *School climate and social emotional learning: The integration of two approaches*. The Pennsylvania State University. https://www.prevention.psu.edu/uploads/files/ rwjf443059-SchoolClimate.pdf
- Pink, D. H. (2009). Drive. Penguin Group
- Platt, M. (2020). The leader's brain: Enhance your leadership, build stronger teams, make better decisions, and inspire greater innovation with neuroscience.
 Wharton School Press.
- Pollock, J. E., & Tolone, L. J. (2020). *Improving student learning one teacher at a time* (2nd ed). ASCD.
- Pollock, J. E., Tolone, L. J., & Nunnally, G. S. (2021). How innovative teachers can start teaching innovation. *Educational Leadership*, 78(9). https://www.ascd.org /el/articles/how-innovative-teachers-can-start-teaching-innovation

Ponce, O. A., Pagan-Maldonado, N., & Galan, J. G. (2020). Philosophy of educational

research: New epistemological, methodological, and historical approach. *International Journal of Educational Excellence*, *6*(2), 63–79. https://documento. uagm.edu/cupey/ijee/ijee_ponce_pagan_gomez_6_2_63_79.pdf

- Powell, W. (2004). *Count me in! Developing inclusive international schools* (4th ed.) Overseas Schools Advisory Council, Department of State.
- Preston, B. C., & Donohoo, J. (2021). It's not collective efficacy if it's easy. *Educational Leadership*, 79(3). https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/its-not-collective-efficacy-if -its-easy
- Purpur de Vries, P. (2018). From the board room to the community: The ripple effects of positive psychology. *Stanford Health Improvement Program*. http://www.achd.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/DeVries-09. 14.18.pdf
- Quaglia, R., Fox, K. M., Lande, L. L., & Young, D. (2020). *The power of voice in schools: Listening, learning, and leading together*. ASCD.
- Ramanathan, M. (2018, October 15). Hormones and chemicals linked with our emotion. *AMRITA*. www.amrita.edu/news/homrones-and-chemicals-linked-our-emotion
- Rasanen, K., Pietarinen, J., Phyalto, K., Soini, T., & Vaisanen, P. (2021). Why leave the teaching profession? A longitudinal approach to the prevalence and persistence of teacher turnover intentions. *Social Psychology of Education,* 23(4), 837–859. https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=11&sid=54c93a23-6605-484d-ac40-0afdab47c4ce%40redis
- Rebora, A. (2019). Restoring school climate. *Educational Leadership*, 77(2), 10. www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/ oct19/vol77/num02/Restoring-School-Climate.aspx

- Reeves, D. B. (2020). *The learning leader: How to focus school improvement for better results*. ASCD.
- Reiche, S. (2016, September 28). Want to explain social behavior? Look into the brain. *IESE*. https://blog.iese.edu/expatriatus/2016/09/16/want-to-explain-_social behavior-look-into-the-brain/
- Reimer, T. (2017). When to lead, when to learn. *Principal*, *96*(5), 54. https://web.p. ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=5&sid=c1de6b68-9e61-4123b8dc-177ae1ed4410%40redis
- Renga, I., Peck, F., Wu. K., & Erickson, D. (2020). Fueling teachers' passion and purpose. ASCD. https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/fueling-teachers-passionand-purpose
- Reseger, J. (2020, May 11). The importance of public schooling and what has to change when schools reopen. *National Education Policy Center*. https://nepc.colorado.edu/blog/importance-public
- Reynolds, K. J., Lee, E., Turner, I., Bromhead, D., & Subasic, E. (2017). How does school climate impact academic achievement? An examination of social identity processes. *School Psychology International*, 38(1), 78–97. doi:10.1177/0143034316682295
- Rock, D. (2009). Managing with the brain in mind. *Strategy* + *Business*, (56). https://www.strategy-business.com/article/09306
- Rock, D., & Ringleb, A. H. (2013). *Handbook of NeuroLeadership*. Amazon Distribution
- Rock, D., & Tang, Y. (2013). Neuroscience of engagement. In Rock, D. & Ringleg, A. H.

(Eds). *Handbook of NeuroLeadership* (pp. 351–365). Amazon Distribution

Rodman, A., & Thompson, J. (2019). Eight things teams do to sabotage their work. *Educational Leadership*, 76(9), 18–21.
www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership/jul19/vol76/num09/Eight-ThingsTeams-Do-to-Sabotage-Their-Work.aspx

Rose, M. (2014). Why school? Reclaiming education for all of us. The New Press.

- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-determination theory: Basic psychological needs in motivation, development, and wellness. The Guilford Press
- Sarikaya, A., & Gleicher, M. (2018). Scatterplots: Tasks, data, and designs. University of Wisconsin. https://graphics.cs.wisc.edu/Papers/2018/SG18/ scatterplots-preprint.pdf

Sawchuk, S. (2020). 5 ways principals can establish a strong school climate. *Education Week, 40*(9), 11–14. https://web.b.ebscohost.com/ehost/detail/ detail?vid=13&sid=fecb33a2-0847-4ca8-93fd-f619ed444e8d%40sessionmgr 101&bdata=JkF1dGhUeXBIPXNzbyZzaXRIPWVob3N0LWxpdmU% 3d#db=eft&AN=146417324

- Schleicher, A. (2018). World class: How to build a 21st-century school system. OECD Publishing. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/9789264300002-3en.pdf?expires=1605631801&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=8B03992DFA4 C854098BF9DD0E5604136
- Shannon, G. S., & Bylsma, P. (2007). *Nine characteristics of high-performing schools: A research-based resource for schools and districts to assist with student*

learning. Office of Superintendent of Public Instruction. https://files.eric.ed.gov/ fulltext/ ED499819.pdf

- Siegle, S. (2019). *Selecting subjects for survey research*. Educational Research Basics. https://researchbasics.education.uconn.edu/sampling/
- Sinek, S. (2014, May 19). *Why good leaders make you feel safe* [Video]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=lmyZMtPVodo
- Sterrett, W. L., & Hill-Black, S. (2020). Leading with joy: The influential role of principal. ASCD Express, 15(9). http://www.ascd.org/ascd express/vol15/num09/leading-with-joy-the-influential-role-of-a-principal.aspx

Stronge, J., & Xu, X. (2021). Qualities of effective principals (2nd ed.). ASCD.

- Teachers College. (2018, July 14). An investment that pays off for society. *Newsroom*. https://www.tc.columbia.edu/articles/2018/july/americans-believe- inhigher-education-as-a-public-good-a-new-survey-finds/
- Toll, C. (2017). 5 perspectives for leadership success. *Educational Leadership*, 74(8), 28–31. https://web.p.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=9&sid= 5a8433b9-7657-49db-ba80-245bba16f8d1%40redis
- Trusz, S. (2018). Four mediation models of teacher expectancy effects on student outcomes in mathematics and literacy. *Social Psychology of Education*, 21(2), 257–287. https://web.p.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?
 vid=7&sid=014a68d8-d786-42cb-bc7e-fa61eee75f58%40redis
- Tucker, M. S. (2019). Leading high-performance school systems: Lessons from the world's best. ASCD.

Tucker, M. (2019). Let teachers work and learn in teams--like professionals. Educational

Leadership, 76(9), 48–54. www.ascd.org/publications/educationalleadership/jul19/vol76/num09/Let-Teachers-Work-and-Lean-in-Teams--Like Professionals.aspx

- United States Department of Education. (2003). From there to here: The road to reform American high schools. https://www2.ed.gov/about/ offices/list/ovae/pi/hsinit/papers/history.pdf
- University of Miami, School of Education and Human Development. (2020). *How to interpret correlation coefficient (r)?* Statistical Supporting Unit. https://sites. education.miami.edu/statsu/2020/09/22/how-to-interpret-correlation-coefficient-r/
- Urbani, J. M., Roshandel, S., Michaels, R. & Truesdell, E. (2017). Developing and modeling 21st-century skills with preservice teachers. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 27–50. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1157317.pdf
- Vansteenkiste, M., Aelterman, N., Muynck, G. J. D., Haerens, L., Patall, E., & Reeve, J. (2017). Fostering personal meaning and self-relevance: A self-determination theory perspective on internalization. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, 86(1), 30–49. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220973.2017.1381067
- Waack, S. (2018). Collective teacher efficacy (CTE) according to John Hattie. Visible Learning. https://visible-learning.org/2018/03/collective-teacherefficacy-hattie/#:~:text=He%20defines%20collective% 20efficacy%20as, the%20negative%20effects%20of%20low
- Wagner, C. R. (2006). The school leader's tool for assessing and improving school culture. MSSAA. http://www.mssaa.org/gen/mssaa_generated_ bin/documents/basic_module/School_culture_triage.pdf

Walker, D. A. (2017). JMASM 48: The Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient and adjustment Indices: The Fisher approximate unbiased estimator and the Olkin Pratt adjustment (SPSS). *Journal of Modern Applied Statistical Methods*, *16*(2), 540–546. doi: 10.22237/jmasm/1509496140

Walker, M. L., Dovoedo, Y. H., Chakraborti, S., & Hilton, C. W. (2018). An improved boxplot for univariate data. *The American Statistician*, 72(4), 348–353.
https://web.a.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=abe1f39c-d050-4e35-8da2-be707f48dd71%40sessionmgr4008f

- Wanless, S., & Winters, D. (2018). A welcome space for taking risks. *The Learning Professional*, 39(4). https://learningforward.org/journal/august-2018-vol-39-no-4/a-welcome-space-for-taking-risks/
- Weller, C. (2020, September 24). How social threats create toxic cultures, and what you can do about them. *NLI*. https://neuroleadership.com/your-brain-at-work/fix-toxic-culture-reduce-social-threats
- Whitaker, T. (2013). Help teachers be their best. *National Association of Elementary School Principals*. https://www.naesp.org/principal-janfeb-2013-teacherstaff-development/help-teachers-be-their-best
- Wilkinson-Flicker, S. (2019, August 13). Back to school by the numbers: 2019-20 school year. NCES. https://nces.ed.gov/blogs/nces/post/back-to-school-by-the-numbers-2019-20-school-year
- Winthrop, R. (2020, June 4). The need for civic education in 21st-century schools. Big Ideas. https://www.brookings.edu/policy2020/bigideas/the-need-forcivic-education-in-21st-century-schools/

- Woo, C. W., Koban, L., Kross, E., Lindquist, M., Banich, M., Ruzic, L., Andrews-Hanna, J., & Wager, T. (2014). Separate neural representations for physical pain and social rejection. *Nature Communications*. https://pubmed. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25400102/
- Zepeda, S. (2019). Professional development that works (3rd ed.). Routledge.
- Zepeda, S., Derrington, M., & Lanoue, P. (2020). Developing the organizational culture of the central office: Collaboration, connectivity, and coherence. Routledge.
- Zepeda, S., Goff, L., & Steele, S. (2019). C.R.A.F.T. conversations for teacher growth: How to build bridges and cultivate expertise. ASCD.
- Zhou, Y. (2021). Leadership influence on collective teacher efficacy in multicultural teams: A mixed-methods study. (Publication No. 63). [Doctoral Dissertation, Seattle Pacific University). Digital Commons at SPU.
- Zimmerman, D. P., Roussin, J. L., & Garmston, R. J. (2020). *Transforming teamwork: Cultivating collaborative cultures*. Corwin

Appendix A

Faculty Survey

A Quantitative Study of the Relationships Among Psychological Safety, Collaborative Capacity, and School Climate in Middle-Level Schools

Section 1: Demographics

- 1. What grade level do you teach?
- 2. What content(s) do you teach?
- 3. How many years of teaching experience do you have?
- 4. How many years have you been employed in this particular assignment/building?

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Somewhat Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
5. I am a trusted member of my team.	5	4	3	2	1
6. My team has a shared purpose and goals.	5	4	3	2	1
7. Faculty members show empathy toward coworkers when considering building decisions.	5	4	3	2	1
8. I feel valued by my team.	5	4	3	2	1
9. I do not have the opportunity to share in faculty collaborations.	5	4	3	2	1
10. I feel comfortable making mistakes on this team.	5	4	3	2	1

Section 2: Likert Scale Statements

11. Our faculty members work together to meet the needs of students.	5	4	3	2	1
12. I feel safe to take risks with my ideas at this school.	5	4	3	2	1
13. Our faculty members have good character values, such as fairness, responsibility, and respect.	5	4	3	2	1
14. I am not free to be creative in my instruction.	5	4	3	2	1
15. I feel comfortable voicing concerns and thoughts regarding tough issues.	5	4	3	2	1
16. Communication between faculty members is clear and frequent.	5	4	3	2	1
17. I feel happy when I am at work.	5	4	3	2	1
18. Faculty members participate in the development of building efforts and changes.	5	4	3	2	1
19. I do not feel supported by my team.	5	4	3	2	1
20. Our team functions well together.	5	4	3	2	1
21. I feel respected by my team.	5	4	3	2	1

22. Faculty members accept each other, even if they are different.	5	4	3	2	1
23. I feel listened to by my team.	5	4	3	2	1
24. Faculty members are open to observing other teachers and being observed in order to learn from one another.	5	4	3	2	1
25. It is hard to ask other faculty members for help.	5	4	3	2	1
26. I make instructional decisions for my classroom.	5	4	3	2	1
27. We learn from each other through respectful disagreement.	5	4	3	2	1
28. I feel appreciated by my team.	5	4	3	2	1
29. All viewpoints are listened to and considered.	5	4	3	2	1
30. I am treated fairly by my team.	5	4	3	2	1
31. Our faculty takes the time to meet together.	5	4	3	2	1
32. I feel accepted by my team.	5	4	3	2	1

33. I like coming to work	5	4	3	2	1
each day.					

Appendix B

Recruitment Letter for Superintendent

Date:

RE: Permission to Conduct Research

Dear____,

As a student in the Webb City, Missouri cohort of Lindenwood University's Educational Administration Doctoral Program, I am conducting research as a part of the requirements for this degree. The purpose of my dissertation is to investigate the possible relationships between psychological safety, school climate, and collaborative capacity at middle-level schools. I would like to request your permission to conduct research in the following buildings in your district: (School) Junior High and (School) Middle School.

If approval is granted, faculty members will receive an email with a link to a survey to complete on a voluntary basis. The identity of the faculty member will not be given at any time during this study.

Thank you for considering my request to conduct research in your district. If the details described meet your approval, please provide consent by a reply email to: <u>kb609@lindenwood.edu</u>.

Sincerely,

Karen Brownfield

Lindenwood University Doctoral Student

Appendix C

Letter of Participation for Certified Faculty Members

Date:

Dear Faculty Member,

As a graduate student in the Webb City cohort of Lindenwood University's Educational Administration Doctoral Program, I am conducting research about psychology safety, school climate, and collaborative capacity. I invite your participation in this study. You will find a link to a survey containing 33 items included with this email. The survey should take no longer than 10 minutes to complete. Your identity will remain anonymous and unidentifiable.

Thank you in advance for taking the time to complete this survey to help me with my educational efforts. A consent form is included in this email, which includes information regarding the scope of the study, as well as confidentiality and anonymity assurances. Completion of the survey instrument will indicate your willingness to participate in the study. If you require additional information or have questions, please contact me at <u>kb609@lindenwood.edu</u>.

Sincerely,

Karen Brownfield

Lindenwood University Doctoral Student

Appendix D

Consent Form for Certified Faculty Members

LINDENWOOD

Survey Research Information Sheet

You are being asked to participate in a survey conducted by Karen Brownfield and Dr. Trey Moeller at Lindenwood University. We are doing this study to explore the possible relationships between psychological safety, school climate, and collaborative capacity in middle-level schools.

The survey includes items relating to demographics, as well as Likert-type statements regarding psychological safety, school climate, and collaborative capacity. It will take about 10 minutes to complete this survey.

Your participation is voluntary. You may choose not to participate or withdraw at any time by simply not completing the survey or closing the browser window.

WHO CAN I CONTACT WITH QUESTIONS?

If you have concerns or complaints about this project, please use the following contact information:

Karen Brownfield: kb609@lindenwood.edu

Dr. Trey Moeller: tmoeller@lindenwood.edu

If you have questions about your rights as a participant or concerns about the project and wish to talk to someone outside the research team, you can contact Michael Leary (Director - Institutional Review Board) at 636-949-4730 or mleary@lindenwood.edu.

By clicking the link below, I confirm that I have read this form and decided that I will participate in the project described above. I understand the purpose of the study, what I will be required to do, and the risks involved. I understand that I can discontinue participation at any time by closing the survey browser. My consent also indicates that I am at least 18 years of age.

You can withdraw from this study at any time by simply closing the browser window. Please feel free to print a copy of this information sheet.

<Link to Survey>

Vita

Karen Brownfield has served the Webb City R7 School District in Webb City, Missouri in different roles throughout the last 18 years. Brownfield was previously a primary music teacher, middle school counselor, and middle school assistant principal, and is currently a principal at Madge T. James Kindergarten Center. Prior to joining the Webb City School District, Brownfield was a secondary vocal music teacher at Carthage High School in Carthage, Missouri.

Brownfield received a Bachelor of Music Education from Pittsburg State University. She also received a Master of Science in Educational Leadership from Missouri State University, as well as a Master of Arts in Counseling from Missouri Baptist University.